Alma Mater Studiorum – Università di Bologna

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN

SCIENZE VETERINARIE

Ciclo 34

Settore Concorsuale: 07/H2 – PATOLOGIA VETERINARIA E ISPEZIONE DEGLI ALIMENTI DI ORIGINE ANIMALE

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare: VET/03 – PATOLOGIA GENERALE E ANATOMIA PATOLOGICA VETERINARIA

MOLECULAR ANALYSIS OF PAPILLOMAVIRUS-INDUCED CUTANEOUS TUMORS IN EQUIDS

Presentata da: Giorgia Tura

Coordinatore Dottorato

Carolina Castagnetti

Supervisore

Barbara Bacci

Co-supervisore

Giuseppe Sarli

Esame finale anno 2022

Abstract

Papillomavirus associated tumors are well recognized entities in humans as well as in animals. Here we review the current understanding of human papillomavirus (HPV) associated cancers to better understand the oncogenic mechanisms of Equine papillomavirus (EcPV) and Bovine Papillomavirus (BPV) in horses.

In the first part of this study the interactions between Equine papillomavirus 2 (EcPV-2) and cell cycle proteins are discussed. EcPV-2 has been recognized as the cause of genital squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs) in horses, but the exact mechanism of carcinogenesis is not fully understood. The aim of the first part of study is to assess the expression of cell cycle proteins p53, p16, pRB and Cyclin D1 in a series of equine SCCs and papillomas.

Results of the study confirm the role of EcPV-2 in the pathogenesis of genital SCC, as previously reported. Moreover, in a small subset of ocular SCCs EcPV-2 was detected for the first time. By immunohistochemistry, p53 was mostly expressed in ocular SCCs and predominantly with a suprabasal localization. UV light exposure and *TP53* mutation may be involved in the pathogenesis of SCC in this location. However, this aspect was not reviewed in the present study. Regarding p16 expression, overexpression was associated with increased mitotic index but not with viral infection, as in humans. In addition to p16, investigation on pRB and Cyclin D1 proteins did not show significant correlation with other histological and molecular variables, suggesting that the p16-pRB-Cyclin D1 pathway is not involved in EcPV-2 induced carcinogenesis, but may be still dysregulated in a subset of equine SCC.

The second part of this study is focused on the carcinogenetic mechanisms of BPV in equine sarcoids. The association between BPV and equine sarcoids is well known, but several aspects of the disease remain unclear. The aim of the second part of the study was to characterize the typical histomorphological features of equine sarcoids, assess the expression of cell cycle proteins (pRB, Cyclin D1, p53, p16) and the Ki-67 proliferation index. Our results confirm that the typical histological features of sarcoids cannot be used to correctly classify the clinical types of sarcoids. Moreover, in a subset of sarcoids low pRB-Cyclin D1 scores were associated with simultaneous increased p16 expression. This could suggest that BPV may act in a pRB-dependent pathway, but further studies are necessary to confirm this hypothesis. The analysis of the proliferative rate of sarcoids was carried out with calculation of Ki-67 index, confirming that sarcoids have a low proliferative activity except for tumors displaying a fascicular dermal pattern. Finally, a subset of sarcoids recurred after excision.

Table of contents

Chapter 1 Cutaneous neoplasia in equids	1
Chapter 2 Overview of Papillomaviruses	3
2.1 Overview and Papillomavirus Taxonomy	3
2.2 Genome	4
2.3 Life cycle and Replication	5
2.4 Cross-species infection	6
2.5 Diagnosis of Papillomavirus infection	7
Chapter 3 Interaction of Papillomaviruses with Cell Cycle Proteins	8
3.1 Overview of the cell cycle	8
3.2 Negative regulators of the cell cycle	10
3.3. Papillomavirus oncoproteins	10
3.3.1 E5	10
3.3.2 E6	11
3.3.3 E7	13
Chapter 4 Papillomaviruses and Squamous cell carcinomas	15
4.1 HPV and genital SCCs in humans	15
4.2 EcPV associated diseases in horses	17
4.2.1 Genital SCCs in horses	19
4.2.2. Equine ocular SCCs	21
4.2.3 Equine Pharyngeal and oral SCCs	21
4.2.4 Other Locations	22
4.3 Association between UV light exposure and SCC development	22
4.3.1 UV radiation in Horses	23
4.3.2 UV radiation in Humans	24
4.4 Other risk factors for the development of SCCs in horses	24
Experimental part	25
Chapter 5 Expression of cell cycle proteins in equine squamous cell carcinomas and carcinoma	s in
situ	25
5.1 Materials and Methods	26
5.1.1 Case selection and histology	26
5.1.2 Tissue microarray construction	28
5.1.3 Western blot Analysis	28
5.1.4 Immunohistochemistry	29
5.1.5 EcPV-2 chromogenic in situ hybridization	31
5.2 Statistical Analysis	31

	5.3 Results	. 33
	5.3.1 Signalament and clinical data	. 33
	5.3.2 Histological diagnosis	. 35
	5.3.3 Chromogenic in situ hybridization (CISH)	. 36
	5.3.4 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	. 38
	5.3.5 Papillomas	. 48
	5.4 Discussion	. 50
	5.5 Conclusions	. 56
Ch	apter 6 Papillomavirus and equine sarcoids	. 57
	6.1 Introduction	. 57
	6.2 Association between sarcoids and Bovine Papillomavirus	. 58
	6.3 Bovine Papillomavirus transmission and predisposing factors	. 59
	6.4 Oncogenic mechanisms	. 61
	6.5 Anatomical sites predilection	. 62
	6.6 Clinical presentation of equine sarcoids	. 63
	6.6.1. Occult	. 63
	6.6.2. Verrucous	. 63
	6.6.3. Nodular	. 64
	6.6.4 Fibroblastic	. 64
	6.6.5 Mixed	. 64
	6.6.6 Malevolent	. 65
	6.7 Biological behaviour	. 66
	6.8 Histological features	. 66
	6.9 Differential diagnoses and immunohistochemical markers	. 67
Ex	perimental part	. 70
Ch	apter 7 Expression of cell cycle proteins (CDKN2A, pRB and Cyclin D1), fibroblast associated	
pro	otein (FAPα) and viral distribution in equine sarcoids	. 70
	7.1 Materials and Methods	. 71
	7.1.1 Case selection and histology	. 71
	7.1.2 Tissue Microarray Technique	. 71
	7.1.3 Protein Extraction and Western Blot analysis	. 72
	7.1.4 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	. 73
	7.1.5 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	. 75
	7.1.6 Chromogenic In situ hybridization (CISH)	. 75
	7.1.7 Follow-up	. 76
	7.2 Statistical analysis	. 76

7.3 Results	77
7.3.1 Signalament and clinical data	77
7.3.2 Histological features	80
7.3.3 Immunohistochemistry	83
7.3.4 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	
7.3.5 Chromogenic In situ hybridization (CISH)	
7.3.6 Analysis of follow-up	
7.4 Discussion	
7.5 Conclusions	100
Bibliography	101

Chapter 1 Cutaneous neoplasia in equids

In equids, cutaneous neoplasia has been reported to account for 50% of all neoplastic lesions.¹⁷⁵ So far, survey data on frequency and tumor types are very limited and often variable, depending on the characteristics of the studied population. The high variety may be due to age categories, environmental differences, and breeds. However, since 1977 sarcoids are reported to be the most frequently diagnosed tumor.³¹⁰ In fact, in the first study of survey of equine cutaneous neoplasia conduced on 236 horses, 43.6% of all the neoplastic diseases were diagnosed as sarcoids.³¹⁰ Similarly, the occurrence of sarcoids from 1935 to 1974 accounted 38.1% of the submissions in a 1983 study.²¹ More recently, these data were confirmed by both Valentine *et al* and Shaffer *et al* in 2006 and 2013 respectively.^{279,328} Moreover, in the past seven years, sarcoids were confirmed as the first most common cutaneous neoplasms, accounting 24% of all the submissions in United Kingdom.¹⁷⁵

According to all the equine literature of survey on equine cutaneous tumors, squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) is the second most commonly diagnosed neoplasm.^{19,21,175,279,310,328} Moreover, from recent literature, SCC has been also associated with breed and sex categories: mares seems to be at lower risk while Cob/Cob cross are at increased risk.¹⁷⁵

However, it should be considered that the cause of the low odds in mares could be related with the higher incidence of penile and preputial SCCs in stallions.³²⁴

Regarding breed predisposition, the data described above disagree with the previous literature, in which the highest prevalence of developing SCCs was reported in ponies.^{142,324} This discrepancy may be related to the older age of the pony population in the older studies compared with the population studied by Knowles *et al* in 2015.¹⁷⁵ Other cutaneous tumors as melanomas, lymphomas, mast cell tumors and fibromas occur in variable proportions. In 1975 Baker and Leyland reported sarcoids as the third neoplasm, occurring in 12.90% of animals after SCCs (15.3%) and fibromas (35.5%).¹⁹

However, the highest incidence of fibromas and the relative low proportion of sarcoids may also be related with the confidence of clinicians to diagnose sarcoids without histological examination.¹⁹ Two years later, melanomas were considered the less frequent tumors by Sundberg *et al*, which were reported to occur in 3.80% of cases.³¹⁰ However, recent data consider melanomas or lymphoma as the third most commonly diagnosed cutaneous neoplasms.^{175,279} Even in melanomas, a connection between coat colour and high incidence has been recognized: an autosomal dominant mutation in syntaxin-17 has been proposed, but further studies are needed to evaluate the association between this genetic mutation and the onset of melanomas.²²⁸ By contrast, cutaneous lymphomas are not associated with any risk factor and comprised 13.6% of all the skin neoplasms, moving down to the third place for Knowles *et al*.¹⁷⁵ Lastly, mast cell tumors are reported to occur in less than 6%. Although Arabian and Arabian X seem to be predisposed, up to now no association between mast cell tumors

and this breed has been demonstrated.²⁰²

Chapter 2 Overview of Papillomaviruses

2.1 Overview and Papillomavirus Taxonomy

Papillomaviruses (PVs) are small, non-enveloped viruses belonging to the *Papillomaviridae* family. According to the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV), the family is divided in two subfamilies, the *Firstpapillomavirinae*, and *Secondpapillomavirinae*.⁹⁷

The subfamily of *Firstpapillomavirinae* currently contains more than 50 genera and many species. Genera can include both human and animal PVs and are named using a Greek letter (e.g., Alpha-) while species are named using a numbering system.³³⁶

In 2010, the discovery of novel genera exhaust the Greek alphabet, therefore the classification was revised by adding the prefixes "dyo" and "treis" after the Omega-PVs to accommodate the growing list.^{23,336} Exceptions are *Alphapapillomavirus*, *Betapillomavirus* and *Gammapapillomavirus*, whose PVs-genera infect humans and are not used in combinations with prefixes.⁹⁷

By contrast, genera within the *Secondpapillomavirinae*, are named according to the Semitic abjads, a kind of alphabet composed by consonants. The only genus belonging to this subfamily is *Alefpapillomavirus*.⁹⁷

Within the subfamilies, division into genera and species is based on the highly conserved L1 open reading frame (ORF).³³⁶ In particular, different genera must show less than 60% similarity in their L1 ORF while PVs of different species less than 30%.³³⁶ Most PVs are highly species-specific and can infect either cutaneous or mucosal epithelium. An exception of natural cross-species infection in domestic animals is represented by Bovine delta-PVs. Within this group, Bovine Papillomavirus (BPV)-1, -2, and -13 have been associated with the development of sarcoids in horses.^{198,247} Although BPV-1 and BPV-2 in cattle are the cause of fibropapillomas, in horses they are responsible for the malignant transformation of dermal fibroblasts with concomitant pathognomonic epithelial changes.²⁷ To date, 28 types of BPV have been characterized and the majority cluster into five genera: delta (BPV-1, -2, -13, -14), epsilon (BPV-5, -8,

-25), xi (BPV-3, -4, -6, -9, -10, -11, -12, -15, -17, -20, -23, -24, -26, -28), dyokappa (BPV-16, -18, -22) and dyoxipapillomavirus (BPV-7). The remaining are not yet classified.^{349,360}

By contrast, only 9 types of Equine Papillomavirus (EcPV) are known and classified into three genera: zeta (EcPV1), dyoiota (EcPV2, EcPV4, EcPV5) and dyorhopapillomavirus (EcPV3, EcPV6, EcPV7). As for BPV, EcPV-8 and -9 are unclassified.^{194,326}

2.2 Genome

All PVs, have very similar genome structure and organization. PVs are DNA viruses with a double-stranded, circular genome of 8kb. The genome is conventionally divided into three regions, separated by two polyadenylation sites: early region (E), late region (L) and long control region or non-coding (LCR).¹³²

The early region is located from the 5' extremity onwards and contains up to 8 early genes that encode the E1, E2, E3, E4, E5, E6, E7 and E8 proteins.³⁵⁶ In general, early proteins are non-structural proteins that regulate viral transcription, replication and adaptation within infected cells.³⁵⁶ Comparative analysis of PVs of different genera has shown that not all the E genes can be necessary expressed or have the same function.³³⁶ For example, the lack of E4 ORF as well as different functions of E6 and E7 ORF have been demonstrated for Avian PVs.²³⁹ Moreover, the E8 ORF is only contained in BPV-1 ^{69,179} and Human Papillomavirus (HPV)-31 ^{258,305} and encode a E8^E2 fused protein which acts as a repressor of viral replication.¹⁰⁰

The late region is located downstream the E region and consists of L1 and L2 ORF. These two genes encode for L1 (major) and L2 (minor) capsid proteins, two structural proteins that assemble in capsomers and contribute to the icosahedral capsid formation.³⁵⁶ In addition to structural properties, L1 protein functions as portal entry into the host cell by binding to surface receptors.²⁹⁴ Likewise, L2 as well as being the minor structural protein, also facilitates viral escape from late endosomes and promotes viral DNA transport to the nucleus by interacting with L1.³⁴²

The LCR, also called upstream regulatory region (URR), is the last part of the genome. It doesn't encode for proteins but acts as regulator of viral transcription.¹¹²

4

2.3 Life cycle and Replication

This chapter describes the mechanisms of infection, establishment, and replication of the well-known human PVs.

PVs are epitheliotropic viruses that can infect both cutaneous and mucocutaneous epithelia.³³⁵ In haired skin the infection is thought to occur through microwounds that expose basal keratinocytes ^{71,118} or via hair follicles.²⁸³ For mucocutaneous junctions, and in particular for cervical lesions, viral infection starts in the transition zone from columnar to stratified squamous epithelium.¹⁴⁰ Although the mechanisms of viral attachment to the host cell are still unknown, several studies established the role of heparan sulphate (HS) in viral internalization. Heparan sulphate (HS) is a linear polysaccharide present both in extracellular matrix and in the phospholipid bilayer of the plasma membrane.^{125,154} PVs can attach to glycosaminoglycans chains of heparan sulphate (HSPG) of the plasma membrane or to HSPG ectodomains attached to laminin 332 of the extracellular matrix.^{63,86,289} Nevertheless, in epithelial cells the most representative HS is syndecan-1 which function as a primary attachment receptor.²⁹¹ Viral interaction with HS cell-surface receptors, triggers conformational changes in viral capsid proteins, promoting L1 cleavage by kallikrein-8. Next, cyclophilin B exposes L2 N-terminus which is cleaved by furin⁴³ allowing viral transport to an entry receptor complex. This complex comprises different classes of proteins including CD151 and CD63, integrins $\alpha 6$ and $\beta 4$, annexin A2 and an undefined secondary receptor.^{4,105,113,280} Binding to the receptor complex induces actin polymerization and subsequent viral internalization through clathrin and caveolin independent pathway.^{282,300} After internalization, the virus is delivered to an early endosome which than matures into late endosome. Here the host chaperone cyclophilin B (CyPB) and the lower PH, contribute to viral capsid proteins disassemble.²⁴ Thus, L2-viral DNA complex (L2/vDNA) is transported to the trans Golgi, where it remains during interphase.^{17,262} In the late prophase, L2/vDNA is delivered to the internuclear space until nuclear envelope breakdown.^{17,262} As the cell progresses to the metaphase, L2 associates to the host cell chromosomes establishing viral infection.^{52,262}

PVs lifecycle can be divided into three steps which are strictly linked to epithelial cell replication and differentiation: establishment, maintenance, and amplification.⁹⁵ The first step is the establishment, where viral genome starts to express E1 and E2 proteins and is maintained as episomes in basal cells.³⁴⁵ In the maintenance phase, as basal cells move up to the surface, viral genome starts to express E6 and E7 proteins which further delay terminal differentitation.¹³² During this process, episomes replicate simultaneously to the host chromosomes to be maintained in a constant copy number.¹¹⁵ The third step, called genome amplification, occurs in the upper intermediate layer of the epidermis and starts with the expression of E4 and E5 proteins.^{110,253} Concurrently, E7 overexpression within the nucleus of the host cell triggers the expression of E1 and E2 proteins.⁹⁶ Once amplified, viral genome starts to synthetize L1 and L2 and viral particles are than packed into mature virions.¹¹⁶ Thereafter, following the physiologic process of anoikis of fully keratinized cells, virions are released and a new infection can take place.

2.4 Cross-species infection

Most PVs are highly species-specific but an exception of natural cross-species infection in domestic animals is represented by BPV-1, -2, and -14. In fact, these PVs have been associated with sarcoids development in horses, donkeys, zebras and buffaloes.^{65,249} In addition, there is strong evidence that BPV-1 can also infects cats, with development of sarcoid-like lesions.⁶⁰ In cats, BPV cross-infection produce characteristic proliferation of neoplastic fibroblasts, often with picket-fence arrangement.²⁸⁶ The first report on BPV cross specie infection, described a proliferative papillomatous lesions characterized by variable cytopathic effect and hypergranulosis of the stratum spinosum in two Persian cats.⁵⁹ Because of many similarities between equine and feline BPV-induced tumors, the lesion in cats has been named "feline sarcoid". In 2003, Teifke *et al*, detected BPV-1 and -2 DNA from mesenchymal cells of 4/14 feline sarcoids, with no evidence of viral detection in the overlying epidermis.³¹⁹ More recently, PCR from oral and mucosal sarcoids, allowed the diagnosis of a BPV-14 infection.^{129,160} These findings support the ability of BPV-1, -2 and -14 to infect other species other than cattle.

2.5 Diagnosis of Papillomavirus infection

The diagnostic approach to PVs infection is based on histopathology and molecular biology. Histological examination is useful to detect epithelial and/or mesenchymal changes induced by some PVs. However, in the majority of cases, additional diagnostic techniques are required to confirm the diagnosis. For example, immunohistochemistry (IHC) can be used to detect Papillomavirus antigen¹⁰⁹ or, in challenging cases, it is necessary for the distinction from other tumors. Moreover, PVs DNA can be detected by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) on formalin-fixed paraffin embedded (FFPE) samples or on fresh tissue specimens.^{27,213} Despite being a highly specific and sensible technique, the main disadvantage is the risk of false negative results: viral DNA can be degraded and therefore undetectable. In addition, cross-contamination and non-specific annealing can occur and skew the results.

To date, the most sensitive and specific molecular method used to identify viral infections, is chromogenic in situ hybridization (CISH). This assay allows simultaneous mRNA detection and localization within a specific cell type.¹⁴⁶

Chapter 3 Interaction of Papillomaviruses with Cell Cycle Proteins

Cell cycle proteins are responsible for maintenance and regulation of the physiologic cell cycle. These include Cyclins and their coupled enzymes cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) that regulate phosphorylation of target proteins during cell-cycle phases. In PVs infection, viral oncogenes interact with specific cell cycle proteins resulting in abrogation of cell-cycle checkpoint. The consequence is DNA damage, cell immortalization, and carcinogenesis.¹³⁶

3.1 Overview of the cell cycle

Cell cycle consists of five phases (G0, G1, S, G2, M) that result in cell division. It is regulated by activators and inhibitors, which are responsible for the correct progression till the end of the process.

Cells in quiescent state are in G0, and to enter G1 must be stimulated by growth factors.¹⁶ At this point, the progression through G1 is regulated by Cyclins D and E. The family of Cyclins D includes three isoforms (D1, D2, D3) which are otherwise expressed within different tissues.⁷⁰ Binding of Cyclins D to its associated enzymes (CDK4 and CDK6) is essential in the early G1, whereas Cyclin E/CDK2 binding occurs in the middle/late G1.³³³

G1/S transition is controlled by a special mechanism of surveillance called "checkpoint", which prevent the replication of damaged DNA. This step is regulated by the retinoblastoma (RB) gene family which include Rb/p105, p107, and Rb2/p130 collectively named as "pocket proteins". This term refers to the highly conserved binding region (pocket region) which is responsible for cellular factors and/or oncoproteins interactions.¹⁰⁴ The retinoblastoma protein (pRB) is regulated by phosphorylation: in resting cells, pRB is hypophosphorylated and tightly bound with E2F transcription factors, blocking it in an unactive state.²

When mitogenic signals induced by the formation of Cyclin D/CDK4-6 complex gather on cell cycle, pRB is inactivated by phosphorylation. Hyperphosphorylation of pRB leads to E2F release and subsequent gene transcription for the S phase. Once E2F is released, the complex Cyclin E/CDK2 will form, to prepare the cell to enter the S phase. The maintenance of pRB in a hyperphosphorylated status till the end of the cell cycle is due to Cyclin A/CDK2 complex.⁸⁹

The S phase is tightly controlled by Cyclin A/CDK2, which regulate the timing of mitosis and E2F phosphorylation.²⁶ Moreover, Cyclin A is responsible for the transition to G2 phase, in which binds to and activate CDK1, promoting entry in M phase.³³³

Another control mechanism acts on G2/M transition and avoids cells with damaged DNA to enter the M phase. This mechanism is regulated by Cyclin B/CDK1 complex whose activity is maintained upon mitosis. Specifically, chromosome condensation, centrosome separation and cell rounding, only occur if Cyclin B/CDK1 is activated.³³² In M phase, cyclin A/CDK1 and Cyclin B/CDK1 promote the event of mitosis. Towards the end of M phase, the anaphase promoting complex (APC) causes ubiquitination and destruction of Cyclin A and Cyclin B, that leads to termination of M phase.⁹¹ Figure 1 shows the main regulatory proteins of the cell cycle.

Figure 1. Cell cycle and the role of cyclins, cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) and CDK inhibitors (Robbins e Contran, 2020).



3.2 Negative regulators of the cell cycle

Cell cycle is further controlled by CDKs inhibitors, that block CDKs activity. To date, there are two families of CDKs inhibitors: the INK4 and Cip/Kip family, which act on specific cell cycle phases.

The first family, the INK4, includes p15^{INK4b}, p16^{INK4a}, p18^{INK4c} and p19^{INK4d}. They specifically block interaction and binding between CDK4-6 and Cyclin D at G1 phase.³³² The most studied CDKs inhibitor of this family is p16^{INK4a}. It negatively regulates the cell cycle by binding with CDK4 and CDK6 alone or with Cyclin D/CDK4-6 complex. The inhibition of Cyclin D/CDK4-6 prevents RB phosphorylation and therefore the cell arrests in G1.³³⁴

The Cip/Kip family includes p21 (Cip1), p27 (Cip2), p57 (Kip2). All these proteins can block the cell cycle by binding most of the CDKs. Of note, p21 inhibits CDK4, 6/Cyclin D and CDK2/Cyclin E, blocking the cell cycle at G1-S and G2-M respectively. Moreover, some studies demonstrate that p21 can also play an important role in cases of DNA damage.³³³

In conjunction with CDKs inhibitors, p53 ensures that only cells without DNA errors undergo replication. P53 is a tumor suppressor protein called "the guardian of the genome" referring to its role in preventing neoplasms and mutations. If a DNA damage occur, p53 is highly expressed and this triggers the expression of p21.⁶⁸

3.3 Papillomavirus oncoproteins

3.3. Papillomavirus oncoproteins

3.3.1 E5

E5 is a small hydrophobic polypeptide involved in viral persistence and replication. At physiological levels it localizes in the endoplasmic reticulum and more rarely in the Golgi apparatus and early endosomes,⁹³ while when overexpressed, it also localizes in the nuclear envelope.⁷⁴

The most studied PVs expressing E5 are HPV-16 and BPV-1. In HPV-16-cervical lesions, E5 is not the major oncogene but is essential in early phase of infection, enhancing E6

and E7 expression and tumor progression.²¹⁷ During early infection, E5 interferes with two signalling pathways: immune evasion and growth factors activation. In the first mechanism E5 binds to B cell receptor-associated protein 31 (BAP31) in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) preventing the transport of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I proteins to the cell surface.¹⁵ From a functional view, MHC class I downregulation reduce cytotoxic T lymphocytes activity and leads to immune surveillance evasion.⁵⁵ The second mechanism is responsible for cellular proliferation and tumor progression. In HPV-16 infected cells, E5 binds to vacuolar ATPase on the endosome, interfering with endosomal acidification. Impaired acidification, induce epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and endosome recycling, and a subsequent increase of the EGFR/EGF signal via the MAPK pathway.^{147,227} However, as cervical cancer progresses toward malignancy, viral DNA integrates to the host genome while E2 and E5 extinguish.¹³⁷

In contrast, BPV-1 and BPV-2 E5 is the most studied and powerful oncogene, interacting with many proteins, and signalling pathways. Of these, platelet derived growth factor receptor β (PDGRF β) is one of the major target, interacting with E5 with a highly specific bound.¹²⁶ Hyperphosphorylation and subsequent activation of PDGRF β trigger PI-3k-Akt pathway and recruitment of specific transforming factors.³⁶ In addition, E5 can also activate p38 MAPK to induce fibroblasts proliferation and tumor progression.³⁵¹

Besides the association between HPV and genital cancers, recent works have emphasized the role of EcPV-2 in the development of equine genital squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs).³¹¹ Nevertheless, the lack of E5 ORF within EcPV-2 genome, make the virus an unsuitable model for HPV-induced cancers.²⁷⁸

3.3.2 E6

E6 is a zinc-binding protein not expressed by all PVs, such as BPV-3, -4 and -6.¹⁴⁹ Along with E7, E6 is the best studied oncoprotein of high-risk HPV. It is responsible for abnormal cellular proliferation by inactivating the p53 pathway. Specifically, E6

inactivates p53 via different mechanisms: in the first, E6 binds to E3 ubiquitin ligase E6associated protein (E6AP), a 100 kD enzyme. The E6-E6AP complex induce ubiquitination and degradation of p53 by the proteasome pathway.²⁸¹ The second mechanism involves p-300, CREB-binding protein (CBP) and ADA3, three histone acetyltransferases that inhibit p53 acetylation and p53-dependent gene activation.^{178,322} P53 viral-mediated inactivation allow viral productive replication and contribute to cell cycle progression. Another function of E6 is the ability to activate the catalytic subunit of the telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) via E6AP, promoting cellular immortalization and tumor progression.¹²⁴ Additional oncogenic activity of E6 is the ability to negatively regulate the intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways. The extrinsic pathway is blocked by E6 interaction with death receptors on the cell surface (e.g., tumor necrosis factor 1 (TNFR-1), Fas/CD95 and others). The net result is degradation of adapter molecules and caspase-8.144 Inactivation of the intrinsic pathway occur through E6 binding to pro-apoptotic members of the BCL2 family Bax and Bak. The overall effect is the blocking of cytochrome c release in the cytosol and disruption of effector caspase cleavage.³²⁷

Conversely to high-risk HPV, BPV-1 E6 influence tumor progression in a p53independent manner. Unlike high-risk HPV, BPV-1 E6 does not elicit p53 degradation by binding with E6AP, but it seems to induce its downregulation by interacting with CBP/p300.³⁵⁹ The CBP/p300 family comprises the two transcriptional co-activator p300 and CBP which are involved in cellular growth and in p53 acetylation.¹²⁷ Recent studies demonstrate that interactions between BE6 and CBP/p300 interfere with p53 function and inhibit p53 transcription.³⁵⁹ It is important to note that both high-risk HPV and BPV-1 can bind to paxillin, a focal adhesion molecule involved in focal adhesion and migration. Although the exact mechanism is unknown, paxillin binding to E6 prevents anoikis and allow cytoskeletal re-modelling, with a consequent anchorageindependent cellular growth.^{339,340}

Regarding EcPV-2, little is known about host cell interactions and its oncogenic mechanisms. However, sequencing EcPV-2 genome, has revealed the presence of both

12

E6 and E7 genes, with E7 lacking the RB binding site.²⁷⁸ Whereby E6 appear to be the major oncogene of EcPV-2, downregulating p53 in the same way of high-risk HPV.²⁶⁶

3.3.3 E7

E7 is a 100 amino acids polypeptide responsible for PVs proliferation.²¹⁹ In high-risk HPV, E7 contains a LXCXE motif that interact with the pRB "pocket" domain and induce E2F release. As the result, E2F become transcriptionally active and the cell progress through the S phase. Moreover, E7-pRB binding induce pRB degradation via the proteasome pathway therefore increasing p16 levels (Figure 2).²⁴⁸ Also, E7 contribute to carcinogenesis by directly binding cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CDKI) p21 and p27 further inducing cellular proliferation.^{120,355} The combined action of CDKI inhibition and pRB inactivation also result in an increased levels of Cyclin E and Cyclin A which favour cell cycle progression and cellular division.²¹⁹

By contrast, BPV-1 E7 lacks the LXCXE motif that mediates pRB ubiquitination, whereby its oncogenic activity is thought to rely on its ability to bind p600.⁷⁵ The E7-p600 interaction is essential for anoikis inhibition and therefore for anchorage-independent cell survival.⁸⁸ *In vivo* studies on equine sarcoids demonstrate the simultaneous co-localization of p600 and E7 in the cytoplasm of neoplastic fibroblast, reinforcing the role of E7 in natural occurring sarcoids.⁷⁵ In addition, cell invasion is further promoted by upregulation of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) by BPV-1 E7. Notably, cleavage of basal membrane by MMP-2 and MMP-9 modify the interstitial connective tissue and enhance tumor invasion.^{209,352}

Although the entire EcPV-2 genome was sequenced in 2010 by *Scase et al*, the viral oncogenic mechanism is still unknown. However, the same work has showed that the E7 protein lacks the pRB-binding site, suggesting E6 as the major oncogene of EcPV-2.²⁷⁸





Chapter 4 Papillomaviruses and Squamous cell carcinomas

Squamous cell carcinoma is one of the most common malignant neoplasm in veterinary medicine, affecting dogs, cats, cows and horses.^{77,206,344} In horses, the periocular region and external genitalia are the most frequently affected sites, followed by ear pinnae, perianal region and extremities.³²¹ To date, the association between EcPV-2 and equine genital SCCs is well established, but the exact mechanisms of carcinogenesis are not fully understood.^{130,182} Recent works on equine EcPV-2 induced SCCs showed many histological and molecular similarities with human HPV-induced SCCs: in both cases viral genome is reported to reside within infected cells as viral, episomal or integrated.³¹¹ Moreover, genital tumor similarities between high-risk HPV and EcPV-2 suggest that the two viruses can have similar carcinogenic mechanisms and features. For this reason, high-risk HPV may represent a good model for the equine counterpart. In human medicine, oncogenic PVs are defined as "high-risk" and are implicated in a variety of cancers, including anogenital, head and neck and cervical SCCs.^{49,90}

4.1 HPV and genital SCCs in humans

In human medicine, about 15 genotypes of HPV are considered oncogenic and are associated with different types of cancer.²⁵¹ Among these, HPV-16 is the most commonly observed in cervical and penile cancers (54.4%), followed by HPV-18 (16.5%), HPV-58 (5.1%), HPV-33 (4.7%) and HPV-45 (4.4%).^{80,235} As the development of cervical neoplasia is strictly linked with HPV, it is important to consider the factors involved in the development of HPV-induced cervical SCCs.

Studies have shown that cigarette smoking is one of the major risks for progression from precancerous lesion towards malignancy.¹² In fact an epidemiological study on HPV status and smoking levels showed that the risk for developing cervical cancer is twofold increased with the number of cigarettes and the age at the start of smoking.¹² Moreover, tobacco carcinogens can either damage DNA and cause genomic instability,

and impair innate immunity response by reducing the number of T lymphocytes and Langhans cells in the cervix.^{53,139,259}

Besides smoking, the long-term use of hormonal contraceptive increase the risk of developing cervical cancer in HPV positive women.^{229,297} Repeated administration of oestradiol seems to enhance the expression of E6 and E7 ORF and promote viral proliferation.¹²¹

Furthermore, high parity and childbirth are associated with the development of HPVinduced SCCs.^{150,237} During pregnancy, intense exposure to oestrogen and progesterone promote the maintenance of the transition zone within the cervix, facilitating HPV infection.²³⁶ Similarly, concurrent epithelial damage and immunosuppression during pregnancy could favour HPV infection and subsequent development of SCC.¹⁵⁰

Apart from lifestyle factors, also individual factors as immunosuppression and other infections have been demonstrated to increase the risk of developing cervical SCCs. Immune suppressed women due to infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV) or organ transplantation, are more prone to develop precursor lesions and then SCCs.¹⁰² This, in HIV-positive women with lower CD4 count, is attributable to an impaired cell-mediated immunity.²⁷¹ At least, even opportunistic infections with common microorganisms as *Candida albicans* or *Herpes simplex virus* can alter cervical microflora. Disruption of the cervical microenvironment enhance local pro-inflammatory response which can damage cervical epithelium and promote HPV entry.^{35,292}

Human genital squamous cell carcinomas are classified based on tumor location.

In males, penile SCCs are grouped in two categories according to the 2016 WHO classification: HPV-related SCCs and non-HPV related SCCs.²²⁵ Within HPV-related SCCs, tumors are further classified based on histological appearance in: basaloid, warty (condilomatous),^{82,83} warty-basaloid,⁶⁷ papillary-basaloid⁸⁴ and clear cell²⁷⁵. Besides the most common histological types, also rare variants as lymphoepithelioma-like²²¹ and medullary SCCs have been reported.⁵⁷ Moreover, for penile SCCs it is also

16

recommended to apply a three-tiered grading system, based on histological features of malignancy: well differentiated SCCs (grade 1) are characterized by large nests of neoplastic cells whereas poorly differentiated SCCs (grade 3) are composed of trabeculae or solid areas of pleomorphic cells. Moderately differentiated SCCs (grade 2) show intermediate histological features of grade 1 and 3.²²⁵ However, if the histological diagnosis cannot be made certainly with routine hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining, it is further recommended to perform IHC for p16 which can be used as a surrogate marker for HPV-related neoplasm.^{66,85}

In female HPV-induced cervical SCCs, tumors are classified using a two-tiered grading system which divides the lesions into high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (HSIL) and low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (LSIL).⁸⁷ LSIL are commonly self-limited and show cytopathic or metaplastic changes of the lower one third of the cervical epithelium. On the other hand, HSIL are characterized by full thickness cellular proliferation with loss of nuclear polarity and cellular atypia. Additionally, for equivocal lesions, the WHO guidelines recommend the use of p16 as immunohistochemical marker for better classifying the disease.¹⁴¹

4.2 EcPV associated diseases in horses

To date, nine types of EcPVs have been identified and the infection seems to be limited to horses.^{184,185,192,194,254} Table 1 summarizes EcPV types and associated lesions. Currently, there are three different syndromes caused by EcPV: classical viral papillomatosis, genital papillomas and aural plaques.

Classical viral papillomatosis is a highly contagious disease caused by EcPV-1. Young horses (\leq 3 years old) are mainly affected and fortunately spontaneous regression occurs within 4 months.¹⁶⁹ The most commonly affected sites are the lips and muzzle although viral papillomatosis is also reported in the eyelids, limbs an genital region. The infection requires a breach in the skin and the transmission occurs through direct contact or via contaminated fomites.¹⁹⁹ The lesion begins as small papules (\simeq 1mm in

diameter) which than develop into more large broad-based pedunculated papillomas.²⁸⁸

Genital papillomas are caused by EcPV-2. The most commonly affected sites are the glands, vulval lips, vestibulum and clitoris.^{278,298} Unlike classical papillomatosis, the disease typically occurs in older horses and may evolve to SCC.³²⁵

Aural plaques are associated with EcPV-3, -4, -5 and -6 and occur as solitary or multiple lesions in the ear pinnae.^{185,314} When fully developed, they are typically bilateral and symmetrical, raised, white, with thick hyperkeratotic surface. No breed or sex predilection has been reported and horses of any age can be affected.³²⁶ Although histologically similar to papillomas, aural plaques have less finger-like projections and contain less melanin.²⁸⁸

Disease	Genera	EcPV-type
Classical papillomatosis	Zeta	EcPV-1
Aural plaques	Dyoiota	EcPV-4, -5
	Dyorho	EcPV-3, -6
	Zeta	EcPV-1
Genital SCCs and precursors	Dyoiota	EcPV-2, -4, -9
	Dyorho	EcPV-6, -7
	Treiskappa	EcPV-8

Table 1. EcPV associated diseases in horses.

4.2.1 Genital SCCs in horses

The genital region is considered one of the most important sites of occurrence of equine SCCs. In males, SCCs often develop in the free parts of the penis^{204,325} while in females they develop in the vulva.^{260,263,298} Geldings are reported to be more prone to developing SCCs than stallions.³²⁴ Although accumulation of smegma or low hormone levels in castrated horses have been proposed as potential risk factors, their role in the pathogenesis of SCCs is still unconfirmed.^{106,143} Older horses are more frequently affected, and an increased prevalence is reported in lightly pigmented breeds as Appaloosa, American Paint Horse, Clydesdale and Pinto.¹⁶⁹

SCCs start as small, solitary lesions and in the majority of the cases go unnoticed or are mistaken for infected granulation tissue.^{204,288} Histologically, SCCs are composed of trabeculae or cords of neoplastic epithelial cells that breach the basal membrane and infiltrate adjacent tissues. There is often keratin pearls formation and prominent intercellular bridges. Intratumoral lymphocytes, plasma cells or macrophages are common.²⁸⁸

The etiology of equine SCCs in not fully understood, but the presence of EcPV-2 seems to be associated with the development of the neoplasm.^{33,164,183} Nevertheless, a recent study demonstrates the presence of viral DNA also in the skin of healthy horses.¹³¹ From a molecular point of view, little is known about the oncogenic mechanism of EcPV-2 and the development of equine SCCs. In human penile SCCs, the presence of high-risk HPV is considered a strong indicator of a favourable outcome.¹⁹⁶ In addition, p53 and Ki-67 expression are correlated to lymph node metastasis and thus, they can be considered as prognostic markers.^{233,261} By contrast, in equine penile SCCs, neither p53 nor Ki-67 seem to be correlated with the degree of differentiation of the neoplasm or with the expression of viral genes hence they cannot be used as prognostic markers. However, statically significant correlation was found between p53 expression and poorly differentiated or invasive lesions (in situ carcinomas/SCCs) compared to the benign counterpart (hyperplasia/papillomas).³²³ Table 2 summarizes EcPV-2 detection in SCCs-related lesions and normal tissues (2010-2020).

Study by	Molecular	Matrix type	Localization	EcPV-2
	technique			
Scase et al	PCR	SCCs, papillomas, CIS	Penis and vulva	26/35 (74.3%)
(2010)		Normal skin	ND	0/1 (0%)
		Sarcoid	ND	0/1 (0%)
Kinght <i>et al</i>	PCR	SCCs	Genital	9/20 (45%)
(2011)		Other lesions	Penis	1/20 (5%)
Bogaert <i>et al</i>	PCR	SCC	Penis, vulva, anus, oral	32/34 (94.1%)
(2012)			cavity	
		Normal swab	Penile	4/39 (10.2%)
			Vaginal	0/20 (0%)
Vanderstraeten et al		SCCs, papillomas, PIN	Genital	36/36 (100%)
(2011)			Ocular	9/9 (100%)
		Normal mucosa	Genital	49/90 (54.4%)
		Normal mucosa	Ocular	32/56 (57%)
Sykora <i>et al</i>	PCR	SCCs, papillomas, CIS	Penis and vulva	4/4 (100%)
(2012)		Normal swabs	Ocular	1/30 (3.3%)
			Genital	4/94 (4.2%)
		Normal semen	Semen	0/54 (0%)
		Normal milk	Milk	0/15 (0%)
Lange <i>et al</i>	PCR	SCCs, papillomas, CIS	Penis	24/24 (100%)
(2013)		Other lesions	Penis	6/11 (54.5%)
Kinght <i>et al</i>	qPCR	SCCs, papillomas, CIS	Penis	16/20 (80%)
(2013)			Oropharynx	3/20 (15%)
		Other lesions	Penis	3/19 (15.8%)
		Normal mucosa	Penis	2/32 (6.2%)
			Vulva	1/40 (2.5%)
			Oral cavity	2/75 (2.7%)
	D.C.D.		Ocular	0/75 (0%)
Newkirk et al	PCR	SCCs, papillomas, CIS	Penis	10/22 (45.4%)
(2014)	DCD	Name al accele	Ocular	0/42 (0%)
Fisher <i>et al</i>	PCR	Normal swab	Genital	9/50 (18%)
Van den Ton et al	PCR	SCCs nanillomas CIS	Penis/preputium	91/103 (88 3%)
(2015)	T CIV	Sees, papilolitas, els	r chis/prepatiani	51/105 (88.576)
Zhu et al	PCR. ISH	SCCs	Penis/preputium	6/13 (61.5%)
(2015)				0, 10 (01.070)
Ramsauer <i>et al</i>		SCCs, papillomas, CIS and	Penis	19/19 (100%)
(2019)		benign hyperplasia		-, - (,
· · · ·		Normal skin	Penis	0/5 (0%)
Greenwood et al	PCR, ISH	SCCs	Penis, vulva	10/35 (28.6%)
(2020 a, b)	,		Eyelid	0/18 (0%)
		Normal skin	Genital	16/68 (23.5%)
			Eyelid	8/68 (11.8%)
			Retropharyngeal lymph	2/64 (3.1%)
			node	7/68 (10.3%)
			muzzle	
Alloway et al	PCR, ISH	SCCs	Stomach	7/11 (63.6%)
(2020)		Normal mucosa	Stomach	0/4 (0%)

Table 2. EcPV-2 d	etection in normal	tissues and S	SCCs-related	lesions from	previous studies.

4.2.2. Equine ocular SCCs

In horses SCCs are the most common neoplasms of the eyes and ocular adnexa, accounting 72% of all mucocutaneous SCCs.^{99,315} Preferential locations are the eyelid and canthus, followed by third eyelid, cornea, conjunctiva and the orbit.^{155,186,203} Interestingly, the growth of corneal SCCs seems to be limited to the corneal epithelium and/or the stroma, with no reports about Descemet's membrane invasion.^{155,156} Ocular SCCs are slowly metastatic and the recurrence depends on the treatment of the neoplasm.^{161,231} As for genital SCCs, the pathogenesis is unclear, but a strong prevalence is reported in grey-pigmented breeds.¹⁸⁷ UV light exposure seems to play a major role in the development of SCCs in this location.

4.2.3 Equine Pharyngeal and oral SCCs

Tumors of the oral cavity and pharynx rarely develop in horses, however, SCCs account about 5% of all the neoplasms in this locations.^{98,285} Although there is no breed or sex predilection, the prevalence is higher in older horses.^{153,285} They are reported to develop on the tongue, gingiva, pharynx and larynx. Clinical signs reflect the anatomic location and include dysphagia, ptyalism, dyspnea, cough and nasal discharge.^{153,230,304} Oral and pharyngeal SCCs are locally invasive and can metastasize to regional lymph nodes and lungs.²⁸⁵

Pre-neoplastic lesions are still not described because of the difficulty to examine these sites. For this reasons, the diagnosis is usually made late in the clinical course and the treatment is not attempted.¹⁵³

4.2.4 Other Locations

Other locations of SCCs include haired skin and stomach. Cutaneous SCCs develops preferentially in the pinnae, perineal area, and face. As for other locations, a widely accepted predisposing factor for the development of SCCs, is the degree of pigmentation.¹⁷³ However, there are three reports of SCCs in sites of previous trauma, including an injection site, a laceration and a thermal burn.^{18,111,287}

SCCs of the stomach are the most common neoplasm of the equine gastro-intestinal tract and are reported to occur more frequently in horses with more than 12 years old. Clinical signs include anorexia, weight loss, abdominal distension or regurgitation.^{78,244,320} Histologically they appear as exophytic, cauliflower-like masses that develop from the squamous epithelium that lines the dorsal part of the stomach.⁷⁷ Metastasis to regional lymph nodes or invasion to adjacent tissues as distal esophagus, liver and great omentum is a common feature.³²⁰

Sinonasal SCCs can develop from the paranasal sinuses or, more frequently, from the caudal maxillary sinus.^{38,138} Clinical signs are nasal discharge, dysphagia, facial swelling and dyspnea. In contrast to SCCs of other locations, they rarely metastasize. Nevertheless, sinonasal SCCs are locally invasive and usually diagnosed late in the disease, with no effective treatment options for horses.^{138,200}

Recent publications have demonstrated the presence of EcPV-2 in a subset of gastric SCCs.⁶

4.3 Association between UV light exposure and SCC development

A wide range of risks factors other than PVs infection, have been proposed for the development of SCCs, including UV light exposure, geographical location (altitude and longitude), and the paucity of hair coat and the pigmentation. All these causes are briefly discussed in the following sections.

4.3.1 UV radiation in Horses

UV radiation is the most important environmental factors that contribute to the development of cutaneous neoplasia. In fact, the onset of SCCs in horses increases with the increase of annual solar radiation and high longitude and altitude.^{103,288} Whereby genital and ocular regions are considered, predilection sites of occurrence both for the scarcity of hair coat and for being more exposed than other areas.¹⁰⁶ Moreover, the lack of melanin is believed not to protect the skin against UV light. This is demonstrated by the higher incidence of SCCs in Appaloosa and American Paint horses, that are characterized by absent or poor pigmentation in the genitalia.^{50,287} Several works have also related the onset of ocular SCCs to the chestnut and gray coat colours, suggesting that the genes that control these phenotypes could explain the highest incidence in some breeds.^{224,231,257} The chestnut colour result from a recessive mutation in the *melanocortin 1 receptor* (MC1R) gene, which regulates the switch from eumelanin to pheomelanin.²⁰⁸ Conversely, the grey coat colour results from a duplication in *syntaxin-17* (STX17) gene, which results in a progressive pigment loss from melanocytes.²⁷⁰

Cutaneous SCCs frequently develop after pre-neoplastic lesions as actinic keratosis, which appear as hyperkeratotic and/or crusting plaques of 0.2-2 cm in diameter.²⁸⁸ Generally, UV-induced neoplasia are characterized by C to T base substitution in TP53 gene.³⁵⁸ Although there is not a clear relationship between SCCs development and UV exposure, some studies tried to investigate the role of p53 in the pathogenesis of SCCs. Interestingly, three different works on equine ocular SCCs demonstrate the expression of p53 in all the examined cases, proposing UV light as the leading cause.^{5,296,318} These data are further reinforced by the work of Pazzi *et al*, in which point mutation of the p53 gene in neoplastic epithelial suggests that the amino acid substitution could be due to UV light exposure.²⁵²

By contrast, genital SCCs are characterized by moderate to high expression of p53, but the lack of knowledge of p53 status in this location, makes difficult to interpret the importance of p53 in UV-induced SCCs.^{266,323}

23

4.3.2 UV radiation in Humans

Sunlight is the major carcinogen for human cutaneous SCCs. Epidemiological studies reveal an highest incidence of cutaneous SCCs in lightly-pigmented people living in regions with high UV exposure.²⁶⁷ Human behaviour as the use of UV lamps for curing nails or tanning devices are associated with the risk of developing SCCs.^{117,157} In addition to environmental and behavioural factors, SCCs is reported to develops also in UV-treated psoriasis patients.¹⁵⁸ Despite all the causes of cutaneous SCCs, all UV-induced neoplasms are able to induce DNA mutations. These are evident in p53 gene, whose product, the p53 protein, is dysfunctional and very stable at the same time and its accumulation can be detected by IHC in tissues.^{9,42} TP53 mutations are called "hotspots" and are characterized by C to T substitution or CC vs TT double base changes in specific codons.³⁵⁸

4.4 Other risk factors for the development of SCCs in horses

In addition to the previously mentioned causes of SCCs, other factors have been proposed as possible source of neoplastic transformation in horses. In geldings smegma accumulation in the prepuce induce chronic inflammation possible leading to SCCs. Although smegma is mainly composed of exfoliated cells, it also contains lytic enzymes as lysozyme, cathepsin B and other compounds that were considered chronic irritants.⁵⁰ Nevertheless, this hypothesis has never been proven and the association between SCCs and smegma accumulation is still considered doubdful.^{142,143} Sites of previous injuries or irritations are also considered in the pathogenesis. There

is also some evidence of ocular SCCs developed from sites of previous trauma or from delayed wound repair.¹²³ Even if the development of cutaneous SCCs from previously injured areas is reported in three works, their association is still unconfirmed.^{18,111,287}

Experimental part

Chapter 5 Expression of cell cycle proteins in equine squamous cell carcinomas and carcinomas in situ

Squamous cell carcinoma is the second most common neoplasm of horses, occurring mostly in the periocular region and external genitalia. To date, the pathogenesis of this neoplasm is not fully understood, but the presence of EcPV-2 seems to be associated with the development of genital lesions.^{130,183} An additional risk factor for SCC development is UV light exposure. In fact, an increased prevalence of SCCs was associated with an increase of altitude and longitude.¹⁰³

In humans, the association between HPV and genital malignancy is well established, with cervical and penile cancers being related to HPV-16 and HPV-16, -18 respectively.^{48,148} HPV integration into the host cell leads to E6 and E7 activation and interaction with many cell cycle proteins.²⁴⁸ When HPV E6 integrates into the host genome, it induces p53 degradation. Its activity is further accomplished by HPV E7, which binds to pRB and induce its ubiquitination and E2F transcription factors release. The net result is CDKN2A overexpression. All these interactions with cell cycle proteins are responsible for DNA damage, cell cycle progression and tumorgenesis.^{136,248}

CDKN2A is an important tumor suppressor and its overexpression in cervical high risk HPV is used to predict HPV status.²⁰⁵ Another important cell cycle regulator, p53, is reported to be mutated in a variety of human cancer, being an indicator of tumor aggressiveness and poor overall survival.^{220,306,307} Conversely to other neoplasms, in cervical intraepithelial lesions p53 overexpression is negatively correlated with histological grade and HPV positivity.^{176,331}

In human medicine, the study of cell cycle proteins combined with the presence of HPV is considered a specific predictor for HPV-status and malignant transformation of the female genital neoplasia.²⁴³

25

To date, in veterinary literature, the study of cell cycle proteins and their interactions in equine SCCs are limited to p53. Although p53 cannot be considered as a prognostic marker, it can be useful in the distinction between benign and malignant lesions.^{266,323} Moreover, EcPV-2 infection is known to be associated with equine SCCs, but in contrast to humans, EcPV-2 status is not considered a prognostic factor.¹³⁰

Therefore, the aim of this study is to assess if EcPV-2 has any effect on cell cycle proteins pRB, Cyclin D1, p53 and CDKN2A in cutaneous and mucocutaneous SCCs, papillomas and carcinoma in situ (CIS).

5.1 Materials and Methods

5.1.1 Case selection and histology

Cases were retrieved from the Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Pathology archives at the University of Liverpool (UK). Cases were searched in the Department database using "squamous cell carcinoma" as keyword. A total of seventy-nine cases were identified. Clinical and signalment data were retrieved simultaneously, including signalment data and tumor location. Cases were then reviewed by histological examination of hematoxylin and eosin-stained slides and reclassified as papillomas, carcinoma in situ (CIS) and SCCs using previously described criteria.²⁶⁶. Briefly, papillomas were characterized by finger-like projections of hyperplastic epithelium supported by a fibrovascular core. Tumors were classified as CIS when neoplastic keratinocytes were confined to the epidermis without invasion into the dermis whereas a diagnosis of SCCs was made when trabeculae, islands or cords of neoplastic cells invade the dermis. For the purpose of the study, carcinomas (SCCs and CIS) and papillomas were analyzed separately.

SCCs were further divided in well differentiated or poorly differentiated using a modified grading system by Bryne *et al* (Table 3).⁴⁶ Tumor grading was calculated by adding each parameter and providing a total score from a minimum of 5 to a maximum of 20. Tumors with total scores \leq 10 were classified as well differentiated whereas

tumors with total scores >10 were classified as poorly differentiated. For each tumor, the average number of mitotic cells per high power field (HPF) was assessed in 2.37 mm², avoiding necrotic areas.

Score					
Morphological feature	1	2	3	4	
Degree of keratinization	Highly keratinized (>50% of cells)	Moderately keratinized (20- 50% of cells)	Minimal keratinization (5- 20% of cells)	No keratinization (0-5%)	
Pattern of invasion	Pushing, well delineated infiltrating borders	Infiltrating, solid cords, bands and/or strands	Small groups or cords of infiltrating cells	Marked and widespread cellular dissociation in small groups and/or in single cells	
Desmoplasia	None	Slight	Moderate	Marked	
Nuclear pleomorphism	Little nuclear polymorphism (>75% mature cells)	Moderately abundant nuclear polymorphism (50-75% mature cells)	Abundant nuclear polymorphism (25-50% mature cells)	Extreme nuclear polymorphism (0- 25% mature cells)	
Mitotic index (mitosis in 2,37 mm ²)	0-1	2-3	4-5	>5	

Table 3. Modified grading system for equine squamous cell carcinomas (Bryne *et al*, 1992).

5.1.2 Tissue microarray construction

All cases were selected for tissue microarray technique (TMA). Firstly, representative areas containing neoplastic tissue without inflammation, hemorrhage, or non-neoplastic zones were selected from the H&E stained slides. Selected areas were marked on the slide and compared with the donor block to identify the sampling area, then were punched with a 6 mm diameter biopsy punch. TMAs were then constructed allocating the obtained tissue cores into new empty receiving paraffin blocks. One tissue core per tumor was used for the construction. A sector map was then created to recognize the position of each tumor core. Each TMA contained seven tumor cores, one equine lung core as a landmark. From each TMA, a H&E stained section was evaluated to confirm the presence of the selected tissue.

After validation of the TMA technique, TMA were used for EcPV-2 CISH.

CISH TMA validation will be evaluated by PCR in a secondary phase of the study with an estimation of the agreement level.

5.1.3 Western blot Analysis

To verify Cyclin D1 and pRB antibody specificity with equine tissues, Western Blot analysis was performed. The assay was carried out in collaboration with the Department of Experimental and Special Medicine (DIMES), at the University of Bologna. For protein extraction, fresh tissue from equine dermis and intestine was collected. From each, 25µg of tissue was homogenized with 500ml RIPA buffer (Thermofisher Scientific) and 100 µl of protease inhibitor (Halt Protease Inhibitor Cocktail EDTA-free, Thermofisher Scientific). Tubes were centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 30 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was collected and stored at -80°C. Protein concentration was calculated using the DC Protein Assay Kit (Bio-Rad). Subsequently, 40 µg of proteins were denatured at 100°C for 10 minutes. Proteins were separated using a 8% gel and electrophoretically transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. Nonspecific binding sites were blocked with milk 5% in TBS-T for 1h at RT. The blot was incubated at 4°C overnight with an antibody against pRB and Cyclin D1 respectively (1:500, Abcam). Then, the membrane was incubated with anti-mouse peroxidase conjugated secondary antibody (1:200, Thermofisher) for both antibodies for 1 hour at room temperature. Reactive bands were visualized with a chemiluminescent detection kit (Westar nC 2.0 Cyanagen, XLS075,0020) using the Chemidoc instrument (Bio-Rad). B-Actin was used as the loading control and was detected using a β -actin-specific antibody (1:500 Santa Cruz, Biotechology).

5.1.4 Immunohistochemistry

Four-consecutive sections of each tumors were used for IHC, using the following antibodies: p53, CDKN2A, pRB and Cyclin D1. Data on the primary antibodies are summarised in Table 4.

Cross reactivity for Cyclin D1 and pRB with equine tissues was confirmed with western blot analysis, while for CDKN2A sequences were compared using an online sequence alignment tool (<u>https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi</u>). Equine CDKN2A sequences were compared to human sequences, showing 100% homology.

Three-micrometer-thick sections were dewaxed and rehydrated. Endogenous peroxidase was blocked by immersion in H₂O₂ 3% in methanol for 30 minutes. For antigen retrieval, sections were immersed in 200 mL citrate buffer (PH 6.0) and heated in a microwave oven at 750W for two-10-minutes cycles (p53 and pRB) or for three-5-minutes cycles (CDKN2A and Cyclin D1). Slides were incubated with the primary antibody overnight at 4°C. The reaction was revealed using a commercial streptavidine-biotin-peroxidase technique (ABC kit elite, Vector, Burlingame, CA, USA) and visualized with 3-amino-9-ethylcarbazole (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark). Slides were counterstained with Mayer's hematoxylin. Positive controls consisted of normal equine testis for pRB and Cyclin D1 whereas a SCC with known p53 expression served as a positive control for p53. Specific positive control for CDKN2A consisted of equine colon. As a negative control, the primary antibody was replaced with an isotype-matched non relevant antibody.

Immunoreactivity for p53 was considered significant when nuclear immunoreactivity was seen in at least 10% of neoplastic cells. If the percentage positive cells fell below 10% or was recorded as cytoplasmic then it was considered negative. Significant immunoreactivity was graded as basal (b) or non-basal (nb) as previously described.²⁶⁶ CDKN2A immunostaining was evaluated as nuclear or cytoplasmic as previously described for human HPV-induced cervical lesions.¹⁹⁰ In addition, scattered positive keratinized cells were identified within the tumors and the positivity was further categorized as nuclear, cytoplasmic, or keratinized.

Immunolabelling for pRB and Cyclin D1 was scored along a 6-tiered scale ranging from 0 to 5: 0 (negative); 1 (1-25% positive cells); 2 (26-50% positive cells); 3 (51-75% positive cells); 4 (76-90% positive cells); 5 (91-100% positive cells). Cyclin D1 and pRB scores were added to obtain a combined score. A combined score \leq 4 was considered low and a score >4 high.¹⁰¹

Antibody	Clone	Manufacturer	Dilution
p53	PAb240	BD Pharmingen (Rodano (MI), Italy)	1:100
CDKN2A	Polyclonal	Elabscience Biotechnology (Texas, USA)	1:150
pRB	Sc-1	Santa Cruz Byotechnology (Segrate (MI), Italy)	1:100
Cyclin D1	A12	Santa Cruz Byotechnology (Segrate (MI), Italy)	1:150

 Table 4. Primary antibodies, resources, and dilutions.
5.1.5 EcPV-2 chromogenic in situ hybridization

Chromogenic in situ hybridization was performed using the RNA scope kit (Advanced Cell Diagnostics, Hayward, CA). The target genes and probe regions were designed to hybridize to messenger RNA (mRNA) and a 972-nucleotide portion of the E6/E7 region of EcPV2 (EU503122.1) as previously described.³⁵⁷ Three-µm thick sections were deparaffinized in xylene, followed by dehydration in ethanol. Following endogenous peroxidase blocking, sections were incubated in 200ml 1X Target Retrieval solution (Advanced Cell Diagnostic, Hayward, CA) maintained at 100°C to 103°C using a water bath for 15 minutes, rinsed in deionized water and immediately treated with 4 drops of protease plus (Advanced Cell Diagnostic, Hayward, CA) at 40°C for 30 minutes in a HybEZ hybridization oven (Advanced Cell Diagnostics, Hayward, CA). Target probe was added to the slides and hybridized at 40°C for 2 hours in the HybEZ oven. Amplification steps were performed at first in HybEZ hybridization oven at 40°C for 30 minutes (from AMP1 to AMP4) than at ambient temperature for 30 and 15 minutes for AMP5 and AMP6, respectively. Chromogenic detection was obtained by adding Red-working solution (60 µl) for 10 minutes at room temperature. Slides were counterstained with Gill's hematoxylin and mounted with VectaMount (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Ec-PPIB probe (*Equus caballus* peptidylprolyl isomerase B (cyclophilin B) (PPIB) mRNA) was used as positive control to assess gene housekeeping while Bacillus subtilis strain SMY methylglyoxal synthase dihydrodipicolinate reductase (dapB) gene was used as negative control.

5.2 Statistical Analysis

Normal distribution of continuous variables was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test of normality. Mean±standard deviation were indicated for normal continuous variables, whereas the median and range were calculated for non-normally distributed continuous variables. Distribution of categorical variables was assessed with the Chi square test. To assess the distribution of continuous variables, Kruskal-Wallis nonparametric test was used. Spearman coefficient was used to estimate the correlations between continuous variables. For each test, differences were considered significant when $p \le 0.05$. All statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 26 (IBM Corporation, Chicago, IL, USA).

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Signalament and clinical data

Seventy-one (71) cutaneous, ocular, and genital SCCs and CIS from 69 horses were included in the study. Ages of horses were available for 52/69 equids and ranged from 5 to 33 years old with a mean of 17.44 years and a median of 18 years. Gender information was available for 58/69 and included 22 mares (37.9%) and 36 males (62.1%) of which 26 were geldings and 10 stallions. Information regarding breed was available for 52/69 submissions. Among horses, Cob (21.9%), Welsh (11%) and Thoroughbred (9.7%) were the most representative breeds. Table 5 summarises the clinical data and the histological diagnosis.

Case ID	Breed	Age (years)	Sex	Tumor location	Histological diagnosis
15L-4937				Conjunctiva	Scc
15L-5601	Cob	15	MN	Eyelid	Scc
15L-5618 A			F	Third eyelid	CIS
16L-0457			MN	Penis	Scc
16L-0937 A, B		20	F	Skin	Scc
16L-1378 A	Welsh		MN	Penis	CIS
16L-1790	Cob	21	F	Vulva	Scc
16L-1929	Welsh	19	MN	Penis	Scc
16L-2103			F	Third eyelid	Scc
16L-2132	Haflinger	15	F	Third eyelid	Scc
16L-2921	Cob	22	F	Skin	Scc
16L-2974 B	Cob x	14	MN	Penis	Scc
16L-3066	Anglo Arabian	19	Μ	Conjunctiva	Scc
16L-3078 B			F	Vulva	Scc
16L-3484 A				Third eyelid	Scc
16L-3485 B				Third eyelid	Scc
16L-4612	Selle Francaise	5	F	Conjunctiva	Scc
16L-5059	Westphalian	10	MN	Third eyelid	Scc
16L-5245 A	Connemara x	18	MN	Penis	CIS
16L-5600 A	Cob	13	MN	Third eyelid	Scc
16L-5600 B	Cob			Cornea	Scc
16L-5915 B, C	Cob	19	F	Vulva	Scc
16L-6363			MN	Penis	Scc
17L-0634	Pony	31	MN	Conjunctiva	Scc
17L-0750	Irish cob		F	Third eyelid	Scc
17L-1957 A	Cob	10	MN	Third eyelid	Scc

Table 5. Clinical data and histological diagnosis of squamous cell carcinomas.

17L-2178	Cob	20	Μ	Conjunctiva	Scc
17L-3182	Polo pony	16	F	Eyelid	Scc
17L-3343 A	Cob	17	MN	Penis	Scc
17L-3572 B		13	F	Third eyelid	CIS
17L-5007 B				Third eyelid	Scc
17L-5323 A	Trotter x	20	Μ	Penis	Scc
17L-5988	Sella Francaise			Conjunctiva	Scc
180 A	Thoroughbred	26	Μ	Penis	Scc
260 A	Welsh	8	Μ	Penis	Scc
640 A	Cob	22	Μ	Skin	Scc
783 C	Cob	13	F	Skin	Scc
1634			F	Cornea	Scc
1790 A	Shetland	12	F	Skin	Scc
2102 A	Cob x	14	MN	Eye globe	Scc
2151 B		25	Μ	Preputium	Scc
2525 A, B	Cob	10	MN	Third eyelid	Scc
3269 A	Falabella	22	F	Vulva	Scc
4352 A, B	Pony	19	F	Vulva	Scc
4356 A	Cob cross	14	MN	Eye globe	Scc
5117 A	Cob	17	Μ	Skin	Scc
5504 A, B	Appaloosa	33	MN	Skin	Scc
6425	Welsh A	11	F	Conjunctiva	Scc
7140 A	Connemara	25	F	Skin	CIS
7172 A	Welsh D	28	MN	Preputium	Scc
7300 A	Cob	9	F	Skin	Scc
8292 B	Cob	24	Μ	Penis	Scc
9598 A	Arabian x	20	MN	Preputium	Scc
9881 A	Quarter	17	MN	Eyelid	Scc
9934 B	Warmblood	19	MN	Skin	Scc
9950 A	Connemara	19		Third eyelid	Scc
10040 A	Welsh	11	MN	Third eyelid	Scc
10736 A	Standardbred	13		Third eyelid	Scc
11354 A				Eyelid	Scc
11356 A				Conjunctiva	Scc
12038 A			F	Third eyelid	Scc
12485 B	Clydesdale	18	MN	Conjunctiva	Scc
14224 A	Welsh A	20	MN	Penis	Scc
14447 A				Third eyelid	Scc
15156 C, D	Welsh A	22	MN	Penis	Scc
15727 A	Cross	12	F	Third eyelid	Scc
16735 A	Thoroughbred	7	F	Third eyelid	Scc
16948 A				Conjunctiva	Scc
17154 A	Thoroughbred	13	MN	Third eyelid	Scc
17296 A	Thoroughbred	14	Μ	Third eyelid	Scc
17547 A	Standardbred	15	MN	Penis	Scc

5.3.2 Histological diagnosis

Histological diagnosis and tumour location were evaluated in all the cases. Cases were histologically divided in CIS (5/71, 7%) and SCCs (66/71, 92.3%) according to previously published data (Figure 3).²⁶⁶ Tumors were further divided based on tumor location in genital (22/71, 31%), ocular (39/71, 55%) and cutaneous (10/71, 14%).Within genital tumors, 17/22 (77.3%) were located in the penis/preputium whereas 5/22 (22.7%) in the vulva. Moreover, within ocular tumors, 14/39 (35.9%) were conjunctival/corneal and 25/39 (64.1%) in the eyelids.

In 45/71 (63.4%) cases, tumors were designated as well differentiated whereas 26/71 (36.6%) cases were graded as poorly differentiated. No statistically significant association between histological grading and anatomic site (p=0.26 *Chi-Square test*) was found.

Mitotic count values were not-normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk test, p=0.001). The median mitotic count was 33.44 (range 1-124).



Figure 3. A. Eye, carcinoma in situ, 4x. B. Skin, squamous cell carcinoma, 20x.

5.3.3 Chromogenic in situ hybridization (CISH)

CISH was performed in all the cases. A positive hybridization signal was observed in 21/71 (2.6%) cases. Positivity appeared as strong nuclear or finely granular punctate dots in the cytoplasm of neoplastic epithelial cells (Figure 4). No signal was observed in peritumoral nor in non-neoplastic adjacent tissues. The presence of EcPV-2 was confirmed in 11/22 (50%) of genital SCCs and in 3/10 (30%) cutaneous SCCs. CISH signal was also detected in 7/39 (18%) ocular SCCs. EcPV-2 was significantly higher in genital tumors compared to ocular and cutaneous tumors (p=0.03 *Chi-Square test*) (Table 6). However, no statistically significant association between histological grading and EcPV-2 positivity (p=0.11 *Chi-Square test*) was found (Figure 5).

 Table 6. Association between tumor location and EcPV-2.

	EcP		
	Negative	Positive	Total
Genital	11	11	22
Ocular	32	7	39
Cutaneous	7	3	10

Figure 4. A, B. Strong hybridization signal within the nucleus of neoplastic cells. CISH, EcPV-2 probe, 20x and 40x. C. Strong hybridization signal in the cytoplasm of neoplastic cells. CISH, EcPV-2 probe 20x.
D. Strong nuclear and cytoplasmic hybridization signal. CISH, EcPV-2 probe 20x.



Figure 5. Distribution of EcPV-2 status and histological grading.



5.3.4 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Cross reactivity for Cyclin D1 and pRB were confirmed with Western blot analysis from equine testis and sarcoid (Figure 6). Cyclin D1 and pRB revealed a strong band at 34 kDa and 114 kDa protein respectively. An antibody to β -actin was used as a loading control.

Figure 6. Western blot analysis of protein lysates from equine testis and sarcoid.



p53

Positive nuclear p53 labelling, defined as >10% of positive cells, was observed in 41/71 (57.7%) of cases. Of these, 12 showed basal (b) positivity while 29 had a non-basal (nb) positivity distributed across all layers of epithelial cells (Figure 7). Differences of p53 labelling were detected based on anatomic sites: 25/39 (64.1%) ocular tumors positive labelled for p53 while 10/22 (45.4%) genital and 6/10 (60%) of cutaneous tumors showed positive p53 immunolabelling. Although not statistically significant, the majority of ocular tumors showed high p53 immunolabelling compared to the other sites (p=0.36, *Chi-Square test*) (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Distribution of p53 immunolabelling in different anatomical sites.

A statistically significant correlation between p53 localization and anatomic sites was found (p=0.034, *Chi-Square test*). Of 41 p53 positive cases, non-basal positivity was recorded in 4/11 (36.4%) genital, 21/25 (84%) ocular and 4/6 (66.6%) cutaneous tumors (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Distribution of p53 localization in different anatomical sites.

Regarding mitotic count, no correlation with p53 positivity (p=0.81, Kruskal Wallis test) nor with p53 localization (p=0.45, Kruskal Wallis test) was found (Figure 10). When comparing histological grading with p53 immunolabelling, no significant association (p=0.1, *Chi-Square test*) was found. Likewise, histological grading and p53 distribution were not correlated (p=0.19, *Chi-Square test*).

Figure 10. Comparison between mitotic count and p53 immunolabelling. 0: negative cases; 1: positive cases.



P53 positive cases were not associated with EcPV-2 presence (p=0.42, *Chi-Square test*) (Table 7), similarly not statistically significant association between p53 localization and EcPV-2 was found. In 22/50 EcPV-2 negative cases, >90% of non-basal cells expressed p53 (p=0.81 *Chi-Square test*). Moreover, 7/50 EcPV-2 negative cases showed p53 basal distribution (Table 8).

 Table 7. Association between p53 immunolabelling and EcPV-2 status in equine squamous cell carcinomas and carcinomas in situ.

		EcP		
		negative	positive	Total
p53				
	negative	22	8	30
	positive	28	13	41
Total		50	21	71

Table 8. Association between p53 localization and EcPV-2 presence.

		EcP\		
		negative	positive	Total
p53 localization		21	8	29
	basal	7	6	13
	non-basal	22	7	29
Total		50	21	71

Figure 8. A, B. Strong basal p53 immunolabelling, 4x. C, D. Strong non-basal p53 immunolabelling, 4x.



CDKN2A (p16)

CDKN2A immunolabelling was tested in 43/71 cases. Of these, 18/43 (17.5%) were negative, while 25/43 (24.3%) had either nuclear or cytoplasmic positivity. Moreover,

in 20/43 (46.5%) of cases, strong immunolabelling of keratinized cells was noted (Figure 11). The expression of CDKN2A, either nuclear only or nuclear and cytoplasmic, was not associated with EcPV-2 status. In fact, of the 25 CDKN2A-positive cases, 20 were EcPV-2 negative and 5 were EcPV-2 positive (p=0.55, *Chi-square test*). Although not statistically significant, the majority of CDKN2A-positive cases had a non-basal p53 distribution (14/25, >%) (p=0.062 *Chi-Square test*). Moreover, there was a statistically significant association between mitotic count and CDKN2A immunolabelling as CDKN2A positive cases had higher mitotic count compared to CDKN2A negative cases (p=0.009 *Kruskal-Wallis test*) (Figure 12).

In addition, no statistically significant association was observed with anatomic site (p=0.69 Chi-Square test), histological grading (p=0.08 Chi-Square test), and p53 positivity (p=0.20 Chi-Square test).



Figure 8. A. Intense nuclear labellingof CDKN2A neoplastic cells, 40x. B.IntensecytoplasmicIntensecytoplasmicCDKN2A neoplastic cells, 20x. C.IntenseCDKN2AIntenseCDKN2

Figure 12. Comparison between CDKN2A immunolabelling and mitotic count.



pRB

For pRB, nuclear labelling was observed in 69/71 (97.2%) of cases (Figure 13). Two cases were excluded due to FFPE material unavailability. Regarding pRB score, 2 (2.8%), 2 (2.8%), 9 (13%), 22 (31.9%) and 34 (49.3%) cases showed expression scores of 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 respectively (Table 9).

P53 positivity was significantly associated with high pRB scores (p=0.01, *Kruskal-Wallis test*). In addition, cases with high pRB score were associated with p53 non-basal positivity (p=0.002, *Kruskal-Wallis test*).

Furthermore, non-statistically significant association was found between pRB immunolabelling and other molecular variables (anatomical site, histological classification, mitotic count, EcPV-2 and CDKN2A positivity).

Moreover, pRB immunolabelling was not associated with histological grading (*p*=0.54, *Kruskal-Wallis test*). Although not statistically significant, pRB score was higher in ocular SCCs (*p*=0.05, *Kruskal-Wallis test*).

Figure 13. A, B. Strong nuclear pRB immunolabelling of neoplastic cells, 10x.



Table 9. Results of pRB score in squamous cell carcinomas and carcinomas in situ.

pRB score	Positve cases	Percentage (%)
0	0	0
1	2	2.8
2	2	2.8
3	9	13
4	22	31.9
5	34	49.3

Cyclin D1

Strong nuclear Cyclin D1 immunolabelling was observed in all the cases (Figure 14), with highly significant correlation between Cyclin D1 expression and p53 positivity (p=0.027 Kruskal-Wallis test). By contrast, no statistically significant association was found between Cyclin D1 and pRB expression (p=0.30 Spearman Correlation Coefficient) nor with mitotic count (p=0.31 Spearman Correlation Coefficient). Regarding Cyclin D1 score, 5 (7%), 18 (25.4%), 20 (28.2%), 11 (15.5%), 12 (17%) and 5 (7%) showed expression scores of 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, respectively (Table 10).

Although not statistically significant, Cyclin D1 score is higher in p53 non-basal positve cases (p=0.06 Kruskal-Wallis test). Similarly, not statistically significant correlation between Cyclin D1 score and histological grading (p=0.82, Kruskal-Wallis test) was

found. By contrast, high Cyclin D1 score was highly correlated with ocular location (*p*= 0.01 *Kruskal-Wallis test*) (Figure 15).



Figure 14. A, B. Strong nuclear Cyclin D1 immunolabelling of neoplastic cells, 10x.

Table 10. Results of C	vclin D1 score in sc	quamous cell carcinomas	s and carcinomas in situ

Cyclin D1 score	Positve cases	Percentage (%)
0	5	7
1	18	25.4
2	20	28.2
3	11	15.5
4	12	17
5	5	7

Figure 15. Distribution of Cyclin D1 scores and tumor location. High Cyclin D1 scores in ocular tumors.



Cyclin D1-pRB combined score

When scores for pRB and cyclin D1 were combined, using 4 as cut-off, 59/71 (83%) samples showed high combined score and only 12/71 (17%) a low combined score.

Positve correlation between pRB-Cyclin D1 combined score and anatomical site (p=0.035 *Chi Square test*) was found (Figure 16). Similarly, a highly significant correlation between high pRB-Cyclin D1 combined score and p53 immunolabelling (p=0.002 *Chi Square test*) was found.

No statistically significant association was found between combined score and other variables: mitotic count (p=0.87 *Spearman Correlation Coefficient*), EcPV-2 positivity (p=0.50 *Chi Square test*), histological grading (p=0.28 *Chi Square test*) and CDKN2A expression (p=0.30 *Chi Square test*).

Figure 16. Distribution of pRB-Cyclin D1 combined score and tumor location. High pRB-Cyclin D1 combined scores in ocular tumors.



5.3.5 Papillomas

Of the seventy-nine cases selected initially, 8 were histologically classified as papillomas (Figure 17).

Papillomas were exclusively genital, either penile (6/8, 75%) or vulvar (2/8, 25%). Papillomas had a median mitotic count of 45.38. Moreover, a significant percentage (87.5%) of equine papillomas contained EcPV-2viral DNA.

P53 immunolabelling was observed in 5/8 (62.5%) cases with a basal positivity in all the cases. Expression of CDKN2A was recorded in 5/8 (62.5%) cases, displaying either nuclear (2/5, 40%) or keratinized pattern (3/5, 60%). No CDKN2A cytoplasmic immunolabelling was detected in equine papillomas.

Strong nuclear Cyclin D1 and pRB immunolabelling was observed in all the cases. Regarding the pRB-Cyclin D1 pathway, high combined score was observed in almost all (7/8, 87.5%) the cases, with only one papillomas displaying low combined score. Table 11 summarizes all the immunohistochemical and chromogenic *in situ* hybridization results. Figure 17. A, B. Histological appearance of papillomas, 4x.



Table 11. Immunohistochemical and chromogenic in situ hybridization results in equine papillomas.

Case ID	p53	P53	CDKN2A	Cyclin D1	pRB	pRB-Cyclin D1	EcPV-2
		pattern		score	score	score	
16L-0103	yes	В	yes	2	5	7	1
16L-1177	yes	В	yes	1	5	6	1
16L-2235	yes	В	yes	2	4	6	1
352 A	no		no	2	4	6	1
4581 A	no		yes	1	3	4	1
4756 A	no		no	2	4	6	1
12833 A	yes	В	yes	4	4	8	0
17345 A	yes	В	no	2	3	5	1

5.4 Discussion

Histological features of squamous cell carcinomas

Histological grading was previously applied to equine squamous cell carcinomas. Based on previous works, histological grade is not predictive of outcome and is not associated with EcPV-2 status.¹³ Our results confirm that SCC histomorphological features are not correlated with the presence of the virus, nor with other molecular variables discussed later.

When comparing papillomas and SCC mitotic counts, we found that papillomas had a higher mitotic count compared to SCCs (median mitotic count of 45.38 and 35.2 respectively). Although malignant neoplasms are expected to have higher mitotic counts compared to their benign counterpart, in our study, results showed the opposite. The reason of this unexpected feature is not clear but may be related to the amount of mitosis in the basal cell layer, typically active in normal as well as in benign epithelia.

Genital papillomas and carcinomas are associated with EcPV-2 infection

Several studies have documented the presence of EcPV-2 in equine genital squamous cell carcinomas.^{33,163,183} Consistent with previous works, the tropism of EcPV-2 for genital areas was confirmed in 50% of genital SCCs and 87.5% of genital papillomas. The role of EcPV-2 in the development of SCCs was first discovered by Scase *et al* (2010) who found viral DNA in 74% of genital SCCs examined.²⁷⁸ Subsequently, EcPV-2 was also found in papillomas in addition to SCCs, confirming the involvement of EcPV-2 in both benign and malignant epithelial genital lesions.³¹² Since then, a number of other studies confirmed the presence of EcPV-2 in penile, vulvar, oral and gastric SCCs with percentages that range from 28.6% to 100%.^{6,33,164,240,323}

In our study, the percentage of EcPV-2-positive genital malignant tumors (11/22, 50%) was similar to those reported in the literature. In addition, 87.5% of papillomas, which were all genital, either penile or vulvar, were associated with EcPV-2 infection. It is

possible that viral-induced papillomas progress into SCCs, but the proportion of tumors that undergo this progression is not known.

Although EcPV-2 was foud in a significant proportion of the ases examined, its detection does not necessarily prove that the virus influenced or caused tumor development. Detection of EcPV-2 in skin and mucosae from healthy horses in other studies may indicate that EcPV-2 can be an asymptomatic infection, as in humans, making it difficult to determine whether a neoplasm was truly caused by the virus. For this reason, we investigated the expression of cell cycle proteins, typically involved in HPV-related tumors in humans, which would be expected to differ in viral induced versus non-viral induced neoplasms.

However, it must be underlined that the accuracy of our method in detecting viral DNA has not been fully validated yet. For this reason, PCR for EcPV-2 is currently underway, so that CISH and PCR result concordance can be assessed.

A small percentage of ocular SCCs harbour EcPV-2 DNA

Currently, the pathogenesis of ocular SCCs is not fully understood, but it is thought that prolonged UV light exposure may play a primary role.¹⁰³ In humans, UV light exposure is often associated with other solar-induced lesions such as elastosis, actinic keratosis and epidermal plaques. In horses, these changes have been reported in association with SCCs of the conjunctiva and eyelid and are similar to those described in humans.⁵⁴ Most solar-induced equine SCCs develop in non-pigmented or lightly pigmented areas, which are more exposed to the sunlight. In a 2019 study, one case of solar elastosis associated with SCC of the eyelid was reported, highlighting the importance of considering UV light in the pathogenesis.³⁰¹ Mutations of the p53 gene are often related to UV light radiations and promote the development SCCs. Analysis of p53 expression in equine conjunctival SCCs, revealed higher p53 expression in moderately differentiated tumors versus well-differentiated. In the same work, a specific antibody for mutant p53 was used, suggesting the importance of considering UV-induced p53 gene mutation in the pathogenesis of ocular SCCs.²⁹⁶Previous studies have also

investigated the possible role of EcPV-2 in the pathogenesis of ocular SCCs. A number of studies have demonstrated the presence of EcPV-2 DNA in swabs from healthy ocular mucosa. The presence of viral DNA was also investigated in ocular SCC with highly contrasting results: while ocular SCCs were consistently negative in several studies (0/42 cases²⁴⁰, 0/18 cases¹³⁰) one report from 2011 demonstrated its presence by PCR in 9/9 (100%) cases examined.³²⁹ According to our results where 6/40 (15%) ocular SCCs harboured viral DNA, we suggest that EcPV-2 may play a role in the development of a subset of ocular SCCs. It must be taken into account that the presence of intratumoral viral nucleic acid does not necessarily demonstrate its role in the development of the tumor. It is possible that the interaction of EcPV-2 and UV light radiation, contributes to the development of ocular SCCs. Recent studies of human cutaneous SCCs, demonstrate that beta HPV allow the accumulation of UV-induced DNA mutation.^{269,299} The same mechanism may represent a possible model for the pathogenesis of equine ocular SCCs.

Ocular SCCs are associated with p53 dysregulation

Increased p53 expression has been widely demonstrated in equine SCCs.^{252,296} In the present study, high nuclear p53 expression was observed in 25/39 (64.1%) ocular cases. These results are consistent with previous reports of p53 expression in equine ocular SCCs. In a study by Sironi *et al*, all the analysed equine ocular SCCs positively labelled for mutant p53 protein, while in normal tissue p53 expression was not detected.²⁹⁶ In another study, mutant form of p53 was described in 6/6 (100%) equine and 26/41 (63.4%) bovine ocular SCCs. In the same work, p53 overexpression of both equine and bovine samples was higher in ocular areas compared with other tumor location (genital and cutaneous).³¹⁸ These findings are similar with those of this study, in which high p53 expression was detected in the majority of ocular SCCs.

It is known that high p53 expression levels may be due to mutations of the TP53 gene. Mutant p53 has greater half-life span and accumulates in the nucleus of neoplastic cells, thus it can be detected immunohistochemically.⁹ Although p53 mutation has not been investigated in the present study, the high p53 expression levels could be caused by UV exposure as in humans.^{42,358}

In humans, two distinct pattern of p53 distribution, basal versus suprabasal, reflect the different response of the skin layers to UV damage.⁸¹ In particular, when the skin is exposed to UVA, p53 expression is predominantly basal. This indicates the ability of UVA to penetrate in the basal layer of the epidermis and preserve the superficial keratinocytes layer. Basal cells are in fact less sensible to UVA-induced DNA damage and can efficiently stabilize p53. By contrast, when the skin is exposed to UVB, p53 expression is commonly diffuse. This specific pattern of p53 distribution is mainly attributed to loss of p53 tumor suppression function and subsequent TP53 gene mutation.³ In our study the suprabasal positivity was significantly higher in ocular SCC, compared to the other anatomic sites; this may suggest a possible role of UV light in the pathogenesis of ocular SCCs.

Recent studies on equine SCCs and papillomas also demonstrated that p53 expression differs significantly in benign and malignant penile lesions, being confined to the basal layer in papillomas and extending to the basal layer in CIS and SCCs.²⁶⁵ Our study further supports these findings, indicating that p53 can be used to more accurately distinguish between benign and malignant lesions.

Further studies will be aimed at investigating p53 mutations and correlating their presence with p53 immunohistochemical expression.

In addition to p53, the presence of EcPV-2 was also investigated in ocular SCCs. As reported above, a subset of ocular SCCs was positive for EcPV-2. Its presence did not show any correlation with p53 expression nor with its location, suggesting that p53 expression is not influenced by the presence of viral DNA, therefore that the virus probably does not interfere with p53 regulation.

Cell cycle proteins CDKN2A, pRB, and Cyclin D1 expression are not dysregulated in papillomavirus infection as it is in humans

53

In humans it is generally agreed that high-risk HPVs are the causative agents of precancerous and cancerous cervical lesions.²⁴⁸ The malignant transformation of cervical epithelial cells is caused by HPV oncogenic proteins E6 and E7, with the latter targeting the pRB pathway.¹⁵⁹ When HPV E7 binds with pRB, the protein is dysregulated and CDKN2A (p16) is typically overexpressed. Simultaneously, HPV E6 degrades p53 via ubiquitin ligase E6AP.³⁵⁴ In addition to CDKN2A overexpression, human HPV positive cases are strongly correlated with low pRB-Cyclin D1 combined scores. Therefore, high expression of pRB and Cyclin D1 as well as high pRB-Cyclin D1 combined scores, can be considered strong indicators of HPV negativity.¹⁰¹ Similarly, Rb loss and high CDKN2A cytoplasmic expression were found in papillomavirus-associated feline plaques, Bowenoid in situ carcinomas and SCCs.²³² In contrast to human high-risk HPV, sequencing of EcPV-2 genome has allowed the identification of E6 as the most important oncogene. In fact, although EcPV-2 genome contains both E6 and E7 oncogenes, the latter lacks the pRB binding motif.²⁷⁸ For this reason, there is no E2F activation and subsequent CDKN2A overexpression is not expected

As expected, in this study there was no correlation between CDKN2A expression (either nuclear or cytoplasmic) and EcPV-2 presence. Moreover, CDKN2A expression, regardless of its location, had no association with anatomic site, histological grading and p53 overexpression. However, the association between mitotic count and CDKN2A immunolabelling was highly significant: CDKN2A positive cases showed higher mitotic count compared to CDKN2A negative cases. CDKN2A is an important cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor that functions as tumor suppressor that is also used as an indicator of malignancyr.²⁹⁰ Based on this association we speculate that CDKN2A could be a possible marker of malignancy in equine SCCs, but further studies are needed to assess its potential prognostic role.

To verify any dysregulation of the pRB pathway in equine SCCs, pRB and Cyclin D1 were also tested. pRB was found to be upregulated in all tumors, confirming that EcPV-2 does not affect pRB activity; as CDKN2a is regulated by a pRB dependent mechanism, normal pRB expression further explains the absence of CDKN2A cytoplasmic

54

accumulation in these tumors. In summary, pRB and Cyclin D1 overexpression and lack of p16 accumulation indicate that EcPV-2 does not interfere with the pRB pathway as it does in humans and in cats.

In this study, high Cyclin D1 scores were significantly correlated with ocular location. This was also demonstrated in a previous study by Arthurs *et al* in which upregulation of Cyclin D1 was associated with EcPV-2 negativity, suggesting an upregulation of the Wnt pathway in EcPV-2 negative SCCs.¹³

pRB immunohistochemical results must also be interpreted considering the antibody used to perform these experiments. In fact, the antibody used in our study, detects both the hypo- and the hyperphosphorylated forms of the pRB protein, hence pRB expression is not related to its activation status.

5.5 Conclusions

To conclude, our results showed that the majority of genital SCCs were positive for EcPV-2, confirming the association between genital lesions and viral positivity. Moreover, a subset of ocular cases positively labelled for EcPV-2 by CISH, suggesting a possible role of EcPV-2 in the pathogenesis of equine ocular SCCs. In ocular SCC, p53 high positivity and suprabasal distribution suggest a possible role of UV light rather than EcPV-2 infection in its pathogenesis.

Cell cycle proteins CDKN2A pRB and Cyclin D1, typically dysregulated in HPV-induced SCC in humans, were tested for the first time in equine SCC and do not seem to predict EcPV2 status. This confirms the results of previous studies which demonstrated the absence of the pRB binding motif in EcPV-2 E7. However, the strong association between CDKN2A and mitotic count suggest that high CDKN2A expression may have a potential as a marker of tumor malignancy.

Future studies will aim at evaluating the involvement of other cell cycle proteins in EcPV-2 infection as well as the investigation of TP53 mutation status.

Chapter 6 Papillomavirus and equine sarcoids

6.1 Introduction

Sarcoids are the most common cutaneous spindle cell tumor affecting horses, mules, and donkeys, with an overall incidence of 90% of all cutaneous neoplasms.^{64,170,207} Multiple lesions can occur in the same animal, mostly affecting limbs, groin/sheaths, face, and previously injured areas of the whole body.¹⁷⁰ Sarcoids are worldwide neoplasms with prevalence rates ranging from 0.5 to 2%.^{128,216} This high variability is dependent on the geographical area: for example, in USA the Pacific north-west areas have a higher prevalence of sarcoids compared with north-eastern regions.^{264,328} Interestingly, in a 1993 study, sarcoids were the most commonly diagnosed cutaneous tumor in Switzerland, accounting 90% of all cutaneous neoplasms.²¹⁶ Most reports suggest that geldings are at increased risk compared to mares and stallions.^{174,347} However, retrospective studies demonstrate the lack of a sex predisposition for the occurrence of sarcoids. The suggested gender effect in previous works may be explained by the reference population and geographical areas.^{343,347} In addition, breed predisposition has been reported, especially in horses carrying equine leukocytes antigen (ELA) haplotypes W3 and B1.²²² An epidemiological study on the association between sarcoids susceptibility and breed effects, showed that Quarter horses were at increased risk of developing sarcoids compared to Thoroughbred. In the same study, the frequency of sarcoids development in Standardbred was less than half that of Thorughbred.¹¹ Moroever, horses of all ages can be affected, but a higher incidence is reported in animals between 3 and 6 years old.^{303,308}

Equine sarcoids are classified as non-metastatic and locally aggressive tumors, with a high tendency of recurrence after surgical treatment.^{22,170}Currently, there are different modalities of treatment, which have been used separately or in combination, with variable efficacy. These methods include: cryotherapy, radiotherapy, chemotherapy and laser excision with local immune modulation.^{51,214,302} Recently, surgical excision with wide surgical margins has been identified as one of the major factors that

57

influences the outcome: excision of small well defined sarcoids with margins of 16 mm from the tumor result in better prognosis and clinical outcome.²¹² By contrast, the prognosis is significantly worse if one or more unsuccessful surgical treatment have been made previously.¹⁶⁶ Nevertheless, treatment efficacy is difficult to assess because there are no studies with relevant follow up analysis.

6.2 Association between sarcoids and Bovine Papillomavirus

Sarcoids are considered viral-induced tumors and their association with BPV-1, -2 and more rarely -13 is widely accepted.^{198,247} The first evidence of a viral etiology was suggested in a 1951 study, in which horses inoculated with bovine wart material developed a sarcoma-like lesion with some features that resembled sarcoid.²⁴⁵ Subsequently, many in situ hybridization studies demonstrated the presence of BPV-1 DNA in in equine sarcoids.^{8,10,180,197} Furthermore, the presence of BPV-1 and -2 DNA in sarcoids samples was assessed by PCR in 62 Australian horses: of 76 examined sarcoids, 56/76 (73%) samples contained viral DNA.²⁵ Martens et al also detected BPV-1 and -2 DNA in 100% of sarcoid samples and 95% of adjacent normal skin at 4mm from the tumor borders.²¹² A recent in situ hybridization study by Gaynor *et al* demonstrated the presence of BPV DNA in all the examined sarcoids and, to a lesser degree, in the adnexa and in the epidermis.¹²² Although the presence of viral particles were detected in skin, In 2008, the presence of BPV in normal skin and peripheral blood of 4 groups of horses was evaluated. Viral DNA was detected in the skin of 24/42 (57%) healthy horses, in 73% of sarcoid affected horses and horses living in contact with cattle, and in 50% of horses living in contact with sarcoid-affected horses. However, only 58% of blood samples contained viral mRNA.²⁸ Although the percentage of viral mRNA was very low in the previous work, a same year report demonstrated that peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of sarcoid affected horses can represent a reservoir of viral DNA.⁴⁰Besides sarcoids, evidence of BPV DNA has been reported in 59% of peripheral nerve sheath tumors (PNST), 37% of fibrosarcomas and 22% of other sarcomas (myxosarcomas and fibromas), although the criteria used to classify these tumors were not specified by the authors.¹⁰⁷ Additionally, in a 2007 report, E1, E2 and E5 viral genes were also detected in cutaneous inflammatory conditions as eosinophilic granulomas, ulcerative dermatitis and others.³⁵³ On the other hand, viral presence has not been described in cutaneous squamous cell carcinomas, papillomas and melanomas.^{65,247}

6.3 Bovine Papillomavirus transmission and predisposing factors

Currently there is no clear evidence of a route of transmission, but direct contact with cattle, contaminated fomites, flies, and skin trauma are considered the most common routes. In the environment, BPV viral particles are extremely resistant, and could remain infectious for days even after dehydration.²⁶⁸ However, the hypothesis of environmental contamination as a source of infection was excluded in a 2005 study in which samples from the surrounding habitat of hoses with and without sarcoids were not contaminated with BPV DNA.³⁰

BPV DNA may also be transmitted by flies, which act as a vector moving between wound sites on different horses.^{114,134} BPV-1 long control region (LCR) variant II was detected in biting and non-biting flies trapped in proximity of sarcoid bearing horses in the UK.¹¹⁴ These findings were supported by a more recent work, in which BPV-negative stable flies (*Stomoxysis calcitrans*) harboured viral DNA after exposure to equine sarcoid and papilloma tissues. Although this route of transmission seems to be possible, it is thought that it can occur only for a short time after exposure.¹³⁴ In a 2000 study of periorbital sarcoids during the flies season, 69% of the lesions involved medial canthus, 26% the periocular skin and only 5% the lateral cantus.¹⁶⁷ The highest prevalence of sarcoids development at eyelid margins where flies assembles, support their role in the disease transmission.

However, it is also speculated that sarcoids develop from micro-trauma or wound sites. Limbs are particularly susceptible (distal to the stifle or elbow joints) due to the greater difficulty to heal.¹⁶⁸ Transformation of a wound into a sarcoid can occur by different ways: the first is failure of a sarcoid removal, in which persistence of neoplastic fibroblasts is responsible for recurrence.¹⁷¹ The second way is from normal skin of a horse bearing a sarcoid in other sites. It has been demonstrated that autograft transmission of neoplastic cells into the wound site may result in sarcoid transformation.¹⁷¹ Moreover, horses without sarcoids but living in contact with affected equids can develop neoplastic lesions. In this case, viral particles are transferred to the unaffected horse via vectors or via reactivation of a latent BPV infection. Additionally, indirect transmission with BPV contaminated instruments as tack or needles can contribute to sarcoid development.⁶² Lastly, even unaffected skin near an injured sarcoid can be susceptible to neoplastic transformation.¹⁷¹

Non-healing wounds are therefore responsible for sarcoids development, especially for fibroblastic and verrucous types.^{41,189,309}

Genetic effects have an important role in sarcoids development. Although all breeds can be affected, Arabians, Quarter horses and Thoroughbreds seem to be more susceptible to sarcoids development.^{22,64} In Arabian horses carrying a mutant DNA-PKcs allele there is a strong correlation between heterozygosis and sarcoids development.⁹² Furthermore, horses with A3/B1 combination have an increased risk of sarcoid recurrence.^{44,45} In a study of Swedish Halfbred horses, approximately 40% the A3 B1 haplotype was associated with sarcoids.⁴⁵ Additionally, major histocompatibility complex (MCH) class I A5 antigens have been associated with early onset of development.⁴⁴ Research has shown that equine leukocyte antigens (ELA) are also involved in human PV-induced cervical cancer, promoting the transition from low grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (LSIL) to high grade SIL (HSIL) and SCCs.^{20,201} It is thought that PVs induce MHC class II downregulation with inadequate cytotoxicity of T killer lymphocytes.^{64,188} Similarly, Thoroughbreds as well as Swiss, Irish and French horses carrying ELA haplotypes W3 and B1 associated with MHC class II, have a high incidence of sarcoids development.²²² If all these breeds are more vulnerable, Standardbred and Lipizzaners lack the ELA W13 allele and are therefore of lower risks.²²

6.4 Oncogenic mechanisms

Numerous studies have suggested BPV-1 and -2 as the causative agents of equine sarcoids.^{226,247,313} In cattle, infection with BPV-1 and -2 can cause cutaneous papillomas (warts), characterized by a predominant fibroblasts proliferation accompanied by epidermal changes.⁵⁶ Moreover, in fibropapillomas BPV-1 and -2 infect fibroblasts and keratinocytes, resulting a benign neoplasm that can even regress.¹⁶¹

In horses, the pathophysiology of BPV oncogenesis is based on cell culture experiments. In equine cell lines BPV-1 viral genes are capable to induce neoplastic transformation of fibroblasts.^{61,350} The increased life span and cell proliferation of transformed fibroblasts is mediated by E5 and E6 oncoprotein, with E7 enhancing their actions.¹⁴⁵

Once the infection is established, BPV E5 localizes in the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus of the host cells and binds with platelet-derived growth factor-β receptor (PDGFβ-R).²⁵⁵ The binding induce PDGFβ-R activation and recruitment of intracellular proliferative signals.³⁷ These findings were first described in a 2009 study, in which activation of PDGFβ -R was shown to trigger MAPK and P13K-AKT molecular pathways.^{7,36} The MAPK and P13K-AKT pathways lie downstream the activation of PDGFβ -R and are necessary for cellular immortalization, apoptosis evasion, and cell-cycle progression.⁵⁸ Contrary to human medicine, in which D-type Cyclins are generally downregulated in the majority of cancers, in equine BPV-1 infections D-type Cyclins are upregulated in response to P13K-AKT activation.^{36,293} However, it appears that in BPV-1 fibroblasts cell lines, activation of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway is triggered by E6 rather than E5.³⁵¹

The E6 protein is a zinc-binding proteins localized in membrane and nuclear fractions. As seen with high-risk HPV cervical lesions, it seems that in equines, BPV infections E6 induces p53 inactivation.^{178,281,322} These findings are supported by detection of an abnormal p53 nuclear and cytoplasmic expression in equine sarcoids.^{56,242} The hypothesis of abnormal p53 function was clarified by Nixon *et al*, which detected

cytoplasmic p53 expression in a subset of sarcoid cell lines. Therefore, it was shown that nuclear and cytoplasmic p53 colocalization were associated with its loss of function.²⁴² The obtained data provide further evidence of p53 compromission in equine sarcoids.

The BPV E7 protein cooperates with E5 and E6. When they are co-expressed, E7 is responsible for enhancing neoplastic transformation.³⁴ However, it is necessary to consider that BPV-1 E7 lack the retinoblastoma (RB) LXCXE binding motif. Therefore, in contrast to HPV E7, BPV-1 E7 is not able to binds with the pRB protein.²³⁴ Nevertheless, recent works demonstrate the ability of E7 to complex with p600, allowing anchorage-independent cell growth.³⁴

It should be noted, however, that in BPV infections, BPV-1 E2 also contribute to tumor development. E2 protein is a viral transcription regulator responsible for stable extrachromosomal maintenance of viral genome.^{218,256} Moreover, it seems that E2 is involved in matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) expression. The MMPs are zinc-dependent endopeptidases that break down matrix proteins and therefore play an important role in local invasion. The extracellular matrix remodelling in equine sarcoids was demonstrated by Martano *et al*, which reported an increased expression of MMP-2 and -9.²¹⁰

6.5 Anatomical sites predilection

Sarcoids can occur anywhere in the body, however predilection sites are often associated with the clinical type. Interestingly, besides girth, limbs, head and neck and ventral body, sites with thinner skin covered by sparse coat including axillae, groin, penile sheath and scrotum have higher odds of sarcoids development.^{181,317} Head lesions could develop anywhere, but periocular areas and ear pinnae are the most affected. However, mouth, coronary band skin, mammary gland and anal skin cannot be excluded from sarcoid development.¹⁷² As mentioned before, previously injured areas seem to facilitate the development of the neoplasm.^{31,210,316} Sarcoids can be single or multiple, ranging from small wart-like lesions to large ulcerated exophytic masses.²⁸⁸ Interestingly, it has been reported that horses in United Kingdom (UK) are more prone to develop multiple sarcoids than those in Australia, North America and Europe.¹⁶⁵

6.6 Clinical presentation of equine sarcoids

Sarcoid size and gross appearance can be very different and clinically 6 variants can be recognized: occult, verrucous, nodular, fibroblastic, mixed, and malignant (malevolent).¹⁷⁰ Figure 1 shows the main clinical types.

6.6.1. Occult

Occult sarcoids are slow-growing and appear as alopecic or discoloured areas with a roughened, circular, often hyperkeratotic surface. In periocular regions it appears as more extensive, often with a scaly surface.²⁴¹ Occult sarcoids may evolve in verrucous or fibroblastic types but usually they do not progress. Although described as slow-growing and non-metastatic, if the surrounding area is not surgically excised, there will be a rapid recurrence.¹⁶⁵ Neck, face, sheath, medial thigh, shoulders are the most affected sites.^{31,165}

6.6.2. Verrucous

Verrucous-type-sarcoids have a characteristic wart-like appearance, generally <6 cm in diameter. Moreover, they can also appear as hyperkeratotic cauliflowerlike lesions, broad-based or pedunculated. They are slow growing neoplasm, mostly affecting axillae, groin, periorbital areas and sheaths.¹⁷⁰

6.6.3. Nodular

Nodular types appear as spherical, well-demarcated subcutaneous nodules that frequently coalesce. Two subtypes can be identified: movable masses with overlying intact skin (type A) or unmovable masses with variably sized areas of ulceration (type B). Type A is further classified as A1 (nodules with well-defined capsule and freerly mobile) and A2 (unmovable deepest nodules without skin involvement). Similarly, type B is subdivided in B1 and B2; B1 sarcoids are firmly attached to the overlying skin but can be moved to the deeper tissues.¹⁷² Predilection sites are the groin, sheath, and eyelids.¹⁷⁰

6.6.4 Fibroblastic

Appearance of fibroblastic sarcoids is extremely variable and often characterized by presence of an ulcerated or fleshy surface. Sometimes they can be also misdiagnosed with exuberant granulation tissue.¹⁷⁰ it is considered as the most aggressive type, composed of a large fibrous mass often associated with local infection or hemorrhage.¹⁷² Fibroblastic sarcoids are divided in two types: type 1 and type 2. Type 1 is pedunculated and further subdivided in type 1a and 2a. Type 1a is pedunculated with no extension beyond the pedicle while type 1b has a dumbbell shape and extends beyond the pedicle. Type 2 fibroblastic sarcoids are sessile, invasive with a broad base.¹⁷⁰ Fibroblastic sarcoids are locally invasive and type 1b are generally complication of skin wound in the limbs.¹⁶⁵

6.6.5 Mixed

Mixed type is a combination of any or all the aforementioned types. It is likely that mixed type represent a transition between verrucous and occult types and/or the fibroblastic and nodular types.¹⁶⁹

6.6.6 Malevolent

Lastly, the malignant variant is the more aggressive form, characterized by multiple severe lesions, infiltrating lymphatics with palpable tumor cords.¹⁷⁰ Elbow, pre-femoral flank fold and cheek areas are the most frequently affected sites.^{165,170}

Figure 1. A. Two mixed (occult-verrucous-nodular) sarcoids (Knottenbelt *et al*, 2005). **B.** Verrucous sarcoid (Knottenbelt *et al*, 2005). **C.** Occult sarcoid (Knottenbelt *et al*, 2005). **D.** Type A nodular sarcoid (Knottenbelt *et al*, 2005). **E.** Fibroblastic sarcoid developed from type A and type B nodule. **F.** Malevolent sarcoid in the muzzle (Knottenbelt *et al*, 2005).



6.7 Biological behaviour

Sarcoids are locally invasive cutaneous tumors that do not extend to internal organs. They remain static or grow slowly for years, depending on the clinical type. Horses bearing a single sarcoid usually have long-term stasis and are less susceptible to further development. By contrast, in multiple tumor bearing horses, sarcoids have a locally aggressive behaviour.¹⁷² Spontaneous regression is a rare occurrence but cannot be excluded. A number of studies have suggested immune system upregulation as possible source of regression.^{162,272,330} For example, injections of bacillus Calmette Guérin (BCG) showed complete regression in 36/61 (59%) and partial regression in 11/61 (18%).³³⁰ More recently, vaccinated donkeys with chimeric virus-like particle composed of BPV-1 L1 and E7 proteins has shown enhanced sarcoid regression and reduced progression.¹⁴

6.8 Histological features

Histological features of sarcoids are well known and the most suggestive finding is the presence of interlacing streams and bundles of neoplastic fibroblasts supported by variably amount of collagen. Cells can vary from spindle/stellate to atypical fibroblasts with plumped nuclei and prominent nucleoli. Addition patterns can be seen as whirling, storiform, herringbone and haphazardly arranged fibroblasts, the latter most often occurring in occult sarcoids.¹¹⁹ Mitotic index is typically low. As not always present, the perpendicular orientation of fibroblasts toward the dermo-epidermal junction called "picket-fence" is considered pathognomonic. Although being characteristic, the picket-fence feature is missing in up to 52% of sarcoids.¹¹⁹ It is reported that, up to 46% of sarcoids lack epidermal hyperplasia and about 54% lack rete peg formation.¹¹⁹ The epidermis can be variably hyperplastic and hyperkeratotic with long prominent branching (rete-peg formation), especially in the verrucous type. Moreover, notable epithelial changes including long exophytic digit-like projections with prominent orthokerathotic hyperkeratosis are typical features of verrucous type³¹ whereas in
most nodular and occult types the epidermis can be normal to thinner.²⁸⁸ It has been taken in account that occult sarcoids may be overlooked, especially at early stages: the mere histological characteristic is the presence of an increased fibroblasts density obscuring follicles and glands.¹¹⁹ Moreover, in BPV DNA-positive occult sarcoids, epidermal changes may include swollen, pale keratinocytes with perinuclear halo and thickening of the basement membrane.³² Conversely, nodular sarcoids are commonly ulcered.³¹ In ulcered sarcoids, secondary infections with bacteria, fungi and parasites, including Habronema spp. are common. However, not all the aforementioned histological features can be present at the same time, making the diagnosis often challenging.

6.9 Differential diagnoses and immunohistochemical markers

There are several differential diagnoses when considering sarcoid-like neoplasms. Especially in biopsies, sarcoids can be misdiagnosed with other spindle-cell tumors such as fibromas, fibrosarcomas and nerve sheath tumors of Schwann cell origin.^{27,107} Simultaneous presence of more densely areas of neoplastic cells (Antoni A) and loosely arranged neoplastic cells embedded in myxomatous matrix (Antoni B) or Verocay bodies are suggestive of Schwannomas and allow the differentiation with sarcoids.²⁸⁴ Furthermore, fibrosarcomas are more cellular then sarcoids, with an high mitotic count and no association with the epidermis Moreover, fibromas are expansile, well-demarcated neoplasms composed of abundant collagenous stroma and mature fibroblasts.²⁸⁸ Although most of these histological findings allow the distinction between sarcoids and other mesenchymal tumors, in some cases and especially in biopsies, IHC and PCR are required.³⁴⁶ Currently there are no specific diagnostic markers but the combined S100 negativity and BPV DNA detection by PCR are considered the main diagnostic features.²⁷

S100 is a calcium binding protein found in numerous cells of neuroectodermal origin. In veterinary oncology it is mostly used to differentiate Schwannomas, neurofibromas and fibrosarcomas.²²³ Although specific immunohistochemical markers for peripheral nerve sheath tumors and Schwannomas do not exist, previous works showed that most of these neoplasms positively labelled with S100.²⁸⁴ In a 2011 study of 10 equine sarcoids histologically resembling peripheral nerve sheath tumors, all neoplastic cells positively labelled for vimentin but not for S100. Additionally, neoplastic cells positively labelled for laminin and collage IV, suggesting the presence of a basal lamina.²⁷ As previously mentioned, sarcoids and other mesenchymal tumors can share similar histological features. For this reason in 2011 Bogaert *et al*, defined the specific molecular features and markers for the diagnosis of sarcoids as the simultaneous S100 negativity and BPV DNA positivity.²⁷

The role of p53 in equine sarcoids is still controversial. Whether in human HPV induced tumors E6 causes p53 degradation, in BPV infections E6 can transform cells in a p53 independent manner.³⁵⁹ Some studies on p53 status, showed an abnormal cytoplasmic and perinuclear protein expression, speculating that the protein is not degraded within the cell.^{215,242} Similar results were obtained by Bogaert *et al* in which perinuclear p53 expression was similar among different types of sarcoids, demonstrating that p53 expression is not associated with tumor behaviour.²⁹ Nevertheless, further works are necessary to understand the impact on p53 in equine sarcoids.

Ki67 is a marker of proliferation expressed in all cycling cells, with a peak in the M phase.²²³ In equine sarcoids the proliferative fraction of neoplastic fibroblasts is typically low, reflecting the clinical observations that describe these tumors as slow-growing and non-metastatic.^{29,215,242} However, the epidermis of verrucous and fibroblastic subtypes showed a higher proliferative fractions compared to the other subtypes.³¹ Interestingly, the superficial dermis of fibroblastic and verrucous sarcoids have high Ki-67 index compared with the nodular and the occult types.²⁷ This finding agrees with in situ hybridization studies, in which most BPV infected cells are located in the dermo-epidermal junction.^{197,317}

Platelet-derived growth factor β receptor (PDGFR- β) is a tyrosine kinase receptor involved in BPV-1 positive urinary bladder tumors and sarcoids.^{36,76} In sarcoids its physiologic function is impaired by BPV-1 E5 protein, which binds to PDGFR- β and induce its phosphorylation.²⁵⁵ PDGFR- β is subsequently activated and promote cell survival and growth. *In vitro* studies on equine sarcoid fibroblast cell lines demonstrate the transformative activity of BPV-1 E5 and its role in regulating cell proliferation by downstream activation of Ras-MAPK-ERK signalling.⁷ Interestingly BPV-1 E5 and E6 can also trigger p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, which is crucial for cellular invasion.³⁵¹

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a member of PDGF family involved in angiogenesis and vascular permeability.¹⁷⁷ The role of VEGF in sarcoids development is still not fully investigated. In a 2018 study, immunohistochemistry for VEGF revealed strong and finely granular cytoplasmic labelling in the majority of keratinocytes, neoplastic fibroblasts, and endothelial cells, suggesting a possible role of VEGF in sarcoids development. In the same study the authors conclude that VEGF overexpression maybe due to hypoxia, which further stimulates tumor growth via neoangiogenesis activation.²¹¹

Experimental part

Chapter 7 Expression of cell cycle proteins (CDKN2A, pRB and Cyclin D1), fibroblast associated protein (FAPα) and viral distribution in equine sarcoids

It is well known that in human papillomavirus (HPV) induced tumors, abrogation of cell cycle checkpoints is achieved by high-risk PVs rather than low risk. In HPV infections, E6 and E7 genes are responsible for cell cycle alteration by inactivating the two most important suppressor proteins: p53 and pRB.^{151,338} The interaction of E7 with RB results in release of the transcription factor E2F from the RB-E2F complex. Moreover, as RB-E2F normally inhibits transcription of the p16 gene, expression of HPV E7 results in excessive p16 transcription and translation.²⁴⁸ In a similar manner, the E6- p53 and - associated protein ligase (E6AP) binding trigger ubiquitination and subsequent degradation of p53.²⁷³

In addition to p53 and pRb, cyclin D1 and cyclin inhibitors such as p16 are key proteins in the study of the molecular alterations that characterize human cervical carcinoma.⁷³ As a consequence, p16 overexpression, in presence of high-risk HPV, is therefore used as a prognostic marker to predict HPV status.⁶⁶

As well as pr3, pRB and p16, Ki-67 represent an efficient marker of proliferation, which is commonly used as prognostic marker of cervical cancer. Moreover, its increased expression is also an indication of increased cervical dysplasia.^{277,295}

In literature, the study of cell cycle markers in equine sarcoids is limited to p53, Ki-67, Cyclin A, CDK2 and p27.^{29,215,242} The contrasting role of p53 expression has been shown in several studies: Martens *et al* reported an aberrant p53 expression in 44% of cases²¹⁵, while in Johnston's work p53 immunolabelling was detected in 20% of cases.¹⁵² On the other hand, Bogaert *et al*, demonstrated perinuclear p53 expression in 36.1% of the examined sarcoids, but its expression was not associated with any of the clinical types of the study.²⁹

The proliferative rate of sarcoids, assessed by Ki-67 index, is reported to be low in all the studies, ranging from a minimum of 1.44% to 11%.^{215,242}

By contrast, there is only one study on Cyclin A, CDK2 and p27 expression in equine sarcoids. Of a total of 13 cases, all were negative for the analyzed proteins.²⁴² For these reasons, the study of cell cycle proteins in equine sarcoids can provide further insight in BPV oncogenic mechanisms.

7.1 Materials and Methods

7.1.1 Case selection and histology

Tissue samples from surgical excision or incisional biopsies with a histological diagnosis of sarcoid were retrieved from the archives of the Veterinary Pathology Centre at the University of Surrey (UK) and from the Pathology Service of the Department of Veterinary Medical Science of the University of Bologna (Italy), from 2010 to 2018. Clinical information, including signalment, tumor location and clinical subtypes were retrieved from the submission forms, when available. Samples were available as formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) and H&E stained slides. Each case was reviewed to confirm the initial diagnosis of sarcoid based on H&E features.

To compare the histopathological features with clinical subtypes, each tumor was evaluated for six histological features: hyperkeratosis, hyperplasia of the epidermis, rete pegs, picket fencing, ulceration/crusting, and inflammation. Each feature was recorded as present or absent. Moreover, two growth patterns of fibroblasts in the dermis were identified and categorized into either interstitial (neoplastic fibroblasts arranged between and around collagen fibres) or fascicular (neoplastic cells arranged in interlacing streams and bundles), based on the prevalent pattern.

For cases that were sampled by surgical excision, the completeness of surgical margins was evaluated as complete or incomplete.

7.1.2 Tissue Microarray Technique

Firstly, representative areas containing neoplastic tissue without necrosis, inflammation, hemorrhage, or non-neoplastic tissue were selected from the H&E

stained sections. Selected areas were marked on the slide and compared with the donor block to identify the sampling area, then were punched with a 3 mm diameter biopsy punch. TMAs were then constructed allocating the obtained tissue cores into new empty receiving paraffin blocks. One tissue core per tumor was used for the construction. A sector map was then created to recognize the position of each tumor core. Each TMA contained eight tumor cores, one canine liver core as a landmark and one core of equine granulation tissue as positive control. From each TMA, a HE stained section was evaluated to confirm the presence of the selected tissue.

After validation of the TMA technique, IHC for FAP α was performed in each case; full sections were used for small tumors samples (<5mm) while large tumor samples were performed on TMA.

7.1.3 Protein Extraction and Western Blot analysis

To verify FAP α antibody specificity, Western Blot analysis was performed. The assay was carried out in collaboration with the Department of Experimental and Special Medicine (DIMES), at the University of Bologna. For protein extraction, fresh tissue from equine dermis, intestine and sarcoid was collected. From each, 25µg of tissue was homogenized with 500ml RIPA buffer (Thermofisher Scientific) and 100 µl of protease inhibitor (Halt Protease Inhibitor Cocktail EDTA-free, Thermofisher Scientific). Tubes were centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 30 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was collected and stored at -80°C. Protein concentration was calculated using the DC Protein Assay Kit (Bio-Rad). Briefly, 40 µg of proteins were denatured at 100°C for 10 minutes. Proteins were separated using a 8% gel and electrophoretically transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. Non-specific binding sites were blocked with milk 5% in TBS-T for 1h at RT. The blot was incubated at 4°C overnight with an antibody against FAP α (1:500, Abcam). Then, the membrane was incubated with anti-rabbit peroxidase conjugated secondary antibody (1:200, Thermofisher) for 1 hour at room temperature. Reactive bands were visualized with a chemiluminescent detection kit (Westar nC 2.0 Cyanagen, XLS075,0020) using the Chemidoc instrument (Bio-Rad). B-Actin was used as the loading control and was detected using a β -actin-specific antibody (1:500 Santa Cruz, Biotechology).

7.1.4 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Immunohistochemistry for S100 and α -smooth muscle actin (α SMA) was performed to differentiate sarcoids from schwannoma and other nerve sheath tumors (NSTs) as previously described.^{27,108} Additionally, immunohistochemistry for CDKN2A, pRB, Cyclin D1. p53 and Ki-67 was performed using full sections whereas for FAP α immunohistochemistry was performed using TMA blocks. Data on the primary antibodies are summarized in Table 1.

Ten sarcoid cases were selected for TMA validation as previously described.²³⁸ From each case, both a full section and a punch section were used to perform immunohistochemistry (IHC) for fibroblast associated protein (FAP) α . IHC positivity was assessed blindly and the results of IHC on full section and TMA were compared to assess consistency.

Cross reactivity for Cyclin D1 and pRB with equine tissues was confirmed with western blot analysis in part 1 of this work.

Three-micrometer-thick sections were dewaxed and rehydrated. Endogenous peroxidase was blocked by immersion in H_2O_2 0.3% (for α SMA and Ki-67) or H_2O_2 3% (for S100, FAP α , CDKN2A, pRB, Cyclin D1 and p53) in methanol for 30 minutes. For antigen retrieval, sections were immersed in 200 mL citrate buffer (pH 6.0) or in tris-EDTA (pH=9.0) and heated in a microwave oven at 750 W for two 5-min cycles (α SMA, Ki-67 and pRB) or for three-5 min cycles (CDKN2A, Cyclin D1, p53 and FAP α) immunostaining respectively. Enzymatic antigen retrieval was performed in 37°C oven for 15 minutes with 0,05% trypsin for S-100. Slides were incubated with the primary antibody overnight at 4 °C. The reaction was developed using a commercial streptavidine-biotine-peroxidase technique (ABC kit elite, Vector, Burlingame, CA, USA) and visualized with 3-amino-9-ethylcarbazole (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark). Slides were counterstained with Harris hematoxylin. Positive controls consisted of normal

equine intestine for α SMA and Ki-67, equine melanoma for S100, and both a WBpositive equine sarcoid and an equine squamous cell carcinoma for FAP α and CDKN2A and p53 respectively. For pRB and Cyclin D1, a normal equine testis was used as positive control. As a negative control, the primary antibody was replaced with an isotype-matched non relevant antibody.

For FAPα, cells were evaluated positive when cytoplasmic labelling was observed, while any nuclear staining was considered unspecific.¹ Ki-67 proliferation index was assessed by manual image analysis based on the number of positive nuclei in 500 cells and expressed as a percentage. (Image J Software, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, USA). The number of positve nuclei in the epidermis was assessed separately in the epidermal and dermal component and the only the dermal percentage was used for statistical analysis. CDKN2A immunostaining was evaluated as nuclear or cytoplasmic²⁷⁴. Moreover, immunolabelling for CDKN2A, pRB and Cyclin D1 positve cells was scored along a three-tiered scale ranging from 1 to 3: 1 (<10%), 2 (10-50%) and 3 (>50%) as previously described.²⁴⁶

Antibody	Clone	Manufacturer	Dilution
αSMA	1A4	Dako, Glostrup, Denmark	1:500
S-100	Polyclonal	Dako, Glostrup, Denmark	1:1000
FAPα	Polyclonal	abcam, Cambridge, UK	1:300
Ki-67	MIB-1	Dako, Glostrup, Denmark	1:600
p53	PAb240	BD Pharmingen (Rodano (MI), Italy)	1:100
CDKN2A	Polyclonal	Elabscience Biotechnology (Texas, USA)	1:150
pRB	Sc-1	Santa Cruz Byotechnology (Segrate (MI), Italy)	1:100
Cyclin D1	A12	Santa Cruz Byotechnology (Segrate (MI), Italy)	1:150

Table 1. Primary antibodies, resources, and dilutions.

7.1.5 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

A PCR to detect BPV DNA (type 1, 2, 13) was developed. The primers BPV1213F 5'-CCACTACCTCCTGGAATGAAC-3' and BPV1213R 5' GGCAGACCTGTACAGGAGCA-3' were designed to amplify a 219 base pair region of the E2/E5 open reading frames. Tumor tissue for the PCR assays was obtained from FFPE blocks. Briefly, multiple 4 μ m sections were cut and purification was performed using NucleoSpin[®] DNA FFPE XS kit (Macherey Nagel, Milan, Italy) following manufacturer's instructions. To verify the DNA extraction and presence of BPV-1/-2-/13, all DNA extractions were subjected to qualitative β -actin and E2/E5 PCR, respectively.

7.1.6 Chromogenic In situ hybridization (CISH)

Chromogenic *in situ* hybridization was performed on full sections using the RNA scope kit (Advanced Cell Diagnostics, Hayward, CA). The target genes and probe regions were designed to hybridize to messenger RNA (mRNA) and viral genomic DNA of both BPV-1 and BPV-2 as previous reported.¹²² Three-µm thick sections were deparaffinized in xylene, followed by dehydration in ethanol. Following endogenous peroxidase blocking, sections were incubated in 200 ml 1X Target Retrieval solution (Advanced Cell Diagnostic, Hayward, CA) maintained at 100°C to 103°C using a water bath for 15 minutes, rinsed in deionized water and immediately treated with 4 drops of protease plus (Advanced Cell Diagnostic, Hayward, CA) at 40°C for 30 minutes in a HybEZ hybridization oven (Advanced Cell Diagnostics, Hayward, CA). Target probe (4 drops) was added to the slides and hybridized at 40°C for 2 hours in the HybEZ oven. Amplification steps were performed at first in HybEZ hybridization oven at 40°C for 30 minutes (from AMP1 to AMP4) than at ambient temperature for 30 and 15 minutes for AMP5 and AMP6, respectively. Chromogenic detection was obtained by adding Redworking solution (60 µl) for 10 minutes at room temperature. Slides were counterstained with Gill's hematoxylin and mounted with VectaMount (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Ec-PPIB probe (Equus caballus peptidylprolyl isomerase B (cyclophilin B) (PPIB) mRNA) was used as positive control to assess gene housekeeping while *Bacillus subtilis* strain SMY methylglyoxal synthase dihydrodipicolinate reductase (dapB) gene was used as negative control. To analyze the probe signal a semi-quantitative score system was developed, utilizing the estimated number of punctate dots present in 10 high power fields (HPF) visible at 400x magnification (2,37mm²). A score of 0 indicated absence of positive cells, a score of 1 indicated low numbers (20%–50%) of positive cells, a score of 2 identified an intermediate number (50%– 80%), and a score of 3 indicated that a high number (80% to 100%) of positive cells.¹²² Moreover, the nuclear reaction pattern was classified as either diffuse or punctate: a diffuse signal throughout the nucleus was considered as diffuse pattern, while a dot-like signal within the cell nucleus was considered as punctate pattern.

7.1.7 Follow-up

Follow-up information was retrieved by telephone interview with the animal owners or referring veterinarians. Local recurrence (LR) and de novo occurrence (DNO) were defined as recurrence at the same site of previous sarcoid and occurrence of a distant sarcoid, respectively. These were recorded as present or absent. Time to recurrence (TR) was calculated as days elapsed from the histological diagnosis to LR/DNO. Cases in which no LR/DNO were recorded at the time of the study were censored.

7.2 Statistical analysis

Normality was evaluated with Shapiro-Wilk test. Mean and standard deviation (SD) were calculated for normally distributed data, while median and min-max were reported for non-normally distributed data. Chi-square test was performed for categorical variables; Kruskal-Wallis test was performed for continuous variables. Spearman correlation coefficient was calculated to compare continuous variables. To evaluate LR/DNO Kaplan-Meier product-limit estimate were applied and compared by log-rank test. For each test, p<.05 was considered statistically significant.

7.3 Results

7.3.1 Signalament and clinical data

The study included 114 sarcoids from 88 equids (66 horses, 17 ponies and 5 donkeys). The age was known in 73/88 equids and ranged from 2 to 25 years old with a median age of 8 years. Sex was known in 72/88 cases of which 29 were female (40.3%), 13 (18%) were male and 30 (41.7%) neutered males. Among horses, Warmbloods (18.3%), Cobs (18.3%) and Thoroughbreds (12.7%) were the most represented breeds.

Of the 88 equids, 54 had one tissue sample included in the study and 14 had multiple tissue samples ranging from 2 to 6 per horse.

Four anatomical tumor locations were identified: head/neck region (29/114, 25.4%), genital area (24/114, 21.1%), abdomen/thorax (16/114, 14%) and limbs (13/114, 11.4%). In 32/114 (28.1%) cases location was unknown. Sarcoid clinical subtype was known in 74/114 cases and was categorized as follows: occult (4/114, 3.5%), verrucous (16/114, 14%), fibroblastic (9/114, 7.9%), nodular (35/114, 30.7%) and mixed (10/114, 8.8%).

Regarding the histological type and the anatomic location, all the cases were examined. Of the 114 sarcoids, the fibroblastic subtype was located mainly in the limbs (4/9, 44.4%) and the mixed subtype in the groin (6/10, 60%). Moreover, the nodular subtype was located mainly in head and neck region (12/35, 34.3%) and in the trunk (10/35, 28.6%) whereas the verrucous in the head and neck region (8/16, 50%) and in the groin (6/16, 37.5%).

Table 2 summarises the clinical data and histologic diagnosis.

 Table 2. Clinical data and histological diagnosis of equine sarcoids.

Case ID	Breed	Age (years)	Sex	Tumor location	Histological type
170071			М	Lip	Verrucous
170105	Warmblood	7	F	Groin	Mixed
170122A	Sella Francais	6	F	Neck	Verrucous
170122B					Mixed
170135	Welsh D	16	MN	Ear	Mixed
170160	Warmblood	8	MN	Ear	Verrucous
170164	French WB	6	F	Abdomen	Mixed
170247	ND	2		Head	Mixed
170248	Pony	12	Μ	Eye	Mixed
170253	Fresian	12	Μ	Eye	Verrucous
170269A	Thoroughbred	10	MN	Chest	Nodular
170269 B, C				Limb	Mixed
170269 D-G				Limb	Mixed
170292 A	Warmblood	3	MN	Nose	Verrucous
170292 B				Eye	Mixed
170297 A	Dutch Warmblood	8	MN	Sheath/penis	Mixed
170297 C-E				Eye	Mixed
170376 C	Piebald Cob	14	MN	Abdomen	Mixed
170376 E				Sheath/penis	Mixed
170376 H				sheath/penis	Nodular
170390	Irish sport horse	10	MN	Neck	Mixed
170456	Warmblood	2	F		Nodular
170476				Thigh	Mixed
170511	Irish Cob	14	F	Limb	Verrucous
170535	Irish sport horse	15	MN	Sternum	Nodular
170567	Welsh D		MN	Ear	Verrucous
170570	Cob	7	F	Eye	Nodular
170591 A	Welsh D	2	F	Sheath/penis	Nodular
170591 C				Eye	Nodular
170603	Donkey	8	F	Nose	Mixed
170604	Sport Horse	11	Μ	Sheath/penis	Nodular
170628	Erisky	9	Μ	Sheath/penis	Mixed
170633	Welsh A	6	F	Abdomen	Nodular
170634	Irish sport horse	8	F		Nodular
170641	Donkey	8	F	Nose	Nodular
170661	Irish Sports	8	MN	Sheath/penis	Mixed
170813 A	Warmblood	4	Μ	Sheath/penis	Mixed
170813 C					Verrucous
170841	Thoroughbred	9	MN	Eye	Verrucous
170853				Thigh	Verrucous
170945	Andalusian	8	Μ	Thigh	Verrucous
170963	Cob	8	MN	Sheath/penis	Mixed
170969	Warmblood	5		Girth	Mixed
170971	Fell pony	4	F	Eye	Mixed
170997	Pony	18	F		Verrucous
171001	Warmblood	22	MN		Mixed
171008	Irish sport horse	17	F		Mixed

171009	Warmblood	25	F		Nodular
171011	Warmblood	16	MN		Verrucous
171017	Pony Shetland	23	F		Mixed
171037	Warmblood	7	MN		Nodular
171054	Welsh	5	F	Abdomen	Mixed
171056	Irish sport horse	3	Μ	Ear	Mixed
171141	·			Eye	Mixed
171167	Donkey	4	MN	, Sheath/penis	Mixed
171221	, Warmblood X	10	F	Teat	Nodular
171222	Thoroughbred	11	F	Abdomen	Mixed
171239	0	3	Μ	Sheath/penis	Mixed
171348	Andalusian	14	MN	Sheath/penis	Mixed
180103	Irish sport horse	8	MN	Thigh	Mixed
180117 A	Irish draught	4	MN	Sheath/penis	Mixed
180117 B	Ū			, ,	Mixed
180117 C				Sheath/penis	Nodular
180127	Welsh X	6	F	/	Nodular
180140	Clydesdale	7			Nodular
180142				Groin	Mixed
180143	Connemara			0.0	Nodular
180158	Pony	8		Head	Mixed
180199	1 only	3	М	Fve	Verrucous
180212 A-C	Donkey	6	MN	Scrotum	Nodular
180212 A C	Donkey	0		Scrotum	Nodular
180222 0 1		12	F	Fve	Nodular
180225	Thoroughbred	17	MN	LyC	Nodular
180225	Auarter horse	1/	MN	Sheath/nenis	Mixed
180220 180220 A	Coh	6		Chost	Mixed
180229 A	000	0		Sheath/nenis	Mixed
180225 D				Sheath/penis	Mixed
180225 E				Sheath/penis	Mixed
1802251, G	Irish sport horse	6	MN	Far	Verrucous
180205 A	instraport norse	0	IVIIN	Lai	Verrucous
180205 C					Verrucous
180205 L	Warmblood	٥	C		Verrucous
190233	Warmblood	5	і N/I	Shooth/popic	Verrucous
180322		2		Limb	Mixed
180303	Walch	۲ ۲		Abdomon	Vorrugous
100445	VVEISII	11		Abuomen	Verrucous
180446	Lichland	12		AXIIIa Chaoth / nonio	Mixed
180455	Highland	3	IVIIN	Sheath/penis	Nedular
180450					Nouular
180457					Mixed
180458 A					Nodular
180458 B					Mixed
180458 C					Nodular
180458 D					Nodular
180458 E					IVIIXEO
180458 F					Nodular
180464 A					Mixed
180464 C					Mixed
180468 A					Mixed
180468 B					Nodular

180468 G					Verrucous
180502		17	MN	Head	Verrucous
180524	Warmblood	10	MN	Limb	Mixed
180536	Irish sport horse	8	F	Axilla	Nodular
180540	Warmblood	9	MN		Verrucous
180557	Highland	7	F	Abdomen	Nodular
180564	Highland	11	Μ	Eye	Verrucous
180565 A	Pony Shetland	14	F	Sheath/penis	Verrucous
180565 B				Sheath/penis	Mixed
180571	British	10	F	Eye	Mixed
180612	Hannoverian	18	F	Limb	Nodular
180646	Warmblood	4	F	Limb	Mixed
180654	Thoroughbred	10	F	Thigh	Nodular
AP20245	French Saddle Pony	17	F	Thigh	Mixed
AP20622	Sardinian donkey	6	М	Head	Mixed

7.3.2 Histological features

The predominant histological features in occult sarcoids were the presence of epidermal hyperplasia and interstitial fibroblast pattern which were both present in 4/4 cases (100%). Verrucous sarcoids were predominantly characterized by interstitial fibroblast pattern (15/16, 93.7%), hyperkeratosis and epidermal hyperplasia with rete pegs formation (14/16, 87.5%). The most prominent feature of nodular sarcoids was the presence of epidermal thinning (22/35, 62.8%) often with a neat separation between the dermis and the epidermis, while all the other features were detected in variable proportions. In fibroblastic sarcoids, the most prominent feature was the presence of epidermal ulceration (100%), while the other epidermal and dermal features were present in variable proportions. Similarly, mixed sarcoids showed a variable proportion of dermal pattern and epidermal features. Figure 2 shows the four histological types of sarcoids while Figure 3 the two different dermal pattern.

Surgical margins were complete in 50 cases, while in 49 cases they were incomplete. In 15 samples margins were not evaluated due to either partial sampling (incisional biopsy) or inadequacy of the sample.

Figure 2. A. Verrucous sarcoid, 4x. B. Nodular sarcoid, 4x. C. Occult sarcoid, 4x. D. Fibroblastic sarcoid, 4x. E. Mixed sarcoid, 10x.





Fig 3. A. Interstitial pattern of fibroblasts, 20x. B. Fascicular pattern of fibroblasts, 4x.

Correlation between histological features and clinical subtype

To verify the presence of distinctive histological features in each clinical subtype, the frequency of each feature was evaluated according to the clinical aspect. Epidermal hyperplasia was significantly associated with occult and verrucous types (p=0.000 *Chi Square test*);picket fencing was significantly associated with epidermal hyperplasia (p=0.000 *Chi Square test*). By contrast, nodular type was significantly associated with decreased epidermal thickness (p=0.000 *Chi Square test*) (Figure 4). Regarding fibroblasts architecture, the interstitial pattern was significantly associated with both the verrucous (p=0.0003 *Chi Square test*) and occult subtypes (p=0.0014 *Chi Square test*). Figure 5 summarizes the association between dermal pattern and clinical types. No other histological features demonstrated a statistically significant association with clinical subtypes.

Figure 4. Association between clinical type and epidermal thickness.



Figure 5. Association between clinical type and dermal pattern.



7.3.3 Immunohistochemistry

FAPα

Cross reactivity for FAP α was confirmed with Western blot analysis, which revealed a 90kD protein band that corresponded to the molecular weight of FAP α . A strongly

positive band was detected in the sarcoid sample, while in the dermis and intestine a weaker signal was present (Figure 6).

All 114 sarcoid cases labelled with FAP α , demonstrating the fibroblastic and/or myofibroblastic origin of neoplastic cells. FAP α protein was strongly expressed in the cytoplasm of neoplastic cells (Figure 7).

Figure 6. Western blot analysis of protein lysates from equine dermis (lanes 2 and 3), intestine (lane4) and sarcoid (lane 5). Marker proteins are shown in lane 1.



S100 and α SMA

All 114 equine sarcoids were negative for S100 and 45/114 (39.4%) of tumors were positive for α SMA, displaying variably intense cytoplasmic positivity (Figure 7). Three different tumor patterns were observed, diffuse intratumoral, peritumoral and subepithelial. According to the histologic subtypes, α SMA positivity was recorded as follows: 1/4 occult (25%), 4/16 verrucous (25%), 11/35 nodular (31.4%), 4/9 fibroblastic (44.4%) and 5/10 mixed (50%). Regarding α SMA immunolabelling, 24/ 44 (21.1%) cases had intratumoral pattern, 9/44 (7.9%) peritumoral pattern and 13/44 (11.4%) subepithelial pattern. Comparing α SMA positivity with dermal pattern, a statistically significant association was found between α SMA and the presence of streams and bundles (p=0.046 *Chi Square test*) (Figure 8). By contrast, no significant association was observed between either positivity (*p*=0.75 *Chi Square test*) or

distribution (p=0.46 Chi Square test) of α SMA labelling and clinical subtype respectively.



Figure 8. Association between dermal pattern and α SMA expression.

Cell cycle proteins p53, pRB, Cyclin D1 and CDK2NA

pRB immunohistochemistry was performed in 70cases. All cases were positive with intense nuclear labelling (Figure 9). Regarding pRB score, 32 (45.7%), 23 (32.8%) and 15 (21.4%) cases showed expression scores of 1, 2 and 3 respectively.

Cyclin D1 immunohistochemistry was performed in 73 cases. Strong nuclear Cyclin D1 immunolabelling was observed in all cases (Figure 9). Regarding Cyclin D1 score, 34/73 (46.5%) cases had score 2. The other positive cases had score 3 (27/73, 13.2%) or score 1 (12/72 (16.4%). Forty-one (for Cyclin D1) and forty (for pRB) cases were excluded from IHC due to insufficient tissue. Table 3 summarizes Cyclin D1 and pRB scores.

 Table 3. Summary on pRB and Cyclin D1 scores in equine sarcoids, performed on 70 and 73 cases

 respectively.

		pRB	Cyclin D1
Score	1	32 (45.7%)	12 (16.4%)
	2	23 (32.8%)	34 (46.5%)
	3	15 (21.4%)	27 (36.9%)
Total		70	73

Immunohistochemistry for CDKN2A was performed in 56 cases. Positive immunolabelling was found in 45/56 (90.4%) cases whereas 11/56 (9.6%) were negative. In 27/45 (60%) cases CDKN2A immunolabelling was exclusively nuclear whereas 18/45 (40%) cases displayed both nuclear and cytoplasmic immunolabelling (Figure 9).

Regarding CDKN2A score, 19/56 (16.7%) cases had score 1. The other positive cases had either score 2 (14/56, 12.3%) or score 3 (12/56, 10.5%).

Cyclin D1 and pRB scores were positively correlated with each other (p=0.044, *Spearman correlation test*); moreover, inverse correlation between Cyclin D1 and pRB scores and p16 positivity was found (p=0.01, *Spearman correlation test*).

Moreover, p53 was negative in all the cases.

Ki-67 index

Immunohistochemistry for Ki-67 was performed in 109 cases. The median of Ki-67 positve cells was 4.73% (range 0.016%-20%). Statistical analysis revealed a strong correlation between Ki-67 index and the histological type: low Ki-67 index was prevalent in occult subtype compared to the mixed (p=0.15 Kruskal-Wallis test), nodular (p=0.01 Kruskal-Wallis test) and fibroblastic (p=0.01 Kruskal-Wallis test) subtypes. Similarly, verrucous sarcoids had low Ki-67 index compared to mixed (p=0.07 Kruskal-Wallis test), nodular (p=0.01 Kruskal-Wallis test) and fibroblastic (p=0.01 Kruskal-Wallis test).

In equids with multiple sarcoids, Ki-67 index was not associated with the presence of multiple tumors (*p*=0.15 *Kruskal-Wallis test*).

Regarding fibroblasts dermal pattern, a statistically significant correlation between high Ki-67 index and fascicular pattern (p=0.03 *Kruskal-Wallis test*) was found (Figure 10). By contrast, no significant association was found between Ki-67 index and CDKN2A positivity (p=0.92 *Kruskal-Wallis test*) nor with α SMA immunolabelling (p=0.94 *Kruskal-Wallis test*).

Taking the median as cut-off value, cases were further divided in low and high proliferation. Based on this variable, 42/88 (47.7%) had high proliferation rate and 42/88 (47.7%) low proliferation.



Figure 10. Distribution of Ki-67 index and fibroblasts pattern.

7.3.4 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

Eighty-seven (87) sarcoids from 85 horses were tested by PCR for BPV1/2/13. In equids with multiple sarcoids, only one tumor was tested by PCR except in 2 cases. The presence of BPV-DNA was confirmed in 82/87 samples. Of the 5 samples that tested negative, 2 were also negative for β -actin, indicating unsuccessful DNA extraction. In the remaining 3 cases, 2 equids had multiple tumors of which at least one tested BPV-positive by PCR. Furthermore, sequencing of six cases suggested the presence of viral DNA referable to BPV-1.

7.3.5 Chromogenic In situ hybridization (CISH)

CISH was performed in 106 cases in which sufficient FFPE material was available. A positive hybridization signal was observed in 101/106 (95.2%) cases. Positivity appeared as strong nuclear and occasionally finely granular punctate dots in the cytoplasm of neoplastic fibroblasts (Figure 7). Labelling was categorized into four grades as previously reported:¹²² 5/106 cases (4.7%) were negative, 15/106 cases (14.2%) were scored 1, 17/106 cases (16,1%) were scored 2, and 69/106 were scored 3 (65.1%) (Table 4). Of the 106 samples that were tested by CISH, the clinical subtype was known in 70 cases; to assess whether the different clinical subtypes had different viral DNA distribution, the distribution of CISH positivity was evaluated within the tumor: 61 (87.1%) had a diffuse, uniform BPV DNA distribution throughout the tissue (Figure 7) while the remaining 9 (12.9%) cases showed a predominantly subepithelial CISH positivity (Figure 7) No association was observed between BPV DNA distribution and clinical subtype, although the 9 cases that had a predominantly subepithelial distribution all displayed picket fencing. Of these, 5 cases were verrucous, 1 was occult and 3 were mixed. However, no significant association was observed between the histological variables and nucleic acid distribution. In addition, no signal was observed in the epidermis overlying the neoplasm nor in the adnexa and/or dermis surrounding the neoplasm.

Of the 106 cases that were tested by CISH, 83 were also tested with PCR. 82/87 had concordant results, with 80 cases being positive for both CISH and PCR, 2 cases negative for both, 3 cases CISH+/PCR- and 2 cases CISH-/PCR+ (Table 5).

Score	No. of cases	%
0 (negative)	5	4.7
1	15	14.2
2	17	16.1
3	69	65.1
Total	106	100

Table 4. In situ hybridization signal score of 106 tested sarcoids.

Table 5. Comparison of PCR and CISH results for the detection of BPV-DNA in 83 cases

	CISH+	CISH-	Total
PCR+	80	2	82
PCR-	3	2*	5
Total	83	4	87

*β-actin negative

Figure 6. **A.** αSMA cytoplasmic immunoreactivity of myofibroblasts, 10x **B**. FAPα nuclear and cytoplasmic immunoreactivity of interlacing streams and bundles of neoplastic fibroblasts, 10x. C. Nodular sarcoid showing diffuse BPV distribution within neoplastic fibroblasts. Chromogenic *in situ* hybridization (CISH), BPV 1/2 probes, 4x. **D**. Mixed type sarcoid. Strong hybridization signal in the dermo-epidermal junction. CISH, BPV 1/2 probes, 4x. **E**. Strong hybridization signal within the nucleus of neoplastic fibroblasts. CISH, BPV 1/2 probes, 100x. **F**. Large pleomorphic fibroblasts with strong cytoplasmic hybridization signal. CISH, BPV 1/2 probes, 20x



Figure 8. **A.** Strong pRB nuclear immunoreactivity of neoplastic fibroblasts, 20x. **B.** Cyclin D1 nuclear immunoreactivity of neoplastic fibroblasts, 10x. **C.** Strong CDKN2A nuclear immunoreactivity of neoplastic fibroblasts, 20x. **D.** CDKN2A nuclear and cytoplasmic immunoreactivity of neoplastic fibroblasts, 10x.



7.3.6 Analysis of follow-up

Follow-up information regarding recurrence was obtained in 29/114 cases. Among them, recurrence was confirmed by clinical examination or histology in 14 cases. Of these, 9 recurred on the same site, while in 5 horses new sarcoids were observed in distant sites (de-novo occurrence). Recurrence sites were as follows: groin (4/15, 26.7%), head and neck (3/15, 20%), limbs (3/15, 20%) and thorax (3/15, 20%). Regarding clinical classification, recurrence was recorded in 7/13 (53.8%) fibroblastic, 2/13 (15.4%) mixed and 4/13 (30.8%) verrucous sarcoids. Following resection, median LR/DNO time were 92 days for fibroblastic sarcoids, 65 days for mixed and 95 days for verrucous.

Comparing clinical type with tumor LR/DNO, statistical analysis revealed high tendency of recurrence to de-novo occurrence in verrucous sarcoids (5/6, 83.3%), and to recur locally for fibroblastic and mixed sarcoids (7/7, 100% and2/2, 100% respectively). By contrast, no recurrence was observed in nodular (12/12, 100%) and occult (2/2, 100%) types.

For equids with multiple sarcoids, recurrence was recorded in 6/29 (20.7%) cases while in 23/29 (79.3%) cases recurrence was not recorded. Although a higher proportion of equids with multiple sarcoids experienced tumor recurrence, the association was not statistically significant (p=0.54 *Chi square test*) (Table 6).

Moreover, LR/DNO rates were evaluated based on the completeness of excision margins: statistical analysis revealed that complete margins were not associated with local tumor recurrence (Chi-square test, p=0.33). In detail, of the 9 cases that recurred locally, 6 had incomplete surgical margins; similarly, of the 15 cases that did not recur, 7 had incomplete margins.

Although not statistically significant, higher Ki-67 index was identified in without recurrence (8/29, 27.6% and 10/29, 34.5% respectively) (p=0.59 *Chi square test*). The only histological variable correlated with higher LR/DNO rates was increased epidermal thickness (p=0.46 *Log-rank test*). Moreover, recurrence was not associated with immunohistochemical variables CDKN2A, pRB, Cyclin D1 and α SMA.

	Local Recurrence (LR)	De-novo	No recurrence
		occurrence	
Occult	0/2	0/2	2/2
Verrucous	0/5	5/5	1/6
Nodular	0/12	0/12	12/12
Fibroblastic	7/7	0/7	0/7
Mixed	2/2	0/2	0/2
Total	9/29	5/29	15/29

Table 6. Summary on recurrence in five clinical types of sarcoids.

7.4 Discussion

Clinical types of sarcoids do not differ histologically

Although the histological features of equine sarcoids are well characterized, there is no well documented association between the clinical types and their histological features. The identification of clinical types of sarcoids by histopathology would be important to correctly classify the tumor types and verify any association with behaviour and/or response to therapy.

However, as previously reported, histopathologic features of sarcoids can be highly variable: epidermal hyperplasia with rete peg and picket fence formation are often present in the verrucous histological type;³¹ epidermal ulceration and adjacent hyperplasia are commonly reported in fibroblastic sarcoids while epidermal thinning is usually described for the nodular type.²¹⁵ Moreover, in occult sarcoids, increased dermal density obscuring follicular units and adnexa seems to be the only distinctive feature. Lastly, the mixed type, the most variable type of sarcoid, can display all the previously reported histological characteristics.^{31,215} The presence of an increased fibroblastic density remains the only common feature among the different types.²¹⁵

Although in the present study we identified a number of features that were predominantly expressed in one clinical type compared to others, no single histological feature was exclusive to a single subtype. In particular, in our study interstitial pattern of neoplastic fibroblasts was observed in 100% of occult and 93.7% of verrucous clinical types. Moreover, increased epidermal thickness was recorded in 100% and 87.5% occult and verrucous types, respectively.

The inability to correctly identify tumor subtypes histologically was already documented by Bogaert *et al* and is further confirmed here in a larger number of cases. However, the presence of interstitial fibroblast arrangement and epidermal hyperplasia supports a diagnosis of verrucous and occult sarcoid; in addition, fibroblasts arranged in streams and bundles are more supportive of a diagnosis of fibroblastic, nodular or mixed subtype.

93

In addition, none of the cases included in the study had features of malignant (malevolent) sarcoid, confirming that this subtype is extremely rare.

α SMA, S100 and FAP α for the diagnosis of sarcoids

Several studies in the literature have highlighted the importance of finding reliable markers for the diagnosis of sarcoids. Earlier studies stated that BPV DNA can be found in other spindle cell tumors of horses¹⁰⁷, and similarly that the presence of BPV DNA does not guarantee a diagnosis of sarcoid without histological examination.

Since the publication on a series of equine schwannomas²⁸⁴, much attention has been given in finding reliable markers to distinguish between schwannomas and sarcoid. In this respect, the combined S100 negativity and PCR positivity for BPV-DNA has been deemed as sufficient to solve this issue.²⁷ Indeed, in our study all cases were negative to S100, excluding Schwann cell origin of tumors. Regarding the positivity of other types of spindle cell tumors to BPV, the authors of the article did not specify the criteria used to classify the tumors;¹⁰⁷ it is reasonable to think that all BPV-positive spindle cell tumors should be diagnosed as sarcoids until proven otherwise.

In the attempt to finding additional and more reliable immunohistochemical markers to support the diagnosis of sarcoids, we further investigated FAPα expression in all our samples.⁹⁴ FAPα is a serine integral membrane proteinase encoded by FAP gene.²⁵⁰ It is selectively expressed in reactive fibroblasts of epithelial tumors and malignant cells of bone and soft tissue sarcomas with no expression in normal fibroblasts or in other stromal tissues.²⁷⁶ Recent studies also demonstrate the oncogenic role of FAP-expressing cells, enhancing tumor proliferation and tissue invasion.^{79,195} In all the analysed cases, high FAP expression was recorded in neoplastic fibroblasts compared to normal skin fibroblasts. This could include FAP as a potential marker for sarcoid diagnosis. However, the inability to test other mesenchymal tumors in the same species, does not allow to confirm its usefulness in the differential diagnosis with other spindle cell neoplasms.

Sarcoids are also known to express α SMA.^{27,210} In a 2011 study, 8/10 (80%) sarcoids positively labelled for α SMA, demonstrating a possible smooth muscle cells or pericyte origin of neoplastic fibroblasts.²⁷ More recently, Martano *et al* confirmed the expression of α SMA in 5/25 (20%) equine sarcoids. In our study, α SMA positivity was detected in 44/114 (38.6%) sarcoids. Positivity to α SMA appeared to be uniformly distributed across clinical subtypes, hence it cannot be used to differentiate clinical subtypes. However, its expression was associated with the presence of dermal streams and bundles, suggesting that this pattern may reflect an enhanced myofibroblastic differentiation of neoplastic cells.

Cell cycle proteins pRB, Cyclin D1 and CDKN2A (p16) expression are altered in a subset of sarcoids

In human papillomavirus (HPV) infections, the study of cell cycle proteins is used to predict the prognosis, especially for head and neck and cervical squamous cell carcinomas.^{191,341,348} In HPV-induced tumors, pRB is degraded by HPV E7 resulting in CDKN2A (p16) overexpression. Moreover, when CDKN2A is overexpressed, Cyclin D1 is downregulated.¹⁰¹ Therefore, in HPV-induced tumors, Cyclin D1 and pRB levels are typically low.¹⁰¹ In this study, Cyclin D1 and pRB were positive in all cases with different scores. As expected, pRB and Cyclin D1 were positively correlated to each other, and their decrease was significantly associated with p16 positivity, either at nuclear or cytoplasmic level. Fan et al indicated that BPV-1 E7-induced cell proliferation could occur in the absence of pRB, although it could not completely rule out the possibility that some of the proliferative activity could involve Rb inactivation. In our study, the inverse correlation between CDKN2A and pRB-Cyclin D1 may indicate that pRB inactivation may occur and might be associated with CDKN2A accumulation. However, it must be noted that contrarily to what is observed in HPV-related cancer, accumulation of CDKN2A was observed both in the nucleus and cytoplasm, and if only cytoplasmic accumulation was considered, statistical significance was lost. Based on these findings, we speculate that a pRB-mediated pathway of tumorigenesis is not excluded in BPV-induced sarcoids. In the same study, Fan *et al*, found a Cyclin D1 and Cyclin D-associated kinase downregulation, which would support our findings, at least in a subset of cases. Further studies are required to evaluate additional cell-cycle associated molecules, to verify their role in tumorigenesis and behaviour.

For completeness, p53 immunohistochemistry was also performed in all cases included in the study. In contrast with previous investigations, in which p53 positivity was observed in 22/50 (4.4%) cases, our results indicate that p53-mediated mechanisms of tumorigenesis do not occur in sarcoids. Our results are also supported by the lack of p53 mutation reported from Bucher et al. (1996).⁴⁷

Ki-67 proliferation index is not useful as diagnostic or prognostic marker

In human and veterinary medicine the Ki-67 index is a widely used prognostic indicator of malignancy.¹⁹³ In horses only few studies reported the use of Ki-67 index to assess the degree of tumor proliferation.^{29,215,242} Ki67 proliferation index through was analysed in 50 sarcoids, in which there was high variability of Ki-67 staining among the cases. All the cases had total mean proliferative fraction of 1.44%, slightly lower to our proliferative index results of 4,7% across all cases.²¹⁵ Similarly, in a 2004 study, Ki-67 expression ranged from 5 to 11%.²⁴² Our results confirm data reported in literature that in general, sarcoids have low proliferate rates. This finding parallels the clinical behavior of this tumor, typically characterized by a slow growth.

Ki67 expression was compared with other clinical pathological variables, but no associations were found, except for a higher Ki67 index in sarcoids displaying a fascicular dermal pattern. The reason of this finding is unclear as no increased recurrence rates were found associated with this feature. Overall, Ki67 does not seem to be useful in the diagnostic process and does not seem to predict clinical behaviour.

BPV distribution does not influence sarcoid histomorphological features

In the present study we analysed the link between viral distribution pattern and histological appearance of the tumor, to prove if BPV distribution has the ability to

influence the development of different morphological types of sarcoids. Of the 106 analyzed cases, 87.1% showed diffuse strong positivity for BPV by CISH and in only 12.9% the positivity was confined to the subepithelial areas, independently of the clinical type. In addition, no difference was found between signal distribution pattern and clinical types. Furthermore, to verify whether epidermal hyperplasia could be induced by the presence of the virus within the epidermis, CISH signal was searched in this location. In contrast to other studies, no hybridization signal was detected in epidermis, nor in the adnexa within and at the periphery of the tumor.^{32,122} Older studies have used different laboratory techniques to localize BPV-DNA within the lesions, leading to contrasting results. In a previous study, laser-microdissection was used to separate the mesenchymal and epithelial components of sarcoids to better investigate the localization of BPV. After real-time PCR, 40% of keratinocytes of early stage sarcoids contained BPV-DNA, but in lower copy number than fibroblasts.³² Moreover, immunohistochemistry for E5 and E7 oncoprotein positively labelled neoplastic fibroblasts and epidermal cells. The presence of viral oncoproteins in epithelial cells, could partially explain the pathogenetic mechanism of sarcoids characterized by a productive phase in the epidermis followed by release of virions by keratinocytes.³⁹ In another study, the presence of BPV-DNA in equine sarcoids was further investigated using CISH. In all the analyzed cases viral nucleic acid was detected in epidermis, sebaceous glands, and hair follicles.¹²² However, in our study, no hybridization signal was detected in the epidermis nor in the adnexa, in any case. Hence, based on our results, we speculate that the epidermal hyperplasia of sarcoids may merely depend on the presence of neoplastic fibroblasts in close contact with the epidermis rather than being induced by the virus within keratinocytes. This also supports the hypothesis that the development of different clinical types may not depend on viral distribution.

In our study we also did not detect any viral nucleic acid in the tissues surrounding the tumors. This would suggest that local recurrence of sarcoids may not depend on the persistence of the virus in the tissue surrounding the lesion.

97

This is in contrast with other studies where the presence of virus was detected in the tissue adjacent to the tumor by PCR. In one study, surgical margins were evaluated in 19 horses of which 529 of margins were positive for BPV DNA: of these, the tumor margin was positive at 4, 8, 12, and 16 mm in, respectively, 95%, 73%, 39%, and 33% of the examined sarcoids. Local recurrence was observed in 3 sarcoids on 3 different horses in the same study.²¹²

The reason of this discrepancy on margin positivity might be due to the different sensitivity of the techniques used to detect viral nucleic acid.

Finally, in our series of cases the vast majority of sarcoids had high nucleic acid content, that was visible in the majority of neoplastic fibroblasts, either in the nucleus or in the cytoplasm. Viral load was previously correlated with disease severity; in a study involving 38 horses, those affected by quiescent, slowly growing single tumors or multiple mild-type lesions had low viral load, while those that had rapidly growing and/or multiple aggressive sarcoids had a significantly higher viral content. In our study though, CISH score was not found to correlate with the other clinical or molecular features.¹³³

Clinical types have different tumor recurrence features

Equine sarcoids are non-metastatic yet locally aggressive tumors, showing a high tendency of recurrence after surgical treatment.¹⁷⁰ So far, few reports have been published that correlate tumor recurrence with clinical types and molecular variables. Our results indicate that both local recurrence and occurrence in other sites are potential outcomes of sarcoids. In our case series, of the 29 horses with follow up data, nearly half recurred either locally or at distant sites.

In the literature, recurrence rates of sarcoids are highly variable. A study conducted by Compston *et al*, investigated recurrence of histologically confirmed sarcoids after laser surgery. Of 235 cases analyzed, they recorded that 82% did not recur locally and 72% did not occur in other sites.⁷² Additionally, in a 2016 study, of 230 equids with 614 sarcoids treated with electrosurgical excision, 460/614 (74.9%) had no tumor

recurrence.¹³⁵ Vingerhoets *et al*, reported that 81% of 59 horses treated by CO₂ laser surgery were free from recurrence after 12 months.³³⁷

In our study we also observed that different clinical types appeared to have different outcomes. Specifically, nodular sarcoids did not tend to recur after surgical excision; fibroblastic and mixed sarcoids tended to recur locally, while in the majority of verrucous and occult sarcoids, de novo occurrences were recorded. This is in contrast with Compston *et al* study where verrucous and head and neck sarcoids were at increased risk of local recurrence.⁷² In a 2019 study, Knottenbelt reported that with surgical excision the rate of recurrence was as high as 70%, often with development of a more aggressive type (e.g. fibroblastic).¹⁷⁴ In agreement with our study, verrucous and occult sarcoids did not tend to recur locally.¹⁷²

We also investigated whether recurrence and *de-novo* occurrence were more frequent in horses already bearing multiple sarcoids, but we found no association between these two features. Other histological and molecular variables were compared with recurrence/*de-novo* occurrence data, but no statistically significant associations were found. Regarding time to recurrence, these did not differ significantly and had an overall median time of 92 days. In an epidemiological study, of 192 treated sarcoids, recurrence was recorded in 3 cases after 1 year.³²¹

In addition, we evaluated whether surgical margins were predictive of local recurrence, but we observed that tumors tended to recur locally irrespective of the completeness of surgical margins.

It must be underlined that there are several limitations to the analysis of the follow-up data in our study which may have affected the quality of the results: firstly, only in a small proportion of cases we were able to retrieve follow up data; moreover, the excision technique was not specified, and we were not able to verify the clinical and pathological features of the recurred sarcoids. Hence, further follow-up data and analysis of recurred tumors will eb necessary to confirm our findings.

7.5 Conclusions

To conclude, our results indicate that there are no histological features that can confidently be used to classify the clinical types of sarcoids. In parallel, viral distribution and content does not seem to influence the histopathological features of the tumors. A subset of sarcoids is associated with low pRB and Cyclin D1 scores and parallel increased CDKN2A expression. This could suggest that at least a proportion of sarcoids may be associated with pRB-dependent oncogenic mechanisms, but further studies are necessary to confirm this hypothesis. Finally, a subset of sarcoids recurred after excision. Of these, the fibroblastic and mixed subtypes had the highest local recurrence rates, the occult and verrucous were associated with development of other sarcoids at distant sites, while none of the nodular sarcoids recurred.

Bibliography

- Abbas O, Richards JE, Mahalingam M. Fibroblast-activation protein: A single marker that confidently differentiates morpheaform/infiltrative basal cell carcinoma from desmoplastic trichoepithelioma. *Mod Pathol*. 2010;23:1535– 1543.
- Adams PD, Kaelin WGJ. Transcriptional control by E2F. Semin Cancer Biol. 1995 Apr;6:99–108.
- Agar NS, Halliday GM, Barnetson RS, Ananthaswamy HN, Wheeler M, Jones AM. The basal layer in human squamous tumors harbors more UVA than UVB fingerprint mutations: a role for UVA in human skin carcinogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2004 Apr;101:4954–4959.
- Aksoy P, Abban CY, Kiyashka E, Qiang W, Meneses PI. HPV16 infection of HaCaTs is dependent on β4 integrin, and α6 integrin processing. *Virology*. 2014 Jan;449:45–52.
- Albaric O, Bret L, Amardeihl M, Delverdier M. Immunohistochemical expression of p53 in animal tumors: a methodological study using four anti-human p53 antibodies. *Histol Histopathol*. 2001 Jan;16:113–121.
- Alloway E, Linder K, May S, et al. A Subset of Equine Gastric Squamous Cell Carcinomas Is Associated With Equus Caballus Papillomavirus – 2 Infection. 2020;57:427–431.
- Altamura G, Corteggio A, Nasir L, Yuan ZQ, Roperto F, Borzacchiello G. Analysis of activated platelet-derived growth factor β receptor and ras-MAP kinase pathway in equine sarcoid fibroblasts. *Biomed Res Int*. 2013;2013.
- 8. Amtmann E, Müller H, Sauer G. Equine connective tissue tumors contain unintegrated bovine papilloma virus DNA. *J Virol*. 1980 Sep;35:962–964.
- Ando K, Oki E, Saeki H, et al. Discrimination of p53 immunohistochemistrypositive tumors by its staining pattern in gastric cancer. *Cancer Med*. 2015 Jan;4:75–83.

- 10. Angelos JA, Marti E, Lazary S, Carmichael LE. Characterization of BPV-like DNA in equine sarcoids. *Arch Virol*. 1991;119:95–109.
- Angelos J, Oppenheim Y, Rebhun W, Mohammed H, Antczak DF. Evaluation of breed as a risk factor for sarcoid and uveitis in horses. *Anim Genet*. 1988;19:417–425.
- 12. Appleby P, Beral V, Berrington de González A, et al. Carcinoma of the cervix and tobacco smoking: collaborative reanalysis of individual data on 13,541 women with carcinoma of the cervix and 23,017 women without carcinoma of the cervix from 23 epidemiological studies. *Int J cancer*. 2006 Mar;118:1481–1495.
- 13. Arthurs C, Suarez-bonnet A, Willis C, et al. Equine penile squamous cell carcinoma : expression of biomarker proteins and EcPV2. *Sci Rep*. 2020;1–13.
- Ashrafi GH, Piuko K, Burden F, et al. Vaccination of sarcoid-bearing donkeys with chimeric virus-like particles of bovine papillomavirus type 1. *J Gen Virol*. 2008 Jan;89:148–157.
- Ashrafi GH, Haghshenas M, Marchetti B, Campo MS. E5 protein of human papillomavirus 16 downregulates HLA class I and interacts with the heavy chain via its first hydrophobic domain. *Int J cancer*. 2006 Nov;119:2105–2112.
- 16. Assoian RK, Zhu X. Cell anchorage and the cytoskeleton as partners in growth factor dependent cell cycle progression. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*. 1997 Feb;9:93–98.
- Aydin I, Weber S, Snijder B, et al. Large scale RNAi reveals the requirement of nuclear envelope breakdown for nuclear import of human papillomaviruses. *PLoS Pathog*. 2014 May;10:e1004162.
- Baird AN, Frelier PF. Squamous cell carcinoma originating from an epithelial scar in a horse. J Am Vet Med Assoc. 1990 Jun;196:1999–2000.
- Baker JR, Leyland A. Histological survey of tumours of the horse, with particular reference to those of the skin. *Vet Rec.* 1975 May;96:419–422.
- 20. Balasubramaniam SD, Wong KK, Oon CE, Balakrishnan V, Kaur G. Comparative transcriptomic profiling in HPV-associated cervical carcinogenesis: Implication of MHC class II and immunoglobulin heavy chain genes. *Life Sci.* 2020
Sep;256:118026.

- Bastianello S. A survey on neoplasia in domestic species over a 40-year period from 1935 to 1974 in the Republic of South Africa. IV. Tumors occuring in Equidae. *Onderstepoort J Vet Res.* 1981;50:91–96.
- 22. Bergvall KE. Sarcoids. *Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract*. 2013;29:657–671.
- Bernard H-U, Burk RD, Chen Z, van Doorslaer K, zur Hausen H, de Villiers E-M. Classification of papillomaviruses (PVs) based on 189 PV types and proposal of taxonomic amendments. *Virology*. 2010 May;401:70–79.
- Bienkowska-Haba M, Williams C, Kim SM, Garcea RL, Sapp M. Cyclophilins facilitate dissociation of the human papillomavirus type 16 capsid protein L1 from the L2/DNA complex following virus entry. *J Virol*. 2012 Sep;86:9875– 9887.
- Bloch N, Breen M, Spradbrow PB. Genomic sequences of bovine papillomaviruses in formalin-fixed sarcoids from Australian horses revealed by polymerase chain reaction. *Vet Microbiol*. 1994 Jul;41:163–172.
- 26. De Boer L, Oakes V, Beamish H, et al. Cyclin A/cdk2 coordinates centrosomal and nuclear mitotic events. *Oncogene*. 2008 Jul;27:4261–4268.
- Bogaert L, van Heerden M, de Cock HEV, Martens A, Chiers K. Molecular and immunohistochemical distinction of equine sarcoid from schwannoma. *Vet Pathol.* 2011;48:737–741.
- Bogaert L, Martens A, Van Poucke M, et al. High prevalence of bovine papillomaviral DNA in the normal skin of equine sarcoid-affected and healthy horses. *Vet Microbiol*. 2008;129:58–68.
- 29. Bogaert L, van Poucke M, De Baere C, et al. Bovine papillomavirus load and mRNA expression, cell proliferation and p53 expression in four clinical types of equine sarcoid. *J Gen Virol*. 2007;88:2155–2161.
- Bogaert L, Martens A, De Baere C, Gasthuys F. Detection of bovine papillomavirus DNA on the normal skin and in the habitual surroundings of horses with and without equine sarcoids. *Res Vet Sci.* 2005 Dec;79:253–258.

- 31. Bogaert L, Martens A, Depoorter P, Gasthuys F. Equine sarcoids Part 1: Clinical presentation and epidemiology. *Vlaams Diergeneeskd Tijdschr*. 2008;77:2–9.
- Bogaert L, Martens A, Kast WM, Van Marck E, De Cock H. Bovine papillomavirus DNA can be detected in keratinocytes of equine sarcoid tumors. *Vet Microbiol*. 2010;146:269–275.
- Bogaert L, Willemsen A, Vanderstraeten E, et al. EcPV2 DNA in equine genital squamous cell carcinomas and normal genital mucosa. *Vet Microbiol*. 2012 Jul;158:33–41.
- 34. Bohl J, Hull B, Vande Pol SB. Cooperative transformation and coexpression of bovine papillomavirus type 1 E5 and E7 proteins. *J Virol*. 2001 Jan;75:513–521.
- 35. Borgdorff H, Gautam R, Armstrong SD, et al. Cervicovaginal microbiome dysbiosis is associated with proteome changes related to alterations of the cervicovaginal mucosal barrier. *Mucosal Immunol*. 2016 May;9:621–633.
- 36. Borzacchiello G, Mogavero S, De Vita G, Roperto S, Della Salda L, Roperto F. Activated platelet-derived growth factor beta receptor expression, PI3K-AKT pathway molecular analysis, and transforming signals in equine sarcoids. *Vet Pathol.* 2009 Jul;46:589–597.
- Borzacchiello G, Russo V, Della Salda L, Roperto S, Roperto F. Expression of platelet-derived growth factor-beta receptor and bovine papillomavirus E5 and E7 oncoproteins in equine sarcoid. *J Comp Pathol.* 2008 Nov;139:231–237.
- Boulton CH. Equine nasal cavity and paranasal sinus disease: A review of 85 cases. J Equine Vet Sci. 1985;5:268–275.
- Brandt S, Schoster A, Tober R, et al. Consistent detection of bovine papillomavirus in lesions, intact skin and peripheral blood mononuclear cells of horses affected by hoof canker. *Equine Vet J.* 2011;43:202–209.
- 40. Brandt S, Haralambus R, Schoster A, Kirnbauer R, Stanek C. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells represent a reservoir of bovine papillomavirus DNA in sarcoid-affected equines. *J Gen Virol*. 2008 Jun;89:1390–1395.
- 41. Bras RJ, Morrison S. Retrospective Case Series of 20 Horses (2002 2009)

Sustaining Puncture Wounds to the Navicular Bursa With Maggot Debridement Therapy as an Adjunctive Treatment. *Proc 55th Congr AAEP*. 2009;55:241–250.

- 42. Brash DE, Rudolph JA, Simon JA, et al. A role for sunlight in skin cancer: UV-induced p53 mutations in squamous cell carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1991 Nov;88:10124–10128.
- Bronnimann MP, Calton CM, Chiquette SF, et al. Furin Cleavage of L2 during Papillomavirus Infection: Minimal Dependence on Cyclophilins. *J Virol*. 2016 Jul;90:6224–6234.
- 44. Broström H. Equine sarcoids. A clinical and epidemiological study in relation to equine leucocyte antigens (ELA). *Acta Vet Scand*. 1995;36:223–236.
- Broström H, Fahlbrink E, Dubath ML, Lazary S. Association between equine leucocyte antigens (ELA) and equine sarcoid tumors in the population of Swedish halfbreds and some of their families. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*. 1988 Oct;19:215–223.
- 46. Bryne M, Koppang HS, Lilleng R, Kjaerheim A. Malignancy grading of the deep invasive margins of oral squamous cell carcinomas has high prognostic value. *J Pathol.* 1992 Apr;166:375–381.
- 47. Bucher K, Szalai G, Marti E, Griot-Wenk ME, Lazary S, Pauli U. Tumour suppressor gene p53 in the horse: Identification, cloning, sequencing and a possible role in the pathogenesis of equine sarcoid. *Res Vet Sci*. 1996;61:114–119.
- 48. Bulk S, Berkhof J, Bulkmans NWJ, et al. Preferential risk of HPV16 for squamous cell carcinoma and of HPV18 for adenocarcinoma of the cervix compared to women with normal cytology in The Netherlands. *Br J Cancer*. 2006;94:171–175.
- 49. Burd EM. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. *Clin Microbiol Rev*. 2003 Jan;16:1–17.
- 50. Burney, DP; Theisen, SK; Schmitz D. Identifying and treating squamous cell carcinoma of horses. *Vet Med*. 1992;87:588–594.

- 51. Byam-Cook KL, Henson FMD, Slater JD, et al. Evaluation of excision, cryosurgery and local BCG vaccination for the treatment of equine sarcoids. *Vet Rec*. 2006 Sep;149:337–341.
- 52. Calton CM, Bronnimann MP, Manson AR, et al. Translocation of the papillomavirus L2/vDNA complex across the limiting membrane requires the onset of mitosis. *PLoS Pathog*. 2017 May;13:e1006200.
- 53. Campaner AB, Nadais RF, Galvão MAL. The effect of cigarette smoking on cervical langerhans cells and T and B lymphocytes in normal uterine cervix epithelium. *Int J Gynecol Pathol Off J Int Soc Gynecol Pathol*. 2009 Nov;28:549–553.
- 54. Campbell GA, Gross TL, Adams R. Solar elastosis with squamous cell carcinoma in two horses. *Vet Pathol*. 1987 Sep;24:463–464.
- Campo MS, Graham S V, Cortese MS, et al. HPV-16 E5 down-regulates expression of surface HLA class I and reduces recognition by CD8 T cells. *Virology*. 2010 Nov;407:137–142.
- Campo MS. Animal models of papillomavirus pathogenesis. *Virus Res*. 2002 Nov;89:249–261.
- Cañete-Portillo S, Clavero O, Sanchez DF, et al. Medullary Carcinoma of the Penis: A Distinctive HPV-related Neoplasm: A Report of 12 Cases. *Am J Surg Pathol.* 2017 Apr;41:535–540.
- Cantley LC, Neel BG. New insights into tumor suppression: PTEN suppresses tumor formation by restraining the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/AKT pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1999 Apr;96:4240–4245.
- Carney, Hazel C; England, James J; Hodgin, Clay E; Whiteley, Herbert E;
 Adkinson, Daniel L; Sundberg JP. Papillomavirus infection of aged Persian cats. J Vet Diagnostic Investig. 1990;2:294–299.
- Carney HC, England JJ, Hodgin EC, Whiteley HE, Adkison DL, Sundberg JP.
 Papillomavirus infection of aged Persian cats. J Vet diagnostic Investig Off Publ Am Assoc Vet Lab Diagnosticians, Inc. 1990 Oct;2:294–299.

- Carr EA, Théon AP, Madewell BR, Hitchcock ME, Schlegel R, Schiller JT.
 Expression of a transforming gene (E5) of bovine papillomavirus in sarcoids obtained from horses. *Am J Vet Res*. 2001 Aug;62:1212–1217.
- Cazander G, van de Veerdonk MC, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CMJE, Schreurs MWJ, Jukema GN. Maggot excretions inhibit biofilm formation on biomaterials. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2010 Oct;468:2789–2796.
- 63. Cerqueira C, Liu Y, Kühling L, et al. Heparin increases the infectivity of Human Papillomavirus type 16 independent of cell surface proteoglycans and induces L1 epitope exposure. *Cell Microbiol*. 2013 Nov;15:1818–1836.
- 64. Chambers G, Ellsmore VA, O'Brien PM, et al. Association of bovine papillomavirus with the equine sarcoid. *J Gen Virol*. 2003;84:1055–1062.
- 65. Chambers G, Ellsmore VA, O'Brien PM, et al. Sequence variants of bovine papillomavirus E5 detected in equine sarcoids. *Virus Res.* 2003 Oct;96:141–145.
- 66. Chaux A, Cubilla AL, Haffner MC, et al. Combining routine morphology, p16(INK4a) immunohistochemistry, and in situ hybridization for the detection of human papillomavirus infection in penile carcinomas: a tissue microarray study using classifier performance analyses. *Urol Oncol*. 2014 Feb;32:171–177.
- 67. Chaux A, Tamboli P, Ayala A, et al. Warty-basaloid carcinoma:
 clinicopathological features of a distinctive penile neoplasm. Report of 45
 cases. *Mod Pathol an Off J United States Can Acad Pathol Inc*. 2010
 Jun;23:896–904.
- 68. Chen J. The Cell-Cycle Arrest and Apoptotic Functions of p53 in Tumor Initiation and Progression. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*. 2016 Mar;6:a026104.
- Choe J, Vaillancourt P, Botchan M. Bovine Papillomavirus Type 1 Encodes Two Forms of a Transcriptional Repressor : Structural and Functional Analysis of New Viral cDNAs. 1989;63:1743–1755.
- 70. Ciemerych MA, Kenney AM, Sicinska E, et al. Development of mice expressing a single D-type cyclin. *Genes Dev*. 2002 Dec;16:3277–3289.
- 71. Cladel NM, Hu J, Balogh K, Mejia A, Christensen ND. Wounding prior to

challenge substantially improves infectivity of cottontail rabbit papillomavirus and allows for standardization of infection. *J Virol Methods*. 2008 Mar;148:34– 39.

- 72. Compston PC, Turner T, Wylie CE, Payne RJ. Laser surgery as a treatment for histologically confirmed sarcoids in the horse. *Equine Vet J*. 2016 Jul;48:451–456.
- 73. Conesa-Zamora P, Doménech-Peris A, Orantes-Casado FJ, et al. Effect of human papillomavirus on cell cycle-related proteins p16, Ki-67, Cyclin D1, p53, and ProEx C in precursor lesions of cervical carcinoma: a tissue microarray study. *Am J Clin Pathol.* 2009 Sep;132:378–390.
- 74. Conrad M, Bubb VJ, Schlegel R. The human papillomavirus type 6 and 16 E5 proteins are membrane-associated proteins which associate with the 16kilodalton pore-forming protein. J Virol. 1993 Oct;67:6170–6178.
- 75. Corteggio A, Di Geronimo O, Roperto S, Roperto F, Borzacchiello G. Bovine papillomavirus E7 oncoprotein binds to p600 in naturally occurring equine sarcoids. *J Gen Virol*. 2011 Feb;92:378–382.
- 76. Corteggio A, Di Geronimo O, Roperto S, Roperto F, Borzacchiello G. Activated platelet-derived growth factor β receptor and Ras-mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in natural bovine urinary bladder carcinomas. *Vet J*. 2012 Mar;191:393–395.
- 77. Cotchin E. A general survey of tumours in the horse. *Equine Vet J*. 1977 Jan;9:16–21.
- 78. Cotchin E. Veterinary oncology: a survey. *J Pathol*. 1984 Feb;142:101–127.
- Coto-Llerena M, Ercan C, Kancherla V, et al. High Expression of FAP in Colorectal Cancer Is Associated With Angiogenesis and Immunoregulation Processes. *Front Oncol.* 2020;10:1–12.
- 80. Crow JM. HPV: The global burden. *Nature*. 2012;488:S2–S3.
- 81. Cruz I, Napier SS, van der Waal I, et al. Suprabasal p53 immunoexpression is strongly associated with high grade dysplasia and risk for malignant

transformation in potentially malignant oral lesions from Northern Ireland. *J Clin Pathol*. 2002 Feb;55:98–104.

- Cubilla AL, Reuter VE, Gregoire L, et al. Basaloid squamous cell carcinoma: a distinctive human papilloma virus-related penile neoplasm: a report of 20 cases. *Am J Surg Pathol.* 1998 Jun;22:755–761.
- 83. Cubilla AL, Velazques EF, Reuter VE, Oliva E, Mihm MCJ, Young RH. Warty (condylomatous) squamous cell carcinoma of the penis: a report of 11 cases and proposed classification of "verruciform" penile tumors. *Am J Surg Pathol*. 2000 Apr;24:505–512.
- Cubilla AL, Lloveras B, Alemany L, et al. Basaloid squamous cell carcinoma of the penis with papillary features: a clinicopathologic study of 12 cases. *Am J Surg Pathol.* 2012 Jun;36:869–875.
- 85. Cubilla AL, Velazquez EF, Amin MB, Epstein J, Berney DM, Corbishley CM. The World Health Organisation 2016 classification of penile carcinomas: a review and update from the International Society of Urological Pathology expertdriven recommendations. *Histopathology*. 2018 May;72:893–904.
- Culp TD, Budgeon LR, Christensen ND. Human papillomaviruses bind a basal extracellular matrix component secreted by keratinocytes which is distinct from a membrane-associated receptor. *Virology*. 2006 Mar;347:147–159.
- 87. Darragh TM, Colgan TJ, Cox JT, et al. The Lower Anogenital Squamous Terminology Standardization Project for HPV-Associated Lesions: background and consensus recommendations from the College of American Pathologists and the American Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology. *Arch Pathol Lab Med*. 2012 Oct;136:1266–1297.
- 88. DeMasi J, Chao MC, Kumar AS, Howley PM. Bovine papillomavirus E7 oncoprotein inhibits anoikis. *J Virol*. 2007 Sep;81:9419–9425.
- 89. Dick FA, Rubin SM. Molecular mechanisms underlying RB protein function. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2013 May;14:297–306.
- 90. Dickson EL, Vogel RI, Luo X, Downs LS. Recent trends in type-specific HPV

infection rates in the United States. *Epidemiol Infect*. 2015 Apr;143:1042–1047.

- 91. Ding L, Cao J, Lin W, et al. The Roles of Cyclin-Dependent Kinases in Cell-Cycle
 Progression and Therapeutic Strategies in Human Breast Cancer. *Int J Mol Sci.*2020 Mar;21.
- Ding Q, Bramble L, Yuzbasiyan-Gurkan V, Bell T, Meek K. DNA-PKcs mutations in dogs and horses: allele frequency and association with neoplasia. *Gene*. 2002 Jan;283:263–269.
- 93. Disbrow GL, Sunitha I, Baker CC, Hanover J, Schlegel R. Codon optimization of the HPV-16 E5 gene enhances protein expression. *Virology*. 2003 Jun;311:105– 114.
- 94. Dohi O, Ohtani H, Hatori M, et al. Histogenesis-specific expression of fibroblast activation protein and dipeptidylpeptidase-IV in human bone and soft tissue tumours. *Histopathology*. 2009;55:432–440.
- 95. Doorbar J. Molecular biology of human papillomavirus infection and cervical cancer. *Clin Sci (Lond)*. 2006 May;110:525–541.
- 96. Doorbar J. The papillomavirus life cycle. *J Clin Virol Off Publ Pan Am Soc Clin Virol*. 2005 Mar;32 Suppl 1:S7-15.
- 97. Van Doorslaer K, Chen Z, Bernard H-U, et al. ICTV Virus Taxonomy Profile: Papillomaviridae. *J Gen Virol*. 2018 Aug;99:989–990.
- 98. Dorn CR, Priester WA. Epidemiologic analysis of oral and pharyngeal cancer in dogs, cats, horses, and cattle. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*. 1976 Dec;169:1202–1206.
- 99. Drazek M, Lew M, Lew S, Szarek J, Balicki I, Salda L Della. Equine ocular squamous cell carcinoma : a case report. 2015;2015:379–386.
- 100. Dreer M, van de Poel S, Stubenrauch F. Control of viral replication and transcription by the papillomavirus E8^E2 protein. *Virus Res*. 2017 Mar;231:96– 102.
- 101. Dreyer JH, Hauck F, Barros MHM, Niedobitek G. pRb and CyclinD1 Complement p16 as Immunohistochemical Surrogate Markers of HPV Infection in Head and Neck Cancer. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol AIMM. 2017;25:366–373.

- 102. Dugué P-A, Rebolj M, Garred P, Lynge E. Immunosuppression and risk of cervical cancer. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther*. 2013 Jan;13:29–42.
- Dungan, SJ; Curtis, CR; Roberst, SM; Severin G. Epidemiologic study of ocular/adnexal squamous cell carcinoma in horses. J Am Vet Med Assoc. 1991;198:251–256.
- 104. Dyson N. The regulation of E2F by pRB-family proteins. *Genes Dev*. 1998 Aug;12:2245–2262.
- 105. Dziduszko A, Ozbun MA. Annexin A2 and S100A10 regulate human papillomavirus type 16 entry and intracellular trafficking in human keratinocytes. J Virol. 2013 Jul;87:7502–7515.
- 106. Elce Y. The aetiopathogenesis of squamous cell carcinomas in horses. Where are we? *Equine Vet Educ*. 2009;21:17–18.
- Epperson ED, Castleman WL. Bovine Papillomavirus DNA and S100 Profiles in Sarcoids and Other Cutaneous Spindle Cell Tumors in Horses. *Vet Pathol*. 2017;54:44–52.
- 108. Evans MF, Peng Z, Clark KM, et al. HPV E6/E7 RNA In Situ hybridization signal patterns as biomarkers of three-tier cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade. *PLoS One*. 2014 Mar 13;9.
- Fairley RA, Haines DM. The electron microscopic and immunohistochemical demonstration of a papillomavirus in equine aural plaques. *Vet Pathol*. 1992 Jan;29:79–81.
- 110. Fehrmann F, Klumpp DJ, Laimins LA. Human papillomavirus type 31 E5 protein supports cell cycle progression and activates late viral functions upon epithelial differentiation. *J Virol*. 2003 Mar;77:2819–2831.
- Fessler JF, Faber NA, Blevins WE, Coatney RW. Squamous cell carcinoma associated with a chronic wound in a horse. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*. 1993 Feb;202:615–616.
- 112. Fields BN, Knipe DM (David M, Howley PM. *Fields virology*. *Virology*.Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2013.

- Finke J, Hitschler L, Boller K, Florin L, Lang T. HPV caught in the tetraspanin web? *Med Microbiol Immunol*. 2020 Aug;209:447–459.
- 114. Finlay M, Yuan Z, Burden F, et al. The detection of Bovine Papillomavirus type 1DNA in flies. *Virus Res*. 2009 Sep;144:315–317.
- Flores ER, Lambert PF. Evidence for a switch in the mode of human papillomavirus type 16 DNA replication during the viral life cycle. *J Virol*. 1997 Oct;71:7167–7179.
- 116. Florin L, Sapp C, Streeck RE, Sapp M. Assembly and translocation of papillomavirus capsid proteins. *J Virol*. 2002 Oct;76:10009–10014.
- 117. Freeman C, Hull C, Sontheimer R, Curtis J. Squamous cell carcinoma of the dorsal hands and feet after repeated exposure to ultraviolet nail lamps. *Dermatol Online J.* 2020 Mar;26.
- Friedewald WF. Cell state as affecting susceptibility to a virus: enhanced effectiveness of the rabbit papilloma virus on hyperplastic epidermis. J Exp Med. 1942 Jan;75:197–220.
- 119. Funiciello B, Roccabianca P. Equine sarcoids. In: Rutland, Catrin; Rizvanov A, ed. *Equine Science*. 2020:
- 120. Funk JO, Waga S, Harry JB, Espling E, Stillman B, Galloway DA. Inhibition of CDK activity and PCNA-dependent DNA replication by p21 is blocked by interaction with the HPV-16 E7 oncoprotein. *Genes Dev*. 1997 Aug;11:2090–2100.
- 121. Gariglio P, Gutiérrez J, Cortés E, Vázquez J. The role of retinoid deficiency and estrogens as cofactors in cervical cancer. *Arch Med Res*. 2009 Aug;40:449–465.
- Gaynor AM, Zhu KW, Cruz FND, Affolter VK, Pesavento PA. Localization of Bovine Papillomavirus Nucleic Acid in Equine Sarcoids. *Vet Pathol*. 2016;53:567–573.
- 123. Gemensky, AJ; Beard W. Ocular squamous cell carcinoma and sarcoid. In:Robinson N, ed. *Current theraphy in equine medicine*. Elsevier; 2003:480–489.
- 124. Gewin L, Myers H, Kiyono T, Galloway DA. Identification of a novel telomerase repressor that interacts with the human papillomavirus type-16 E6/E6-AP

complex. Genes Dev. 2004 Sep;18:2269-2282.

- 125. Giroglou T, Florin L, Schäfer F, Streeck RE, Sapp M. Human papillomavirus infection requires cell surface heparan sulfate. *J Virol*. 2001 Feb;75:1565–1570.
- 126. Goldstein DJ, Li W, Wang LM, et al. The bovine papillomavirus type 1 E5 transforming protein specifically binds and activates the beta-type receptor for the platelet-derived growth factor but not other related tyrosine kinasecontaining receptors to induce cellular transformation. *J Virol*. 1994 Jul;68:4432–4441.
- 127. Goodman RH, Smolik S. CBP/p300 in cell growth, transformation, and development. *Genes Dev*. 2000 Jul;14:1553–1577.
- 128. Goodrich L, Gerber H, Marti E, Antczak DF. Equine sarcoids. *Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract*. 1998 Dec;14:607–623, vii.
- 129. Greenwood S, Campbell O, Movasseghi AR. Oral sarcoid in a cat. Vol. 60, *The Canadian veterinary journal = La revue veterinaire canadienne*. 2019:485–489.
- Greenwood S, Chow-Lockerbie B, Epp T, et al. Prevalence and Prognostic Impact of Equus caballus Papillomavirus Type 2 Infection in Equine Squamous Cell Carcinomas in Western Canadian Horses. *Vet Pathol*. 2020;57:623–631.
- Greenwood S, Chow-Lockerbie B, Ramsauer S, Wachoski-Dark G, Knight C, Wobeser B. Prevalence of Equus caballus Papillomavirus Type-2 Infection and Seropositivity in Asymptomatic Western Canadian Horses. *Vet Pathol*. 2020;57:632–641.
- 132. Hamid NA. Review The regulation of cell proliferation by the papillomavirus early. 2009;
- Haralambus R, Burgstaller J, Klukowska-Rötzler J, et al. Intralesional bovine papillomavirus DNA loads reflect severity of equine sarcoid disease. *Equine Vet* J. 2010;42:327–331.
- 134. Haspeslagh M, Vlaminck L, Martens A. The possible role of Stomoxys calcitrans in equine sarcoid transmission. *Vet J*. 2018 Jan;231:8–12.
- 135. Haspeslagh M, Vlaminck LEM, Martens AM. Treatment of sarcoids in equids:

230 cases (2008–2013). J Am Vet Med Assoc. 2016;249:311–318.

- zur Hausen H. Papillomaviruses in the causation of human cancers a brief historical account. *Virology*. 2009;384:260–265.
- 137. zur Hausen H. Papillomaviruses and cancer: from basic studies to clinical application. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2002 May;2:342–350.
- 138. Head KW, Dixon PM. Equine nasal and paranasal sinus tumours. Part 1: review of the literature and tumour classification. *Vet J*. 1999 May;157:261–278.
- 139. Health C for DC and prevenction; NC for CDP and HPO on S and. How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atalanta, Atlanta (GA): CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform; 2010.
- 140. Herfs M, Yamamoto Y, Laury A, et al. A discrete population of squamocolumnar junction cells implicated in the pathogenesis of cervical cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2012 Jun;109:10516–10521.
- Höhn AK, Brambs CE, Hiller GGR, May D, Schmoeckel E, Horn L-C. 2020 WHO Classification of Female Genital Tumors. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd*. 2021 Oct;81:1145–1153.
- 142. Howarth S, Lucke VM, Pearson H. Squamous cell carcinoma of the equine external genitalia: a review and assessment of penile amputation and urethrostomy as a surgical treatment. *Equine Vet J*. 1991 Jan;23:53–58.
- Van Howe RS, Hodges FM. The carcinogenicity of smegma: debunking a myth. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2006 Oct;20:1046–1054.
- 144. Howie HL, Katzenellenbogen RA, Galloway DA. Papillomavirus E6 proteins.*Virology*. 2009 Feb;384:324–334.
- 145. Howley, PM; Lowy D. Papillomavirus and their replication. In: Knipe, DM;
 Howley, PM; Griffin, DE; Lamb, RA; Martin, MA; Roizman, B; Strauss S, ed. *Fields virology*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2001:2197–2229.
- 146. Id JCWH, Rawson F, Wells DJ, Piercy RJ. Multiplex in situ hybridization within a single transcript : RNAscope reveals dystrophin mRNA dynamics. 2020;1–29.

- Ilahi NE, Bhatti A. Impact of HPV E5 on viral life cycle via EGFR signaling. *Microb Pathog.* 2020 Feb;139:103923.
- Iorga L, Marcu R, Diaconu C, et al. Penile carcinoma and HPV infection (Review).
 Exp Ther Med. 2019;91–96.
- 149. Jackson ME, Pennie WD, McCaffery RE, Smith KT, Grindlay GJ, Campo MS. The B subgroup bovine papillomaviruses lack an identifiable E6 open reading frame. *Mol Carcinog*. 1991;4:382–387.
- 150. Jensen KE, Schmiedel S, Norrild B, Frederiksen K, Iftner T, Kjaer SK. Parity as a cofactor for high-grade cervical disease among women with persistent human papillomavirus infection: a 13-year follow-up. *Br J Cancer*. 2013 Jan;108:234–239.
- 151. Ji E, Wook J, Wun S, et al. The expressions of the Rb pathway in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia ; predictive and prognostic significance. 2007;104:207–211.
- 152. Johnston, HM; Thompson HPH. p53 immunohistochemistry in domestic animal tumors. *Eur J Vet Pathol*. 1996;2:135–140.
- 153. Jones DL. Squamous cell carcinoma of the larynx and pharynx in horses. *Cornell Vet*. 1994 Jan;84:15–24.
- 154. Joyce JG, Tung JS, Przysiecki CT, et al. The L1 major capsid protein of human papillomavirus type 11 recombinant virus-like particles interacts with heparin and cell-surface glycosaminoglycans on human keratinocytes. *J Biol Chem*. 1999 Feb;274:5810–5822.
- 155. Kafarnik C, Rawlings M, Dubielzig RR. Corneal stromal invasive squamous cell carcinoma: a retrospective morphological description in 10 horses. *Vet Ophthalmol*. 2009;12:6–12.
- 156. Kaps S, Richter M, Philipp M, Bart M, Eule C, Spiess BM. Primary invasive ocular squamous cell carcinoma in a horse. *Vet Ophthalmol*. 2005;8:193–197.
- 157. Karagas MR, Stannard VA, Mott LA, Slattery MJ, Spencer SK, Weinstock MA. Use of tanning devices and risk of basal cell and squamous cell skin cancers. *J*

Natl Cancer Inst. 2002 Feb;94:224–226.

- 158. Katz KA, Marcil I, Stern RS. Incidence and risk factors associated with a second squamous cell carcinoma or basal cell carcinoma in psoralen + ultraviolet a light-treated psoriasis patients. *J Invest Dermatol*. 2002 Jun;118:1038–1043.
- 159. Ke LD, Adler-Storthz K, Mitchell MF, Clayman GL, Chen Z. Expression of human papillomavirus E7 mRNA in human oral and cervical neoplasia and cell lines. *Oral Oncol.* 1999 Jul;35:415–420.
- 160. Kiefer C, Tobler K, Ramsauer A, Biegel U, Kuehn N, Ruetten M. [Feline sarcoid in a 1-year-old domestic short-haired cat caused by bovine papillomavirus type 14 in Switzerland]. Schweiz Arch Tierheilkd. 2017 Sep;159:487–491.
- 161. King TC, Priehs DR, Gum GG, Miller TR. Therapeutic management of ocular squamous cell carcinoma in the horse: 43 cases (1979-1989). *Equine Vet J*. 1991 Nov;23:449–452.
- 162. Kinnunen RE, Tallberg T, Stenbäck H, Sarna S. Equine sarcoid tumour treated by autogenous tumour vaccine. *Anticancer Res.* 1999;19:3367–3374.
- 163. Knight CG, Munday JS, Peters J, Dunowska M. Equine penile squamous cell carcinomas are associated with the presence of equine papillomavirus type 2 DNA sequences. *Vet Pathol*. 2011 Nov;48:1190–1194.
- 164. Knight CG, Dunowska M, Munday JS, Peters-Kennedy J, Rosa B V. Comparison of the levels of Equus caballus papillomavirus type 2 (EcPV-2) DNA in equine squamous cell carcinomas and non-cancerous tissues using quantitative PCR. *Vet Microbiol*. 2013 Sep;166:257–262.
- 165. Knottenbelt, Derek C.; Edwards, S; Daniel E. Diagnosis and treatment of the equine sarcoid. *In Pract*. 1995;17:123–129.
- Knottenbelt, Derek C.; Walker JA. Topical treatment of the equine sarcoid.
 Equine Vet Educ. 1994;6:72–75.
- 167. Knottenbelt DC, Kelly DF. The diagnosis and treatment of periorbital sarcoid in the horse: 445 cases from 1974 to 1999. *Vet Ophthalmol*. 2000;3:169–191.
- 168. Knottenbelt D. Sarcoid transformation at wound sites. In: Theoret, C;

Schumacher J., ed. *Equine wound management*. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2017:490–507.

- 169. Knottenbelt DC. *Pascoe's Principles & Practice of Equine Dermatology*.Saunders-Elsevier, ed. Edinburgh; 2009.
- Knottenbelt DC. A suggested clinical classification for the equine sarcoid. *Clin Tech Equine Pract*. 2005;4:278–295.
- 171. Knottenbelt DC. Sarcoid transformation at wound sites. In: Theoret, Christine
 L.; Schumancher J, ed. *Equine wound management*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd;
 2016:490–507.
- 172. Knottenbelt DC. Sarcoids. In: Knottenbelt, Derek C.; Patterson-Kane, Janet; Snalune KL, ed. *Clinical equine oncology*. Toronto: Elsevier; 2015:203–229.
- 173. Knottenbelt DC. Integumentary Disorders Including Cutaneous Neoplasia in Older Horses. *Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract*. 2016 Aug;32:263–281.
- 174. Knottenbelt DC. The Equine Sarcoid: Why Are There so Many Treatment Options? *Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract*. 2019 Aug;35:243–262.
- 175. Knowles EJ, Tremaine WH, Pearson GR, Mair TS. A database survey of equine tumours in the United Kingdom. *Equine Vet J*. 2016 May;48:280–284.
- 176. Koyamatsu Y, Yokoyama M, Nakao Y, et al. A comparative analysis of human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 and expression of p53 gene and Ki-67 in cervical, vaginal, and vulvar carcinomas. *Gynecol Oncol*. 2003;90:547–551.
- 177. Kumar, Visnay; Abbas, AK; Aster J. *Pathologic basis of disease*. Kumar, Visnay; Abbas, AK; Aster, JC; Turner J, ed. Philadelphia: Jeremy Bowes; 2021.
- 178. Kumar A, Zhao Y, Meng G, et al. Human papillomavirus oncoprotein E6 inactivates the transcriptional coactivator human ADA3. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2002 Aug;22:5801–5812.
- 179. Lace MJ, Ushikai M, Yamakawa Y, et al. The truncated C-terminal E2 (E2-TR) protein of bovine papillomavirus (BPV) type-1 is a transactivator that modulates transcription in vivo and in vitro in a manner distinct from the E2-TA and E8 ^ E2 gene products. *Virology*. 2012;429:99–111.

- 180. Lancaster WD, Theilen GH, Olson C. Hybridization of bovine papilloma virus type 1 and type 2 DNA to DNA from virus-induced hamster tumors and naturally occurring equine tumors. *Intervirology*. 1979;11:227–233.
- 181. Lane JG. The treatment of equine sarcoids by cryosurgery. *Equine Vet J*. 1977Jul;9:127–133.
- 182. Lange CE, Tobler K, Lehner A, et al. EcPV2 DNA in equine papillomas and in situ and invasive squamous cell carcinomas supports papillomavirus etiology. *Vet Pathol.* 2013 Aug;50:686–692.
- 183. Lange CE, Tobler K, Lehner A, et al. EcPV2 DNA in equine papillomas and in situ and invasive squamous cell carcinomas supports papillomavirus etiology. *Vet Pathol.* 2013 Nov;50:686–692.
- Lange CE, Tobler K, Ackermann M, Favrot C. Identification of two novel equine papillomavirus sequences suggests three genera in one cluster. *Vet Microbiol*. 2011 Apr;149:85–90.
- 185. Lange CE, Vetsch E, Ackermann M, Favrot C, Tobler K. Four novel papillomavirus sequences support a broad diversity among equine papillomaviruses. J Gen Virol. 2013 Jun;94:1365–1372.
- 186. Lassaline M, Cranford TL, Latimer CA, Bellone RR. Limbal squamous cell carcinoma in Haflinger horses. *Vet Ophthalmol*. 2015 Sep;18:404–408.
- 187. Lavach JD, Severin GA. Neoplasia of the equine eye, adnexa, and orbit: a review of 68 cases. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*. 1977 Jan;170:202–203.
- 188. Lazary S, Gerber H, Glatt PA, Straub R. Equine leucocyte antigens in sarcoidaffected horses. *Equine Vet J*. 1985 Jul;17:283–286.
- Lepage OM, Doumbia A, Perron-Lepage MF, Gangl M. The use of maggot debridement therapy in 41 equids. *Equine Vet J Suppl*. 2012 Dec;120–125.
- 190. Lesnikova I, Lidang M, Hamilton-Dutoit S, Koch J. p16 as a diagnostic marker of cervical neoplasia: a tissue microarray study of 796 archival specimens. *Diagn Pathol.* 2009 Jul;4:22.
- 191. Lewis JSJ, Thorstad WL, Chernock RD, et al. p16 positive oropharyngeal

squamous cell carcinoma: an entity with a favorable prognosis regardless of tumor HPV status. *Am J Surg Pathol*. 2010 Aug;34:1088–1096.

- 192. Li C-X, Chang W-S, Mitsakos K, Rodger J, Holmes EC, Hudson BJ. Identification of a Novel Equine Papillomavirus in Semen from a Thoroughbred Stallion with a Penile Lesion. *Viruses*. 2019 Aug;11.
- 193. Li LT, Jiang G, Chen Q, Zheng JN. Ki67 is a promising molecular target in the diagnosis of cancer (review). *Mol Med Rep*. 2015 Mar;11:1566–1572.
- 194. Linder KE, Bizikova P, Luff J, et al. Generalized papillomatosis in three horses associated with a novel equine papillomavirus (EcPV8). Vol. 29, *Veterinary dermatology*. England; 2018:72-e30.
- 195. Liu J, Huang C, Peng C, et al. Stromal fibroblast activation protein alpha promotes gastric cancer progression via epithelial-mesenchymal transition through Wnt/ β-catenin pathway. BMC Cancer. 2018;18:1–10.
- 196. Lont AP, Kroon BK, Horenblas S, et al. Presence of high-risk human papillomavirus DNA in penile carcinoma predicts favorable outcome in survival. *Int J cancer*. 2006 Sep;119:1078–1081.
- 197. Lory S, von Tscharner C, Marti E, Bestetti G, Grimm S WA. In situ hybridisation of equine sarcoids with bovine papilloma virus. *Vet Rec*. 1993;132:132–133.
- Lunardi M, De Alcântara BK, Otonel RAA, Rodrigues WB, Alfieri AF, Alfieri AA.
 Bovine papillomavirus type 13 DNA in equine sarcoids. *J Clin Microbiol*.
 2013;51:2167–2171.
- 199. M.A. W. Papillomatosis: warts and aural plaques. In: N.E. R, ed. *Current therapy in equine medicine.* Philadelphia: Saunders WB; 1997:389.
- 200. MacFadden, KE and Pace L. Clinical manifestations of squamous cell carcinoma in horses. *Compend Contin Educ Pract Vet*. 1991;13:669–677.
- Madeleine MM, Brumback B, Cushing-Haugen KL, et al. Human leukocyte antigen class II and cervical cancer risk: a population-based study. *J Infect Dis*. 2002 Dec;186:1565–1574.
- 202. Mair, T; Rudewig C. Mast cell tumours (mastocytosis) in the horse : A review

of the literature and report of 11 cases. *Equine Vet Educ*. 2008;20:177–182.

- 203. Mair TS, Sherlock CE, Pearson GR. Delayed metastasis of ocular squamous cell carcinoma following treatment in five horses. 2015;27:9–14.
- 204. Mair TS, Walmsley JP, Phillips TJ. Surgical treatment of 45 horses affected by squamous cell carcinoma of the penis and prepuce. *Equine Vet J*. 2000 Sep;32:406–410.
- 205. Maniar KP, Sanchez B, Paintal A, Gursel DB, Nayar R. Role of the Biomarker p16 in Downgrading -IN 2 Diagnoses and Predicting Higher-grade Lesions. *Am J Surg Pathol.* 2015 Dec;39:1708–1718.
- 206. Manuali E, Forte C, Vichi G, et al. Tumours in European Shorthair cats: a retrospective study of 680 cases. *J Feline Med Surg*. 2020 Dec;22:1095–1102.
- 207. Marais HJ, Page PC. Treatment of equine sarcoid in seven Cape mountain zebra (Equus zebra zebra). *J Wildl Dis*. 2011 Oct;47:917–924.
- 208. Marklund L, Moller MJ, Sandberg K, Andersson L. A missense mutation in the gene for melanocyte-stimulating hormone receptor (MC1R) is associated with the chestnut coat color in horses. *Mamm Genome*. 1996 Dec;7:895–899.
- 209. Martano M, Corteggio A, Restucci B, De Biase ME, Borzacchiello G, Maiolino P. Extracellular matrix remodeling in equine sarcoid: an immunohistochemical and molecular study. *BMC Vet Res.* 2016 Feb;12:24.
- 210. Martano M, Corteggio A, Restucci B, De Biase ME, Borzacchiello G, Maiolino P. Extracellular matrix remodeling in equine sarcoid: An immunohistochemical and molecular study. *BMC Vet Res.* 2016;12:1–10.
- 211. Martano M, Power K, Restucci B, et al. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in equine sarcoid. *BMC Vet Res*. 2018 Sep;14:266.
- 212. Martens A, De Moor A, Demeulemeester J, Peelman L. Polymerase chain reaction analysis of the surgical margins of equine sarcoids for bovine papilloma virus DNA. *Vet Surg.* 2001;30:460–467.
- 213. Martens A, De Moor A, Ducatelle R. PCR detection of bovine papilloma virus DNA in superficial swabs and scrapings from equine sarcoids. *Vet J*. 2001

May;161:280-286.

- 214. Martens A, De Moor A, Vlaminck L, Pille F, Steenhaut M. Evaluation of excision, cryosurgery and local BCG vaccination for the treatment of equine sarcoids. *Vet Rec.* 2001 Dec;149:665–669.
- 215. Martens A, De Moor A, Demeulemeester J, Ducatelle R. Histopathological characteristics of five clinical types of equine sarcoid. *Res Vet Sci.* 2000;69:295–300.
- 216. Marti E, Lazary S, Antczak DF, Gerber H. Report of the first international workshop on equine sarcoid. *Equine Vet J*. 1993 Sep;25:397–407.
- 217. Maufort JP, Shai A, Pitot HC, Lambert PF. A role for HPV16 E5 in cervical carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res*. 2010 Apr;70:2924–2931.
- 218. McBride AA, Romanczuk H, Howley PM. The papillomavirus E2 regulatory proteins. *J Biol Chem*. 1991 Oct;266:18411–18414.
- 219. McLaughlin-Drubin ME, Münger K. The human papillomavirus E7 oncoprotein. *Virology*. 2009 Feb;384:335–344.
- 220. Melling N, Norrenbrock S, Kluth M, et al. P53 overexpression is a prognosticator of poor outcome in esophageal cancer. *Oncol Lett*. 2019;17:3826–3834.
- 221. Mentrikoski MJ, Frierson HFJ, Stelow EB, Cathro HP. Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of the penis: association with human papilloma virus infection. Vol. 64, *Histopathology*. England; 2014:312–315.
- 222. Meredith D, Elser AH, Wolf B, Soma LR, Donawick WJ, Lazary S. Equine leukocyte antigens: relationships with sarcoid tumors and laminitis in two pure breeds. *Immunogenetics*. 1986;23:221–225.
- 223. Meuten DJ. Tumors in domestic anismals. Pub. B, ed. 2016.
- 224. Michau TM, Davidson MG, Gilger BC. Carbon dioxide laser photoablation adjunctive therapy following superficial lamellar keratectomy and bulbar conjunctivectomy for the treatment of corneolimbal squamous cell carcinoma in horses: a review of 24 cases. *Vet Ophthalmol*. 2012 Jul;15:245–253.
- 225. Moch H, Cubilla AL, Humphrey PA, Reuter VE, Ulbright TM. The 2016 WHO

Classification of Tumours of the Urinary System and Male Genital Organs-Part A: Renal, Penile, and Testicular Tumours. *Eur Urol*. 2016 Jul;70:93–105.

- 226. Mohammed HO, Rebhun WC, Antczak DF. Factors associated with the risk of developing sarcoid tumours in horses. *Equine Vet J*. 1992 May;24:165–168.
- 227. Moody CA, Laimins LA. Human papillomavirus oncoproteins: pathways to transformation. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2010 Aug;10:550–560.
- 228. Moore JS, Shaw C, Shaw E, Scarratt WK. Melanoma in horses : Current perspectives. 2013;25:144–151.
- 229. Moreno V, Bosch FX, Muñoz N, et al. Effect of oral contraceptives on risk of cervical cancer in women with human papillomavirus infection: the IARC multicentric case-control study. 2002 Mar;359:1085–1092.
- 230. Morrison ML, Groover E, Schumacher J, Newton J, Pereira MM. Lingual Squamous Cell Carcinoma in Two Horses. *J equine Vet Sci*. 2019 Aug;79:35–38.
- 231. Mosunic CB, Moore PA, Carmicheal KP, et al. Effects of treatment with and without adjuvant radiation therapy on recurrence of ocular and adnexal squamous cell carcinoma in horses: 157 cases (1985-2002). *J Am Vet Med Assoc*. 2004 Dec;225:1733–1738.
- 232. Munday JS, Aberdein D. Loss of retinoblastoma protein, but not p53, is associated with the presence of papillomaviral DNA in feline viral plaques, Bowenoid in situ carcinomas, and squamous cell carcinomas. *Vet Pathol*. 2012 May;49:538–545.
- 233. Muneer A, Kayes O, Ahmed HU, Arya M, Minhas S. Molecular prognostic factors in penile cancer. *World J Urol*. 2009 Apr;27:161–167.
- 234. Münger K, Werness BA, Dyson N, Phelps WC, Harlow E, Howley PM. Complex formation of human papillomavirus E7 proteins with the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor gene product. *EMBO J*. 1989 Dec;8:4099–4105.
- 235. Muñoz N, Castellsagué X, Berrington de González A, Gissmann L. Chapter 1: HPV in the etiology of human cancer. *Vaccine*. 2006 Aug;24 Suppl 3:S3/1-10.
- 236. Muñoz N, Castellsagué X, de González AB, Gissmann L. Chapter 1: HPV in the

etiology of human cancer. *Vaccine*. 2006;24:1–10.

- 237. Muñoz N, Franceschi S, Bosetti C, et al. Role of parity and human papillomavirus in cervical cancer: the IARC multicentric case-control study.
 2002 Mar;359:1093–1101.
- 238. Muscatello L V., Sarli G, Beha G, et al. Validation of tissue microarray for molecular profiling of canine and feline mammary tumours. *J Comp Pathol*. 2015;152:153–160.
- 239. Narechania A, Terai M, Chen Z, DeSalle R, Burk RD. Lack of the canonical pRBbinding domain in the E7 ORF of artiodactyl papillomaviruses is associated with the development of fibropapillomas. *J Gen Virol*. 2004 May;85:1243–1250.
- 240. Newkirk KM, Hendrix DVH, Anis EA, et al. Detection of papillomavirus in equine periocular and penile squamous cell carcinoma. *J Vet diagnostic Investig Off Publ Am Assoc Vet Lab Diagnosticians, Inc.* 2014 Jan;26:131–135.
- 241. Newton S. Case Report Periocular sarcoids in the horse : three cases of successful Case histories. *Equine Vet Educ*. 2000;12:137–143.
- 242. Nixon C, Chambers G, Ellsmore V, et al. Expression of cell cycle associated proteins cyclin A, CDK-2, p27 kip1 and p53 in equine sarcoids. *Cancer Lett*. 2005;221:237–245.
- 243. O'Neill CJ, McCluggage WG. p16 expression in the female genital tract and its value in diagnosis. *Adv Anat Pathol*. 2006 Jan;13:8–15.
- 244. Olsen SN. Squamous cell carcinoma of the equine stomach: a report of five cases. *Vet Rec*. 1992 Aug;131:170–173.
- 245. OLSON CJ, COOK RH. Cutaneous sarcoma-like lesions of the horse caused by the agent of bovine papilloma. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med Soc Exp Biol Med (New York, NY)*. 1951 Jun;77:281–284.
- 246. Ortiz AB, Garcia D, Vicente Y, Palka M, Bellas C, Martin P. Prognostic significance of cyclin D1 protein expression and gene amplification in invasive breast carcinoma. *PLoS One*. 2017 Nov 1;12.
- 247. Otten N, von Tscharner C, Lazary S, Antczak DF, Gerber H. DNA of bovine

papillomavirus type 1 and 2 in equine sarcoids: PCR detection and direct sequencing. *Arch Virol*. 1993;132:121–131.

- 248. Pal A, Kundu R. Human Papillomavirus E6 and E7: The Cervical Cancer Hallmarks and Targets for Therapy. *Front Microbiol*. 2020;10.
- 249. Pangty K, Singh S, Goswami R, Saikumar G, Somvanshi R. Detection of BPV-1 and -2 and quantification of BPV-1 by real-time PCR in cutaneous warts in cattle and buffaloes. *Transbound Emerg Dis*. 2010 Jun;57:185–196.
- 250. Park JE, Lenter MC, Zimmermann RN, Garin-Chesa P, Old LJ, Rettig WJ.
 Fibroblast activation protein, a dual specificity serine protease expressed in reactive human tumor stromal fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem.* 1999;274:36505–36512.
- 251. Parkin DM, Bray F. Chapter 2: The burden of HPV-related cancers. *Vaccine*.2006 Aug;24 Suppl 3:S3/11-25.
- 252. Pazzi KA, Kraegel SA, Griffey SM, Theon AP, Madewell BR. Analysis of the equine tumor suppressor gene p53 in the normal horse and in eight cutaneous squamous cell carcinomas. *Cancer Lett*. 1996 Oct;107:125–130.
- 253. Peh WL, Brandsma JL, Christensen ND, Cladel NM, Wu X, Doorbar J. The viral E4 protein is required for the completion of the cottontail rabbit papillomavirus productive cycle in vivo. *J Virol*. 2004 Feb;78:2142–2151.
- 254. Peters-Kennedy J, Lange CE, Rine SL, Hackett RP. Equus caballus papillomavirus
 8 (EcPV8) associated with multiple viral plaques, viral papillomas, and
 squamous cell carcinoma in a horse. *Equine Vet J*. 2019 Jul;51:470–474.
- 255. Petti L, DiMaio D. Specific interaction between the bovine papillomavirus E5 transforming protein and the beta receptor for platelet-derived growth factor in stably transformed and acutely transfected cells. *J Virol*. 1994 Jun;68:3582–3592.
- 256. Piirsoo M, Ustav E, Mandel T, Stenlund A, Ustav M. Cis and trans requirements for stable episomal maintenance of the BPV-1 replicator. *EMBO J*. 1996 Jan;15:1–11.
- 257. Plummer CE, Smith S, Andrew SE, et al. Combined keratectomy, strontium-90

irradiation and permanent bulbar conjunctival grafts for corneolimbal squamous cell carcinomas in horses (1990-2002): 38 horses. *Vet Ophthalmol*. 2007;10:37–42.

- 258. van de Poel S, Dreer M, Velic A, et al. Identification and Functional Characterization of Phosphorylation Sites of the Human Papillomavirus 31 E8^E2 Protein. J Virol. 2018 Feb;92.
- 259. Poppe WA, Ide PS, Drijkoningen MP, Lauweryns JM, Van Assche FA. Tobacco smoking impairs the local immunosurveillance in the uterine cervix. An immunohistochemical study. *Gynecol Obstet Invest*. 1995;39:34–38.
- 260. Porcellato I, Modesto P, Cappelli K, et al. Equus caballus papillomavirus type 2 (EcPV2) in co-occurring vulvar and gastric lesions of a pony. *Res Vet Sci.* 2020 Oct;132:167–171.
- 261. Protzel C, Knoedel J, Zimmermann U, Woenckhaus C, Poetsch M, Giebel J. Expression of proliferation marker Ki67 correlates to occurrence of metastasis and prognosis, histological subtypes and HPV DNA detection in penile carcinomas. *Histol Histopathol*. 2007 Nov;22:1197–1204.
- Pyeon D, Pearce SM, Lank SM, Ahlquist P, Lambert PF. Establishment of human papillomavirus infection requires cell cycle progression. *PLoS Pathog*. 2009 Feb;5:e1000318.
- 263. Ra A, Otrocka-domaga I. Two different clinical forms of squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) in the perineum and vulva of two mares. 2020;1–5.
- 264. Ragland WL, Keown GH, Gorham JR. An epizootic of equine sarcoid. *Nature*.1966 Jun;210:1399.
- 265. Ramsauer AS, Kubacki J, Favrot C, Ackermann M, Fraefel C, Tobler K. RNA-seq analysis in equine papillomavirus type 2-positive carcinomas identifies affected pathways and potential cancer markers as well as viral gene expression and splicing events. 2019;985–998.
- 266. Ramsauer AS, Wachoski-Dark GL, Fraefel C, et al. Paving the way for more precise diagnosis of EcPV2-associated equine penile lesions. *BMC Vet Res*. 2019

Oct;15:356.

- 267. Ridky TW. Nonmelanoma skin cancer. Vol. 57, *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. United States; 2007:484–501.
- 268. Roden RB, Lowy DR, Schiller JT. Papillomavirus is resistant to desiccation. *J Infect Dis.* 1997 Oct;176:1076–1079.
- 269. Rollison DE, Viarisio D, Amorrortu RP, Gheit T, Tommasino M. An Emerging Issue in Oncogenic Virology: the Role of Beta Human Papillomavirus Types in the Development of Cutaneous Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J Virol. 2019 Apr;93.
- 270. Rosengren Pielberg G, Golovko A, Sundström E, et al. A cis-acting regulatory mutation causes premature hair graying and susceptibility to melanoma in the horse. *Nat Genet*. 2008 Aug;40:1004–1009.
- 271. Ruffieux Y, Muchengeti M, Egger M, et al. Immunodeficiency and Cancer in 3.5 Million People Living With Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV): The South African HIV Cancer Match Study. *Clin Infect Dis an Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am*. 2021 Aug;73:e735–e744.
- 272. Rush BR, Flaminio MJ. Immunomodulation in horses. *Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract*. 2000 Apr;16:183–197, viii.
- Ruttkay-Nedecky B, Jimenez Jimenez AM, Nejdl L, et al. Relevance of infection with human papillomavirus: the role of the p53 tumor suppressor protein and E6/E7 zinc finger proteins (Review). *Int J Oncol*. 2013 Dec;43:1754–1762.
- 274. Sabattini S, Savini F, Gallina L, Scagliarini A, Bassi P, Bettini G. p16 Immunostaining of Canine Squamous Cell Carcinomas Is Not Associated with Papillomaviral DNA. *PLoS One*. 2016;11:e0159687.
- 275. Sanchez DF, Rodriguez IM, Piris A, et al. Clear Cell Carcinoma of the Penis: An HPV-related Variant of Squamous Cell Carcinoma: A Report of 3 Cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016 Jul;40:917–922.
- 276. Sandberg TP, Stuart MPME, Oosting J, Tollenaar RAEM, Sier CFM, Mesker WE. Increased expression of cancer-associated fibroblast markers at the invasive front and its association with tumor-stroma ratio in colorectal cancer. *BMC*

Cancer. 2019;19:1–9.

- 277. Sarian LO, Derchain SF, Yoshida A, Vassallo J, Pignataro F, De Angelo Andrade LAL. Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and Ki67 as related to disease severity and HPV detection in squamous lesions of the cervix. *Gynecol Oncol*. 2006 Sep;102:537–541.
- 278. Scase T, Brandt S, Kainzbauer C, et al. Equus caballus papillomavirus-2 (EcPV-2): an infectious cause for equine genital cancer? *Equine Vet J*. 2010 Nov;42:738–745.
- 279. Schaffer PA, Wobeser B, Martin LER, Dennis MM, Duncan CG. Cutaneous neoplastic lesions of equids in the central United States and Canada: 3,351 biopsy specimens from 3,272 equids (2000-2010). J Am Vet Med Assoc. 2013 Jan;242:99–104.
- 280. Scheffer KD, Gawlitza A, Spoden GA, et al. Tetraspanin CD151 mediates papillomavirus type 16 endocytosis. *J Virol*. 2013 Mar;87:3435–3446.
- 281. Scheffner M, Huibregtse JM, Vierstra RD, Howley PM. The HPV-16 E6 and E6-AP complex functions as a ubiquitin-protein ligase in the ubiquitination of p53. *Cell*. 1993 Nov 5;75:495–505.
- 282. Schelhaas M, Shah B, Holzer M, et al. Entry of human papillomavirus type 16 by actin-dependent, clathrin- and lipid raft-independent endocytosis. *PLoS Pathog*. 2012;8:e1002657.
- Schmitt A, Rochat A, Zeltner R, et al. The primary target cells of the high-risk cottontail rabbit papillomavirus colocalize with hair follicle stem cells. *J Virol*. 1996 Mar;70:1912–1922.
- 284. Schöniger S, Valentine BA, Fernandez CJ, Summers BA. Cutaneous schwannomas in 22 horses. *Vet Pathol*. 2011;48:433–442.
- 285. Schuh JC. Squamous cell carcinoma of the oral, pharyngeal and nasal mucosa in the horse. *Vet Pathol*. 1986 Mar;23:205–207.
- 286. Schulman FY, Krafft AE, Janczewski T. Feline cutaneous fibropapillomas: clinicopathologic findings and association with papillomavirus infection. *Vet*

Pathol. 2001 May;38:291–296.

- 287. Schumacher J, Watkins JP, Wilson SR, Foreman ME. Burn-induced neoplasia in two horses. *Equine Vet J*. 1986 Sep;18:410–412.
- 288. Scott D.W. MWH. Epithelial Neoplasms. In: *Equine Dermatology*. Philadelphia: Saunders WB; 2003:700.
- 289. Selinka H-C, Florin L, Patel HD, et al. Inhibition of transfer to secondary receptors by heparan sulfate-binding drug or antibody induces noninfectious uptake of human papillomavirus. J Virol. 2007 Oct;81:10970–10980.
- 290. Serrano M, Hannon GJ, Beach D. A new regulatory motif in cell-cycle control causing specific inhibition of cyclin D/CDK4. *Nature*. 1993;366:704–707.
- Shafti-Keramat S, Handisurya A, Kriehuber E, Meneguzzi G, Slupetzky K,
 Kirnbauer R. Different heparan sulfate proteoglycans serve as cellular receptors for human papillomaviruses. *J Virol*. 2003 Dec;77:13125–13135.
- 292. Shannon B, Yi TJ, Perusini S, et al. Association of HPV infection and clearance with cervicovaginal immunology and the vaginal microbiota. *Mucosal Immunol*. 2017 Sep;10:1310–1319.
- 293. Sherr CJ. The Pezcoller lecture: cancer cell cycles revisited. *Cancer Res*. 2000 Jul;60:3689–3695.
- 294. Siddiqa A, Broniarczyk J, Banks L. Papillomaviruses and Endocytic Trafficking. *Int J Mol Sci*. 2018 Sep;19.
- 295. Silva DC, Gonçalves AK, Cobucci RN, Mendonça RC, Lima PH, Cavalcanti GJ. Immunohistochemical expression of p16, Ki-67 and p53 in cervical lesions - A systematic review. *Pathol Res Pract*. 2017 Jul;213:723–729.
- 296. Sironi G, Riccaboni P, Mertel L, Cammarata G, Brooks DE. p53 protein expression in conjunctival squamous cell carcinomas of domestic animals. *Vet Ophthalmol*. 1999;2:227–231.
- 297. Smith JS, Green J, Berrington de Gonzalez A, et al. Cervical cancer and use of hormonal contraceptives: a systematic review. 2003 Apr;361:1159–1167.
- 298. Smith MA, Levine DG, Getman LM, Parente EJ, Engiles JB. Vulvar squamous cell

carcinoma in situ within viral papillomas in an aged Quarter Horse mare. 2009;21:11–16.

- 299. Smola S. Human Papillomaviruses and Skin Cancer. *Adv Exp Med Biol*.2020;1268:195–209.
- 300. Spoden G, Freitag K, Husmann M, et al. Clathrin- and caveolin-independent entry of human papillomavirus type 16--involvement of tetraspanin-enriched microdomains (TEMs). *PLoS One*. 2008 Oct;3:e3313.
- 301. Stein L, Sledge D, Smedley R, Kiupel M, Thaiwong T. Squamous cell carcinoma with clear cell differentiation in an equine eyelid. 2019;
- 302. Stewart AA, Rush B, Davis E. The efficacy of intratumoural 5-fluorouracil for the treatment of equine sarcoids. *Aust Vet J*. 2006 Mar;84:101–106.
- 303. Strafuss AC, Smith JE, Dennis SM, Anthony HD. Sarcoid in horses. *Vet Med Small Anim Clin*. 1973 Nov;68:1246–1247.
- 304. Strohmayer C, Klang A, Kneissl S. Computed Tomographic and Histopathological Characteristics of 13 Equine and 10 Feline Oral and Sinonasal Squamous Cell Carcinomas. *Front Vet Sci.* 2020;7:591437.
- 305. Stubenrauch F, Zobel T, Iftner T. The E8 domain confers a novel long-distance transcriptional repression activity on the E8E2C protein of high-risk human papillomavirus type 31. *J Virol*. 2001 May;75:4139–4149.
- 306. Sugai T, Nakamura SI, Habano W, et al. Usefulness of proliferative activity, DNA ploidy pattern and p53 products as diagnostic adjuncts in colorectal adenomas and intramucosal carcinomas. *Pathol Int*. 1999 Jul;49:617–625.
- 307. Sugai T, Tsukahara M, Endoh M, et al. Analysis of cell cycle-related proteins in gastric intramucosal differentiated-type cancers based on mucin phenotypes: A novel hypothesis of early gastric carcinogenesis based on mucin phenotype. BMC Gastroenterol. 2010;10.
- 308. Sullins, KE; Roberts, SM; Lavach, JD; Sevrin, GA; Lueker D. Equine sarcoid. *Equine Pr.* 1986;8:24–27.
- 309. Sun X, Jiang K, Chen J, et al. A systematic review of maggot debridement

therapy for chronically infected wounds and ulcers. *Int J Infect Dis*. 2014 Aug;25:32–37.

- 310. Sundberg JP, Burnstein T, Page EH, Kirkham WW, Robinson FR. Neoplasms of Equidae. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*. 1977 Jan;170:150–152.
- 311. Sykora S, Jindra C, Hofer M, Steinborn R, Brandt S. Equine papillomavirus type
 2: An equine equivalent to human papillomavirus 16? *Vet J*. 2017 Jul;225:3–8.
- 312. Sykora S, Samek L, Schönthaler K, et al. EcPV-2 is transcriptionally active in equine SCC but only rarely detectable in swabs and semen from healthy horses. *Vet Microbiol*. 2012 Jul;158:194–198.
- 313. Szczerba-Turek A, Siemionek J, Bancerz-Kisiel A, Raś A, Szweda W. Phylogenetic analysis of bovine papillomavirus E5 detected in equine sarcoids in Poland. *Pol J Vet Sci.* 2011;14:653–654.
- 314. Taniwaki SA, Magro AJ, Gorino AC, et al. Phylogenetic and structural studies of a novel equine papillomavirus identified from aural plaques. *Vet Microbiol*. 2013 Feb;162:85–93.
- 315. Taylor S, Haldorson G. A review of equine mucocutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. *Equine Vet Educ*. 2013;25:374–378.
- 316. Taylor S, Haldorson G. A review of equine sarcoid. 2013;25:210–216.
- 317. Teifke JP. [Morphologic and molecular biologic studies of the etiology of equine sarcoid]. *Tierarztl Prax*. 1994 Aug;22:368–376.
- 318. Teifke JP, Löhr C V. Immunohistochemical detection of P53 overexpression in paraffin wax-embedded squamous cell carcinomas of cattle, horses, cats and dogs. *J Comp Pathol*. 1996 Feb;114:205–210.
- 319. Teifke JP, Kidney BA, Löhr C V, Yager JA. Detection of papillomavirus-DNA in mesenchymal tumour cells and not in the hyperplastic epithelium of feline sarcoids. *Vet Dermatol.* 2003 Feb;14:47–56.
- 320. Tennant B, Keirn DR, White KK, Bentinck-Smith J, King JM. Six cases of squamous cell carcinoma of the stomach of the horse. *Equine Vet J*. 1982 Jul;14:238–243.

- 321. Théon AP, Wilson WD, Magdesian KG, Pusterla N, Snyder JR, Galuppo LD. Longterm outcome associated with intratumoral chemotherapy with cisplatin for cutaneous tumors in equidae: 573 Cases (1995-2004). J Am Vet Med Assoc. 2007;230:1506–1513.
- 322. Thomas MC, Chiang C-M. E6 oncoprotein represses p53-dependent gene activation via inhibition of protein acetylation independently of inducing p53 degradation. *Mol Cell*. 2005 Jan;17:251–264.
- 323. van den Top JGB, Harkema L, Lange C, et al. Expression of p53, Ki67, EcPV2- and EcPV3 DNA, and viral genes in relation to metastasis and outcome in equine penile and preputial squamous cell carcinoma. *Equine Vet J*. 2015;47:188–195.
- 324. Van Den Top JGB, Ensink JM, Gröne A, Klein WR, Barneveld A, Van Weeren PR. Penile and preputial tumours in the horse: literature review and proposal of a standardised approach. *Equine Vet J*. 2010 Nov;42:746–757.
- 325. van den Top JGB, de Heer N, Klein WR, Ensink JM. Penile and preputial tumours in the horse: a retrospective study of 114 affected horses. *Equine Vet J*. 2008 Sep;40:528–532.
- 326. Torres SMF, Koch SN. Papillomavirus-associated diseases. *Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract*. 2013 Dec;29:643–655.
- 327. Underbrink MP, Howie HL, Bedard KM, Koop JI, Galloway DA. E6 proteins from multiple human betapapillomavirus types degrade Bak and protect keratinocytes from apoptosis after UVB irradiation. *J Virol*. 2008 Nov;82:10408– 10417.
- 328. Valentine BA. Survey of equine cutaneous neoplasia in the Pacific Northwest. *J Vet diagnostic Investig Off Publ Am Assoc Vet Lab Diagnosticians, Inc.* 2006 Jan;18:123–126.
- 329. Vanderstraeten E, Bogaert L, Bravo IG, Martens A. EcPV2 DNA in equine squamous cell carcinomas and normal genital and ocular mucosa. *Vet Microbiol*. 2011 Jan;147:292–299.
- 330. Vanselow BA, Abetz I, Jackson AR. BCG emulsion immunotherapy of equine

sarcoid. Equine Vet J. 1988 Nov;20:444–447.

- 331. Vassallo J, Derchain SFM, Pinto GA, Martinez EZ, Syrjänen KJ, Andrade LAL. High risk HPV and p53 protein expression in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *Int J Gynecol Obstet*. 2000;71:45–48.
- 332. Ventura E, Giordano A. Cell Cycle. In: *Reference Module in Life Sciences*. Elsevier; 2019:
- 333. Vermeulen K, Van Bockstaele DR, Berneman ZN. The cell cycle: a review of regulation, deregulation and therapeutic targets in cancer. *Cell Prolif*. 2003 Jun;36:131–149.
- 334. Vidal A, Koff A. Cell-cycle inhibitors: three families united by a common cause.*Gene*. 2000 Apr;247:1–15.
- 335. de Villiers E-M. Cross-roads in the classification of papillomaviruses. *Virology*.2013 Oct;445:2–10.
- 336. de Villiers E-M, Fauquet C, Broker TR, Bernard H-U, zur Hausen H. Classification of papillomaviruses. *Virology*. 2004 Jun;324:17–27.
- Vingerhoets M, Diehl M, Gerber H, Stornetta D, Rausis C. [The treatment of equine sarcoidosis by carbon dioxide laser]. *Schweiz Arch Tierheilkd*. 1988 Mar;130:113–126.
- 338. Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ. Surfing the p53 network. Vol. 408, *Nature*. England; 2000:307–310.
- 339. Wade R, Bohl J, Vande Pol S. Paxillin null embryonic stem cells are impaired in cell spreading and tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase. Oncogene. 2002 Jan;21:96–107.
- 340. Wade R, Brimer N, Pol S Vande. Transformation by Bovine Papillomavirus Type 1 E6 Requires Paxillin 2. 2008;82:5962–5966.
- 341. Wang HL, Lu DW. Detection of human papillomavirus DNA and expression of p16, Rb, and p53 proteins in small cell carcinomas of the uterine cervix. Am J Surg Pathol. 2004 Jul;28:901–908.
- 342. Wang JW, Roden RBS. L2, the minor capsid protein of papillomavirus. *Virology*.

2013 Oct;445:175-186.

- 343. White SD, Bourdeau PJ, Brément T, et al. Skin disease in donkeys (Equus asinus): a retrospective study from four veterinary schools. *Vet Dermatol*. 2019 Jun;30:247-e76.
- Willcox JL, Marks SL, Ueda Y, Skorupski KA. Clinical features and outcome of dermal squamous cell carcinoma in 193 dogs (1987-2017). *Vet Comp Oncol*. 2019 Jun;17:130–138.
- 345. Wilson VG, West M, Woytek K, Rangasamy D. Papillomavirus E1 proteins: form, function, and features. *Virus Genes*. 2002 Jun;24:275–290.
- 346. Wobeser BK. Making the Diagnosis: Equine Sarcoid. Vet Pathol. 2017;54:9–10.
- 347. Wobeser BK, Davies JL, Hill JE, et al. Epidemiology of equine sarcoids in horses in western Canada. *Can Vet J = La Rev Vet Can*. 2010 Oct;51:1103–1108.
- 348. Xu CC, Biron VL, Puttagunta L, Seikaly H. HPV status and second primary tumours in oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *J Otolaryngol - head neck Surg = Le J d'oto-rhino-laryngologie Chir cervico-faciale*. 2013 May;42:36.
- Yamashita-Kawanishi N, Tsuzuki M, Kasuya F, Chang H-W, Haga T. Genomic characterization of a novel bovine papillomavirus type 28. *Virus Genes*. 2020 Oct;56:594–599.
- 350. Yuan ZQ, Gault EA, Gobeil P, Nixon C, Campo MS, Nasir L. Establishment and characterization of equine fibroblast cell lines transformed in vivo and in vitro by BPV-1: Model systems for equine sarcoids. *Virology*. 2008;373:352–361.
- 351. Yuan Z, Gault EA, Campo MS, Nasir L. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase is crucial for bovine papillomavirus type-1 transformation of equine fibroblasts. *J Gen Virol*. 2011 Aug;92:1778–1786.
- 352. Yuan Z, Gobeil PAM, Campo MS, Nasir L. Equine sarcoid fibroblasts overexpress matrix metalloproteinases and are invasive. *Virology*. 2010 Jan;396:143–151.
- 353. Yuan Z, Philbey AW, Gault EA, Campo MS, Nasir L. Detection of bovine papillomavirus type 1 genomes and viral gene expression in equine

inflammatory skin conditions. Virus Res. 2007 Mar;124:245–249.

- 354. Yuen PW, Man M, Lam KY, Kwong YL. Clinicopathological significance of p16 gene expression in the surgical treatment of head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *J Clin Pathol*. 2002 Jan;55:58–60.
- 355. Zerfass-Thome K, Zwerschke W, Mannhardt B, Tindle R, Botz JW, Jansen-Dürr P.
 Inactivation of the cdk inhibitor p27KIP1 by the human papillomavirus type 16
 E7 oncoprotein. *Oncogene*. 1996 Dec;13:2323–2330.
- 356. Zheng Z-M, Baker CC. Papillomavirus genome structure, expression, and posttranscriptional regulation. *Front Biosci*. 2006 Sep;11:2286–2302.
- 357. Zhu KW, Affolter VK, Gaynor AM, Dela Cruz FNJ, Pesavento PA. Equine Genital Squamous Cell Carcinoma: In Situ Hybridization Identifies a Distinct Subset Containing Equus caballus Papillomavirus 2. *Vet Pathol*. 2015 Nov;52:1067– 1072.
- 358. Ziegler A, Jonason AS, Leffell DJ, et al. Sunburn and p53 in the onset of skin cancer. *Nature*. 1994 Dec;372:773–776.
- 359. Zimmermann H, Koh C-H, Degenkolbe R, et al. Interaction with CBP/p300 enables the bovine papillomavirus type 1 E6 oncoprotein to downregulate CBP/p300-mediated transactivation by p53. J Gen Virol. 2000 Nov;81:2617– 2623.
- 360. PAVE Papillomavirus Episteme.